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NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER
NORTH YORKSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE
Independent Audit Committee
Meeting to be held at 15:00  
on Tuesday 25th June 2024 Haigh Meeting Room
Hybrid meeting

	No.
	Item title and Purpose
	Lead
	Attachments

	
1. 
	Attendance and Apologies 
For noting: Attendance and apologies, apologies received from:  

	Chair
	N/A

	2. 
	Declaration of Interest 
For noting: Any declarations of interest relating to specific agenda items or committee terms which members need to raise.

	Chair

	N/A

	3. 
	Minutes and actions of previous meeting
For approval: Members are asked to review and agree the draft minutes of the previous meeting held 11th April 2024 
	Chair
	


	4. 
	Matters arising
For noting: Awareness for members of any matters in relation to the previous agenda/minutes which have occurred since the last meeting.

	Chair
	



	5. 
	[bookmark: _Hlk105657627]Tactical Leadership Team Update Report 
For discussion: Members are asked to review report and provide feedback, specifically on the services performance regarding: 

· Information Governance



· Corporate Risk Management

· Performance Indicators

· Productivity and Efficiency
	


         LP


        TH 
	







	6. 
	Health and Safety	
	DH 
	


	7. 
	HMICFRS Reports
Inspection and Review

	DH
	


	8. 
	Audit Committee Schedule of Work 
	MP
	


	9. 
	Draft Accounts 
	MP
	



	10. 
	Draft Annual Governance Statement 
	MP
	



	11. 
	Report - Annual Review of Codes of Corporate Governance 
	SD
	


	12. 
	Internal Audit 
· Progress Paper




· Sector Briefing










· Draft Head of Internal Audit Opinion




	RSM
	













	13. 
	External Audit
Annual Audit Letter/Report
Update on North Yorkshire Fire - 2022/23 Audits
	Mazars FORVIS


	Verbal Update on the External Audit

	14. 
	AOB 
	      Chair 
	

	15. 
	Dates of future meetings
28th November 2024 
18th March 2025

	Chair
	

	16. 
	The next meeting of the IAC will take place at 11:00 on 19th September 2024

	Chair 
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Monthly Report to SIRO on Work in Progress to Comply with 
Data Protection Legislation and the Identification of Risks 


 


Data Controller Chief Fire Officer of North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 


Author 
Lucy Partridge, Compliance & Data Protection Support Officer 
Naomi Mackenzie, Data Protection Officer 


Date 05 June 2024 


 
Summary of Work in Progress and Identified Risks 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the SIRO on work in progress to comply 
with the Data Protection Act 2018, incorporating the GDPR (Part 2) and Law Enforcement 
Processing (Part 3). The report also identifies subject matter risks and appropriate mitigation. 
A guide to the report and which requirements are being considered can be viewed in 
Appendix A. 
 
 


Key updates this reporting period: 
 


- Backlog activity – The ICO Toolkits for Data Protection and Information Security 
have now been replaced with the most recent ICO Accountability Tracker – a tool 
provided by the regulator to track compliance. NYFRS are at 39% fully compliant, 
42% partially complaint, and 17% not meeting compliance. A total of 5 controls (1%) 
are not applicable to the Fire Service. All of the controls have now been assessed 
and have been allocated actions to document what input is required from other 
business areas. Full details of the progress towards completing backlog activity are 
available in Appendix B. 
  


- Data Protection Impact Assessments – There was 1 (-3 on last report) new 
screening forms received in May 2024, which resulted in 0 DPIAs needed. 
 







 
 


 
 


 
 


 


 
- Data Processing Contracts – 0 DPCs have been completed in May 2024. 6 are in 


progress. These are being held up due to a delay in response from the third-party 
and a lack of contract with the NYC to review legal, data protection based, 
documents. The existing contract has expired, however support from the MCA is 
being received and legal coverage is being explored through this avenue. 
 


- Information Sharing Agreements - In May, no new ISA requests were received by 
CDU and there are no ISAs ongoing. 
 


- Data Breaches and Security Incidents - During May 2024, we received reports of 
and dealt with 0 (-4 on last report) incidents. No new security incidents were 
reported to the ICO. 
 


- CDU Compliance activity - In May, CDU received:  
o 5 IRS requests – 3 have been dealt with in time and 2 are pending. 
o 14 FOI requests – 6 have been dealt with in time, 7 are pending and 1 is late. 
o 3 MISC requests – 2 have been dealt with in time and 1 is pending. 
o 4 SAR requests – 2 have been dealt with in time, 1 is pending and 1 is late. 


- Further detail on CDU’s outstanding actions is available in Appendix C. 
 
There are two FOI requests running late from 23/24 due to CDU awaiting feedback 
from People Services/Employee Relations. CDU are looking at options on how to 
proceed. 
 


- Training - As of 4th June 2024, there were 665 (-6 from last report) LearnPro users. 
The following completion rates were recorded for the mandatory e-learning training 
modules:  


• GDPR = 58 (-4 since last report) users have not yet completed this 
training. Completion rate: 91.28% 


• Protecting Information (all Watch/on-call based staff) = 230 (-11 since last 
report) users have not yet completed this training. Completion rate: 
65.41% 







 
 


 
 


• Protecting Information Level 1 (Non-Rider, Control and Non-Uniformed 
Staff) = 331 (-10 since last report) users have not completed this training. 
Completion rate: 50.22% 


- Please note, these completion rates are not completely accurate as not everyone in 
the Service will need to complete all 3 modules, but we currently have no way of 
tracking who should be completing which modules. 


 


 


 


Appendix A: A guide to the report  


Appendix A.docx


 


Appendix B: Progress towards backlog activity  


Appendix B 
Progress towards co   


Appendix C 
Information Asset O    


 


Appendix C: SAR, FOI and IR compliance  


Appendix D CDU 
activity compliance.d


End of year 
statistics.docx  
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NORTH YORKSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 
STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP TEAM 


 


 


 


 
 


June 2024 
 


TLT update report for the Independent Audit Committee 
  


 


 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the Independent Audit Committee on the North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 


Services (NYFRS) Tactical Leadership Board. 
 


 
2.0 Tactical Leadership Team (TLT) updates 


 
2.1 Grenfell Tower inquiry update 


 
Members will be aware that the Grenfell Tower inquiry was established to investigate the 
causes and circumstances of the catastrophic fire in June 2017 and is currently in its final 
phase. As of mid-2024, the Inquiry has completed its hearings, with extensive evidence 
presented on various aspects, including the building’s refurbishment, fire safety measures, 
and the response of the authorities.  
 
The Inquiry is now focused on drafting its final report, which will outline findings and 
recommendations aimed at preventing such tragedies in the future. This report is highly 
anticipated, with expectations to address systemic issues in building safety regulations and 
emergency response protocols. The final report is expected to be published later this year, 
marking a significant step toward accountability and reform in the UK’s approach to fire safety 
and building regulations. 
 
The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) Grenfell Tower Inquiry Fire and Rescue Service 
(FRS) Actions Tracker is a vital tool designed to monitor and report on the progress of 
implementing recommendations from the Grenfell Tower Inquiry. Launched by the NFCC, this 
tracker demonstrates the commitment to transparency and accountability in how fire and 
rescue services across the UK respond to the Inquiry’s findings and recommendations. 
 
NYFRS responded to the 8th update to the action tracker, outlining our progress toward 
improvements in training, operational procedures, communication protocols, and fire safety 
regulations. The update serves as a public record, allowing stakeholders and the general 
public to see how fire safety practices are being enhanced in response to the lessons learned 
from the Grenfell Tower tragedy. 
 
 


2.2 People Plan 2024/5  
 
The decision to refresh the People Plan was made to meet the needs of our Service Strategy 
and identify the top five areas required in 2024/5 to help achieve it.  These areas link to the 
five areas the service needs to elevate from our Staff Engagement Survey, the Core Code of 
Ethics, and HMICFRS critical elements for people. The People Priorities also include key 
measures to help track our progress and measure our success. 


    
 
The Plan is designed to be succinct and easy to understand. The five priorities have been 
developed in conjunction with function heads and are based on our key areas of development. 
The emphasis throughout is on personal responsibility and everyone playing a role in 
improving the way we lead, support, and develop our people. 
 







NORTH YORKSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 
STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP TEAM 


 


 


15  


 


 
 
 


2.3 Tactical plan dashboards 
 
The service has produced a new tactical plan dashboard. The dashboard is a significant step 
forward, allowing managers to access performance information in one place, making it easier 
to see where work needs to be focused and prioritised. The new dashboards will assist in 
highlighting the high-performing watches and stations and monitoring progress against the 
new station plan targets. They will also include information on qualifications, incidents 
attended, and crewing levels. 


 
 


 
2.4 Disclosure and Baring Service (DBS) – Update  


 
We have previously updated members that in July 2023, Fire and Rescue Authorities were 
listed within the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions Order). This means that we 
must now perform a minimum of ‘standard’ Disclosure and Barring Services (DBS) checks for 
all employees and volunteers, with discretion for employees to be eligible for Enhanced levels 
of DBS checks (with or without Barred List checks), for example, those who work routinely 
with children.  
 
In response, the service has established a DBS Task and Finish Group led by the Prevention, 
Early Intervention, and Safeguarding Team. This group reports to the Safeguarding 
Compliance Group and Senior Leadership Team (by exception). This group has performed 
brilliantly and has processed over 85% of the DBS checks within the service.  
 
It is anticipated (subject to a trade Union challenge) that all employees/volunteers will have 
been processed (or will be within the process) to receive a DBS check by August 2024. 
 
 
 
 


2.5 “Moving Forward” - A framework for change and lived experiences.  
 
The service is embarking on a service-wide academic review. Moving forward, a framework 
for change of its culture and values, in partnership with Huddersfield University, it will develop 
a research-informed toolkit and framework for co-developed organisational change. 
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A separate project has been established to complement the Framework for Change. It will 
examine our staff's lived experiences during their service careers and how those experiences 
have shaped and moulded them into who they are today. 
 
 


 
 


  
Recommendations 
 
3. That IAC note the contents of the report 
 


 
   
Mat Walker     
Deputy Chief Fire Officer     
Mathew.walker@northyorksfire.gov.uk   
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Health & Safety Committee


H&S Statistics for North Yorkshire Fire 
& Rescue Service


April 2024







Comparison of all Personal Accident 
Reports 2020 – 2024







Accident Effect Comparison 2020 - 2024







Accident Effect Comparison
Jan – Mar 2020 - 2024







Accident Locations







Accidents in NYFRS Premises







Accident Injury Classification







Accident Reports Location by Station







Comparison of all Vehicle Accident 
Reports 2020 – 2024







Comparison of Appliance Accident 
Reports 2020 – 2024







Comparison of Appliance Accident Reports 
2020 – 2024







Type of Appliance Accidents
Jan – Mar 2020 - 2024







Appliance Accident Reports by Station







Comparison of all ARF3s 2020 – 2024







Comparison of all ARF3s
Jan – Mar 2020 – 2024







Comparison of all NMs
Jan – Mar 2020 – 2024







CfCs Jan - Mar 2024







LearnPro Update
Currently there are 661 registered 
users on LearnPro, and below are 
the numbers of staff that have not 
completed the H&S modules.


General H,S & E Awareness 57
Fire Safety 47
Manual Handling 33
Driver Safety Awareness 100
Personal Safety 84
Stress Management 313
IOSH Managing Safety 19


Currently there are 162 CMs & WMs 
that are required to complete IOSH.







Accident Investigation Update
There are three Tier 2 Adverse Event investigations ongoing:


• Walmgate Bar, York RTC
 Been to HSSC
 1 action outstanding for Driver Training, currently on hold 


• Kingsmill Flats, LPP
 Been to HSSC
 Both actions completed


• HAR/MAL Hazardous Substance in Barrel
 Investigation ongoing
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            AGENDA ITEM  
 


INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITEE 
 


JUNE 2024 
 


NYFRS HMICFRS UPDATE 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report is to provide IAC with an update on the progress against our 
 HMICFRS Action Plan. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The last HMICFRS specific meeting was held on 4 April 2024, with good 
 attendance from Senior Responsible Owners (SRO’s). The actions were 
 reviewed against the causes of concern as well as the Area’s for 
 Improvement and the Values and Culture recommendations. 
 
3. PROGRESS 
 
3.1 The Head of Assurance and Inspection Lead gave an update on all CofC 
 recommendations that are in the final stages of closure and recommended 
 that CofC 2.1 Rec 2, CofC 3.2 Rec 1 and 4 can be closed fully. The Head 
 of Assurance gave an update on Recommendation 4 of the V&C 
 report. HMICFRS have requested further information on what we have 
 provided. This recommendation refers to a professional standards function. 
 We replied with supplementary information prior to the deadline, no further 
 correspondence has been received. 


3.2 The Head of Assurance has confidence that significant progress will be 
demonstrated as we move through 2024 with the proposed project plan in 
place.  


4. FUTURE ACTIVITY 


4.1 The Head of Assurance and Inspection Lead have completed our round 3 
inspection preparation from January 2024 to March 2024. This involved self-
assessments completed against each of the HMICFRS questions and judgment 
criteria. This is where the wider improvement activity can be evidenced against 
the characteristics of good.  


4.2 They have looked to cross-reference information from existing updates, our 
current evidence library, using questionnaires, audit, and sampling to gain 
further evidence. This has allowed them to analyse the findings, gather further 
improvement updates and provide quality assurance of our current position to 
support the creation of the Strategic Briefing.   
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4.2 The project plan (Appendix A) shows a timeline of activity throughout 2024 for 
meetings with SRO’s, reality testing, and departmental self-assessments as 
well as early Strategic Briefing conversations. This proposal of activity was 
agreed at the HMICFRS specific meeting. 


4.3 Service wide, open forums have been scheduled with SRO’s, the first being 
the 6th of June 2024. This will cover “How well the Service Responds to 
Incidents”. The session will involve the Head of Assurance and the Inspection 
Lead questioning the Director for Emergency Response and Training on 
progress made in this section of the report. 


4.4 Questions will be framed using the Characteristics of Good and will allow the 
SRO’s to articulate the progress which has been made since last inspection. 
The intention is to make sure that all areas of the organisation can explain our 
improvement journey. Each Forum will be recorded 


5. RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 Members to note the contents of the report 
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FIRE AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA PLANNING ToR 25.06.2024 19.09.2024 28.11.2024 18.03.2025
REGULAR ITEMS


1 External Audit - Progress Report External Audit * * * *
2 Internal Audit - Progress Report Internal Audit * * * *
3 Information Governance Report Information Governance/FOI * * * *
4 Health and Safety Report Health and Safety * * * *
5 Risk Register and Risk Management Corporate Risk Management * * * *
6 Performance Indicators Internal Control Environment * * * *


ANNUAL ITEMS
7 External Audit - Audit Strategy Memorandum External Audit *
8 Internal Audit - Draft Internal Audit Plan Internal Audit *
9 External Audit Completion Report External Audit *


10 Annual Internal Audit Report(s) and Opinion(s) Internal Audit *
11 Annual Audit Letter/Report External Audit * *
12 Corporate Governance Framework Regulatory Framework *
13 Previous Annual Governance Statement actions update Internal Control Environment *
14 Draft Annual Governance Statement Internal Control Environment *
15 Final Annual Governance Statement Internal Control Environment *
16 Draft Accounts Financial Reporting *
17 Final Accounts Financial Reporting *
18 Fire Audit Committee Annual Report Internal Control Framework *
19 Terms of Reference Review Committee Administration *


ITEMS AS REQUIRED
20 HMICFRS Reports Inspection and Review * * * *
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Report of the Assistant Director of Resources (Deputy s73 
Officer for Police, Fire and Crime Functions) to the Chair and 
Members of the Fire Audit Committee 
 
25th June 2024 
 
Executive and Presenting Officer: Mr M Porter 
Status: For Decision 
 
Title:  Statement of Accounts 2023/24 (Subject to Audit) 
 
 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023 was 


passed in December 2023 which among many other legislative changes 
set out the abolition of the North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority (PFCC FRA), with effect from 
the 7th May 2024, and the transfer of the FRA’s functions, property, 
rights and liabilities to the York and North Yorkshire Combined 
Authority. (N&NYCA) 
 


1.2 In line with the abolition of the previous PFCC FRA, the legislation also 
set out details on the extension of the financial year for the Fire and 
Rescue Authority, which was as follows: 
The requirement in section 3(3) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 (general requirements for accounts)(103) to prepare a statement of 
accounts for each financial year ending on 31st March is modified so that the 
period ends with 6th May 2024. 
 
 


1.3 Further to this the legislation also set out the following: 
 The requirement in regulation 15(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 (commencement of the period for the exercise of public rights)(104) is 
modified so that the responsible financial officer must ensure that the 
commencement of the period for the exercise of public rights takes place on 
such a day that ensures that the period referred to in regulation 14(1) of 
those Regulations (period for the exercise of public rights) begins on 18th 
June 2024. 







 


 
 


1.4 The exercise of public rights just 42 days after the end of the extended 
year end, is an exceptional short period of time. This has been 
recognised as an error within the legislation but as it was within the 
secondary legislation it was not possible to change this. 
 


1.5 In a ‘normal’ year end there would be 61 days from the end of March 
to the end of May to conclude the final accounts process, while past 
practice for an extended year end period, such as the transfer to the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority provided an extra month to 
produce their Statement of Accounts (i.e. their date for public 
notification was the 19th July) 
 


1.6 We have therefore not really been afforded sufficient time to undertake 
the significant amount of work that results from a year end that did not 
end of the 31st March.  
 


1.7 That being said these deadline have been met through working 
weekends, Bank Holidays and excessively long hours. This is especially 
the case for Clare Godfrey, the Chief Accountant who has overseen 
and delivered all of the work for the accounts that are appended to this 
report. 
 


1.8 The role of the Audit Committee in this process is set out in the terms 
of reference for this Committee and includes: 
 


 Reviewing the Annual Statement of Accounts and make 
recommendations, or bring to the attention of the PFCC (now 
Mayor) or Chief Fire Officer, any concerns or issues. 
 


 To consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been 
followed and any changes to them 


 
1.9 Attached to this report are the Statement of Accounts for the PFCC FRA 


covering the period 1st April 2023 to 6th May 2024. 
 
2 Recommendations 


Members are asked: 
2.1 To review the accounting policies as set out in the Statement of 


Accounts on pages 25 to 37 inclusive.  
 
2.2 To review the Annual Statement of Accounts and make 


recommendations or bring to the attention of the Mayor or Chief Fire 
Officer, any concerns or issues. 
 


2.3 Formally recognise the significant hard work and dedication of Clare 
Godfrey in producing these accounts, in the very challenging 
timeframes allocated for these accounts.  







 


3 Reasons 
 


3.1  The Statement of Accounts are a valuable source of information for a 
range of Stakeholders including, but not limited to: 


 Public – Accountability 
 Lenders – Security of Investments 
 Partners – spending 
 Government – spending levels and financial position  


 
3.2 Preparation and publication is governed by legislation, regulations and 


Codes of Practice. (Over recent years there has been a concerted effort 
to bring UK public sector accounting in line with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS)) 


 Primary Legislation – eg. Local Government Finance Act 
 Statutory Regulations – eg. Account and Audit Regulations 
 Code of Practice – eg. International Financial Reporting 


Standards Code 
 
3.3 The role of the Audit Committee in reviewing the statement of 


accounts is essentially to provide assurance to the Mayor and Chief Fire 
Officer and to the wider stakeholder base that they conform to proper 
practices. 


 
3.4 The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023 modified 


the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (general requirements for 
accounts)(103) to extend the financial year to the 6th May 2024, and in 
effect require the accounts to be produced by the 17th June 2024 
 


3.5 The accounts are prepared in accordance with proper practices as set 
out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom. This specifies the principles and 
practices of accounting required to prepare a Statement of Accounts 
which gives a true and fair presentation of the financial position of the 
PFCCFRA. 


 
3.6 The Statement of Accounts is presented subject to audit.  The audited 


accounts and any amendments resulting from the audit will be 
presented to a future meeting of this Committee depending on the 
timeframes of the conclusion of the Audit. 


 
3.7 Sections 25 and 26 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the 


Act’) provide local government electors, journalists and citizen 
journalists with the right to inspect and make copies of the statement 
of accounts, accounting records and all documents relating to those 
records. 
 


3.8 Rights to inspect the accounts and relevant accounting records will be 
advertised in accordance with the legislation. 







 


 
3.9 This legislation was modified by the North and Yorkshire York and 


North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023 resulting in different 
dates from a ‘normal’ financial year, however within none of the rights 
or time period impacted.  


 
3.10 As a result, under section 26 of the Act, a local government elector 


may question the auditor about the accounting records for the financial 
year ended 6th May 2024 and, under section 27 of the Act, a local 
government elector may make an objection to the auditor which: 


 concerns a matter in respect of which the auditor could make a 
public interest report under section 24 of the Act; or 


 concerns an item of account in respect of which the auditor 
could apply for a declaration that the item is unlawful under 
section 28 of the Act. 


 
3.11 Formal notice has been provided on the website of the PFCC.  
 
3.12 Critical Judgements that have been adopted by management 
3.13 As these Statement of Accounts cover the period from 1st April 2023 to 


6th May 2024, a period of 13 months and 6 days). In preparing the 
Balance Sheet as at 6th May 2024, the following critical judgements 
were adopted by management: 
 
 IAS19 pension entries for the period ended 6th May 2024 are 


based upon reports obtained from the PFCC's pension actuaries 
as at the balance sheet date. 


 
 Non-current asset valuations as at 6th May 2024 are based upon 


reports obtained from the PFCC's external valuers as at 31st 
March 2024. The valuation of a Fire Station is undertaken on a 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis using average build 
costs, then adjusted by obsolescence factors. Management 
considered the movement in the Building Cost Information 
Service (BCIS) indices between 31st March and 6th May 2024 to 
determine whether the valuations as at 31st March 2024 are a 
reasonable proxy for that as at 6th May, and concluded the 
difference within the 36 day period is not material to the financial 
statements. In line with this judgement, CIES costs in respect of 
non-current assets are actual costs as at 31st March 2024. 


 
 Loan and investment balances reported are actuals as at 6th May 


2024. 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents reported are actuals as at 6th May 


2024. 
 







 


 PFI unitary charge and balance sheet entries are accounted for on 
the basis of the actual position as at 6th May 2024. 


 
 Insurance provisions were based upon claims as at the balance 


sheet date. 
 
 Collection Fund adjustments are accounted for on the basis of the 


actual position as 31st March 2024 as provided by Billing 
Authorities. 


 
 Accumulated absences were accounted for on the basis of the 


actual position as at 31st March 2024 for accrued annual leave 
balances. Management judgement is that the difference in the 
actual position between 31st March and 6th May 2024 is not 
material to the financial statements. 


 
 Usable reserves are accounted for on the basis of the actual 


position as at 6th May 2024. 
 
 Transactions for the period 1st April 2024 and 6th May 2024 were 


examined and the following items deemed material and accrued 
into the statements for the 36 day period: 


 
 Pay and associated employer costs are accrued on the basis of 


actual costs to 6th May 2024 where available, and expected costs 
where necessary. 


 
 Non pay costs are accrued on the basis of 36 days expected costs 
 
 Precept and Grant funding on the basis of actual receipts where 


available, and expected income where necessary. 
 
 Pension income and expenditure is accrued in the Firefighters 


Pension Fund Account on the basis of actual costs/receipts where 
available, and expected costs/income where necessary 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


4 Implications 
4.1 Finance 


There are no financial implications other then those mentioned above.  
 


4.2 Diversity & Equal Opportunities 
There are no issues arising from this report to bring to Members 
attention. 
 


4.3 Human Rights Act 
 There are no Human Rights Act Implications from this report.  
 
4.4 Sustainability 


This report is part of the governance arrangements to oversee and 
assess the sustainable financial position of the Mayor.  
 


4.5 Risk 
Incorrectly prepared Statement of Accounts may materially 
misrepresent the financial position of the PFCC FRA, giving rise to risks 
to reputation, service and financial planning processes, as well as 
exposure to additional costs. Adherence to proper practices, the 
closure processes undertaken within the Authority, combined with 
reviews by the Assistant Director of Resources are designed to mitigate 
such risks.  
 


5 Conclusion 
The role of the Audit Committee in reviewing the statement(s) of 
accounts is set out in the agreed terms of reference. This report is to 
provide Members of the Committee with the required information for 
them to discharge this role.  
 
The Assistant Director of Resources was content to release these 
accounts for Audit having taken into account the responsibilities that 
he has for this process as set out on page 19 of the Accounts.  






image8.emf
9b DRAFT SOFA  2023-24 SIGNED.pdf


9b DRAFT SOFA 2023-24 SIGNED.pdf


Page


Narrative Report 1


Auditors Report (to insert - 4 pages) 15


Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 19


Movement in Reserves Statement 20


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 22


Balance Sheet 23


Cash Flow Statement 24


Notes to the Financial Statements 25


Pension Fund Accounts:


Fund Account 77


Net Assets Statement 78


Notes to the Pension Fund Accounts 79


Glossary of Terms 82


Approved 23/6/14 - Approved 23/6/14 - Approved 23/6/14 - Approved 23/6/14 - 
UnauditedUnauditedUnauditedUnaudited


NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE, FIRE & CRIME COMMISSIONER


STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS


STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2023/24


DRAFT


(FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY)


covering the period 1st April 2023 to 6th May 2024







1. Organisational Overview and External Environment


This narrative report provides an overview of the accounting arrangements and the


financial and non financial performance of the Authority during 2023/24. It also acts as a 


guide to the most significant matters impacting on the Authority's finances and provides an


explanation of the key financial statements assisting in making them easier to understand.


The functions of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) in North Yorkshire, were


transferred by Parliamentary Order (The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority


Order 2023), to the Elected Mayor of York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority from


7th May 2024. The transfer of the PFCC functions to the Mayor mean that the legal entity


known as the North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (Fire and Rescue


Authority) ceased to exist as of 6th May and all staff, properties, rights and liabilities


transfer to the Combined Authority. As the functions of the PFCC will continue, the


accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.


The requirement in section 3(3) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014(98) for a 


relevant authority to prepare a statement of accounts for each financial year ending on


31st March is modified under section 39 of the Order whereby in the case of the North


Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (Fire and Rescue Authority) for the 


financial year which began on 1st April 2023, to prepare a statement of accounts from that


date for the period ended 6th May 2024.


Significant progress has been made in stabilising the finances of the Fire Service since


2018, however the impact of the pandemic, the significant levels of inflation and higher than


affordable pay awards, combined with a significant need to invest in the assets of the


Service continues to create a very challenging financial environment for it to operate in.


That being said, the budget approved by the former PFCC in February 2024 reflected that


the budget for 2024/25 is being supported through the release of £339k from reserves,


although it is important to recognise that the release of these reserves are directly


matched to non-recurring expenditure and are not being used to balance the


budget.


This means that the Service continues to be able to set a recurring balanced budget at the


point of setting the 2024/25 Medium Term Financial Plan.


This Narrative Statement provides an overview of the financial performance for 2023/24


which resulted in an underspend of £342k after planned and necessary transfers to


reserves.


Impact of increased interest rates and high inflation


These accounts cover a period that have seen interest rates increase from 4.25% at the


start of the financial year to 5.25% by the end of the financial year. These increases are


timed at reducing inflation which during the 13 months to May 2024 reduced from 10.1%


 in March 2023, to 2.3% by April 2024


Interest Rates


The PFCCFRA currently has just under £17.3m of loans in place - all of which are at fixed


rates of interests and as such there is no exposure to the PFCCFRA from these increases
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in interest rates. Around 16.5% of these loans are due for repayment over the next 5 years


and therefore refinancing significant proportions of the current loan portfolio is not a


significant risk for the organisation either. 


The current medium term capital programme to 2027/28 factors significant levels of


borrowing just over £27m, that will be needed to fund much needed investment within the


assets of the organisation over the next few years. Current interest rates are now 1-2%


higher than the assumed levels of interest rates that are factored into the Medium Term


Financial Plan and therefore this has the potential to add around £500k per annum to the


interest payable bill by the end of the current financial planning cycle.


Given that borrowing has been undertaken at fixed interest rates. then there is an element


of upside to higher interest rates to the PFCCFRA in terms of Treasury Management


activities, with interest receivable on cash balances and investments being £141k higher


than expected in 2023/24 (£331k versus a budget of £190k).


The budget for interest receivable for 2024/25 has been increased to £300k to reflect the


higher expected interest rates throughout the year.


Inflation


The vast majority (70%) of the funding available to the PFCCFRA is spent on employment


costs (i.e. Pay, National Insurance, Pensions etc.). The overall budget for 2024/25 includes


an assumption for a Firefighter pay award of 3%, the actual agreed level is 4% from July


2024. In addition to this the annual retainer for an employee providing full cover is 15%


of the appropriate annual basic pay from the 1st January 2025.


The impact of these higher than budgeted awards are expected to be additional costs of


£420k in 2024/25 and almost £1.2m in 2025/26 and beyond.


The budget for 2024/25 includes sufficient funding for a 2.5% pay award for staff from April


2024 and while no agreement has yet been reached in this area the initial offer from the


employer's side is higher than 2.5% and expected to add at least £60k of recurring


additional costs to the previously balanced budget and MTFP.


Beyond pay budgets there were around £13m of ‘non-pay’ budgets in 2023/24, and while


the inflationary pressures referred to earlier led to overspends in some areas, these areas


were well set and expenditure was restrained resulting in a small underspend during


2023/24.


The budgets across these areas have been increased to around £14m in 2023/24,


reflecting the continued increases and pressures that are expected.  These will clearly


need to be closely monitored throughout 2024/25 to ensure these are sufficient.


Given the significant likelihood of higher than budgeted costs across pay, the PFCCFRA


has maintained a ‘Pay, Price and Pension Reserve’ of £0.9m. This reserve will be used as


needed to address any short-term pressures so that longer term plans can be put in place


to meet these costs on a recurring basis.


2. Governance


While there are significant Governance changes taking place post the 6th May 2024


Balance Sheet date of these accounts, much of the Governance up to this point was
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unchanged from the previous year.


Further details on the Governance of the organisation is contained within the Annual


Governance Statement which is published alongside these accounts.


3. Operational Model


In March 2022 the Service published its Community Risk Profile based on an extensive 


methodology which underpins the Risk and Resource Model. This was the most


comprehensive assessment of risk ever conducted by North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue


Service taking into account not only five years of incident data, but also demographic,


socio-economic and infrastructure data, including partner data, to ensure a robust


understanding of risk in our communities.


The Service brought proposals for the new Risk and Resource Model to the Commissioner


who adopted five options to be taken to formal consultation.


In advance of the formal public consultation, a two-week staff engagement period was


undertaken by the Service to inform its employees of the proposals to be taken forward.


Overall, over 1,400 people were engaged during the consultation across 12 public events; 


three resident focus groups were held to explore views; the Commissioner met with


Councillors, firefighters, and interested parties; and over 1,300 people and organisations


responded through the online consultation survey.


The conclusion of this consultation process was reflected in the final proposal put forward


by the Service and agreed with the Commissioner in September 2022. The agreed Risk


and Resource Model underpins the way the was that resources are allocated within the 


Service, the financial plans of the Service, and therefore ultimately how its services


are, and will be, delivered up to 2025.


4. Police, Fire and Crime Plan and Annual Report


The Fire and Rescue Plan 2022-25 was in place during 2023/24 which sets out


the strategic vision, priorities and objectives for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service


over that three year period including how it would better respond to the needs of the


communities of North Yorkshire.  The plan sets out the following 4 principles:


(a)       Caring about the vulnerable


(b)       Ambitious collaboration


(c)       Realising our potential


(d)       Effective engagement


The PFCC has considered what is achievable for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service


in working towards achieving the ambition set out through these Principles over the next


two to three years and has set outcomes that she will assess their progress against.


These are:


-     Actively engage with all communities to identify need and risk and to reassure.


-     Work jointly as a trusted partner to prevent harm and damage, intervene early and


      solve problems. 


-     Deliver the “Right People, Right Support” every time.


-     Maximise efficiency to make the most effective use of all available resources.


-     Enhance positive culture, openness, integrity and public trust.


An Annual Report setting out progress against the Fire and Rescue Plan for 2022-25 will be


reported to a future Police, Fire and Crime Panel and will be available on the PFCC website.
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5. Performance


a) Summary of Revenue Spending 2023/24


The Authority incurred revenue expenditure during the year, in general spent on items


consumed within the financial year which is financed from Precepts, Government Grants


and other income. A forecast of outturn compared to budget with narrative detail is reported


regularly to Management throughout the year.  The Budget for 2023/24 and a comparison


with the actual position as at 31st March 2024 is set out overleaf. Note that this


table reports expenditure for the 12 month period to 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 in


line with the management accounting arrangements in year and despite the extended


financial year end  required for statutory accounting purposes.


The Budget for 2023/24 approved in February 2023 included a planned transfer from


reserves of £1.16m to support planned project expenditure. As a result of some specific


expenditure aligned to reserves, the actual transfer at year end totalled £790k following


which a net underspend of £372,000 is reported not factored into future financial plans.


Note 19 to the  financial statements sets out the details of all earmarked reserve transfers


in year. At the year end, the General Reserve remained at £1.075m (being 2.83% of the


2024/25 net Budget Requirement) and total cashable reserves stand at £5.764m. The


agreed budget for 2024/25 will add a further £75k to General Reserves to bring this up to


3% of Net Budget Requirement.
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A summary of the major variances against budget which occurred during the year is set


out in the paragraphs below:


Changes to Government grant receipts were confirmed following budget approval in


February 2023 resulting in an additional £382k being received. This included £291k of
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Protection Uplift (Grenfell) grant which reduced the contribution required from reserves


in year. Additional grant income also included £50k of Business Rates Levy Surplus and


£31k relating to the reconciliation of 2022/23 S31 Non Domestic rates grant.


Unbudgeted general income included £188k of Officer secondment income to fund the


extension of two secondments approved post budget setting. In addition, as a result of


increased interest rates in year, unbudgeted interest of £141k was received from short


term investments.  Other unplanned income included £100k from North Yorkshire Police in


respect of use of the Fire estate and £122,000 from the sales of old vehicles.


The majority of Service expenditure (around 70%) is spent on core firefighting and


operations which in addition to all operational responses includes the costs of answering


emergency calls, the fleet of fire appliances and operational equipment used.


The cost of unfunded vacancy cover provided by Wholetime Firefighters totalled £780k


during the year. It is expected that this budget pressure will reduce in 2024/25 as new


recruits move into fully operational roles across the Service and the Risk and Resource


Model implementation continues to roll out across affected stations. Further unbudgeted


staff costs were incurred on secondments (funded by income) and also payment of


backdated arrears in relation to competency pay. In addition, a provision has been made


for payments which may be due to the legal case, Bear Scotland Ltd v Fulton concerning


the calculation of holiday pay.


There was a net overspend on the Premises budget in year. Whilst expenditure on Energy


costs and Rates was £172k and £94k over budget respectively, the budgets for Building


Maintenance underspent by £101k.


The Supplies and Services Budget underspent by £479k across a number of areas:


- Non pay budgets underwent a review in September which identified £87k of net savings


- ICT - £277k including £126k of future refunds expected from Airwave following the decision


of the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) regarding charge control.


- There was an underspend on Insurance Premiums of £32k following policy renewals


after budget setting.


- Operational Equipment underspent by £37k including the impact of year end stock levels


being £22k higher than forecast.


- Contracted Services underspent by a net £42k including Estates Consultancy which did


not occur due to delays in completing the Building Condition Survey in year impacting on


both revenue and capital building works.


The PFI contract  overspent by £71k due to an increase in RPI in excess of the budget set.


Pensions costs chargeable to the revenue budget were £203k overspent due to four


unbudgeted Ill Health Retirements in year.


Unplanned slippage on the capital programme at the end of 2022/23 resulted in a lower


amount of funding (by £4k) to be set aside for the repayment of debt in 2023/24.
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b) Summary of Capital Spending 2023/24


In the period 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024, the Authority spent £5.308m on capital


expenditure and a comparison with the revised Capital Plan is set out below:


The Capital Plan approved in February 2023 was £8.368m. Slippage at the end of 2022/23


resulted in £350k being added to the programme alongside a further £469k being added


due to in year decisions primarily relating to cost pressures on the Equality, Diversion and


Inclusion Estates programme and the replacement of Officer Vehicles.


2023/24 2023/24


2023/24 Additional New Slippage 2023/24 2023/24


Approved Slippage Approved into Revised Forecast


Budget from 2022/23 Changes future years Estimate Outturn


£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000


Vehicles


Fire Appliances 3,696 0 0 (1,811) 1,885 2,163


Vans & Support Vehicles 536 341 0 (33) 844 839


4 x 4 Vehicles 771 0 0 (771) 0 0


P&P Investment 155 0 0 (134) 21 34


Incident Command Unit 60 0 0 0 60 15


Water Rescue Boats 0 0 31 0 31 25


Off Road (Agrocat) 45 0 0 0 45 28


Cars 570 0 259 (104) 725 679


Telematics 30 0 14 (30) 14 0


Bikes 0 0 8 0 8 8


Trailers 0 0 0 0 0 5


Sub Total Vehicles 5,862 341 311 (2,882) 3,632 3,795


Estates


Capital Works 352 0 0 0 352 217


Training Towers Renewal Programme 240 0 0 0 240 0


Ripon Alterations 600 0 0 (303) 297 297


Inclusivity Programme 585 0 103 0 688 647


Lofthouse Refurbishment 110 0 0 0 110 0


Gym Facilites 0 0 24 (7) 17 17


Sub Total Estates 1,887 0 127 (310) 1,704 1,178


Information Technology:


Mobilising, Telephony & Bearers 243 9 0 (60) 192 192


Major IT Schemes 100 0 0 0 100 0


Ancillary Hardware & Software 275 0 60 (173) 162 143


Sub Total Information Technology 619 9 60 (233) 454 335


APPROVED CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 8,368 350 498 (3,425) 5,791 5,308


Subject to approval


Estates


Malton - New Station 1,613 0 0 (1,613) 0 0


Further EDI Works 500 0 (200) 0 300 0


2,113 0 (200) (1,613) 300 0


TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 10,481 350 298 (5,038) 6,091 5,308
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The revised programme also takes into account the requirement to carry forward slippage


into future years of £3.425m. Of this amount, £1.811m relates appliances ordered prior


to 31st March 2024 caused by delays in delivery, and £771k whilst Risk and Resource


Model investment decisions on 4 x 4 models are awaited.


The revised programme underspent primarily due to changes in planning of Estates' 


capital works in the areas of Training Towers renewal programme and the refurbishment


of Lofthouse Fire Station.


c) Capital Funding and Borrowing


Capital expenditure in 2023/24 was funded as follows:


External Borrowing


Total external borrowing at 6th May 2024 was £17,292,000, all of which has been for


capital purposes, and is equivalent to £20.98 per head of population. New external


borrowing of £3,000,000 was taken in May 2024 to fund elements of the capital programme


in 2024/25 and also to finance previous years' capital expenditure that had been funded


from internal cash balances.


d) Non Financial Performance Data


(i) Incidents


Overall in 2023/24 the Service attended 636 (8%) less incidents compared to 2022/23 as


shown in the tables below:
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(ii) Fire engine availability


In 2023/24, overall fire engine availability has increased by 5% compared to the previous


year whilst On Call fire engine availability specifically, decreased by 8%.


Managing fire engine availability is a continuous focus for the Service.  A specific On Call


recruitment officer is in the role to improve recruitment and availability and business


planning arrangements are in place to manage fire engine availability as required. 


Managing fire engine availability is a continuous focus for the Service.  A specific On Call


recruitment officer is in the role to improve recruitment and availability and business


planning arrangements are in place to manage fire engine availability as required. 


(iii) Prevention (Community Safety)


The overall number of Home Fire Safety Visits (HFSV) completed in this period was 3,979.


The overall number of Home Fire Safety Visits (HFSV) completed in this period was 3,979.


Based on current practice within the Service, the number of HFSVs delivered each month


will always fluctuate due to a number of factors including the number of referrals received


from partner agencies and declined visits. Work is ongoing to identify trends in relation to 


visits that are declined, or where the Service is unable to contact a referral to book a visit.


Overall, HFSV activity has increased by 9% on the same reporting period last year. Quality


assurance of HFSV activity is undertaken to ensure visits are carried out to the expected


standard and to identify development areas and future training requirements.


Fire Engine Availability 2023/24 2022/23


Overall Availability 81% 76%


On Call Availability 75% 67%
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(iv) Protection (Business Fire Safety)


5,694 Fire Safety jobs were completed in 2023/24, an 8% decrease compared to 2023/24.


This is due to a premises data cleansing project within the data management system, 


resulting in a reduction in the allocation of audits to non-specialist staff.


Statutory and non statutory consultations have increased by 43% compared to 2022/23. 


This is a result of the increase in businesses and newly built estate post-pandemic. All 


consultations have been completed within the agreed timeframes.


Guidance and advisory activity has increased by 13% compared to 2022/23.


Unwanted fire signals follow-up work continues to focus on premises that have more


frequent Automatic Fire Alarms (AFA) activations. There has been a 54% decrease in this


reporting period and the revised AFA policy has had a positive impact on the reduction of


activations.


6. Outlook


Our Service area is one of the largest in England covering more than 3,200 square miles


(which equates to approximately 7.5% of England’s geographic area) and over


6,000 miles of road. We have 38 stations covering this area, which is only 82 square 


miles less than all the Metropolitan services and London Fire Brigade’s service areas 


combined. We recognise that our risk profile is vastly different from those heavily 


populated urban services, as our area is sparsely populated but there are still over 


340,000 households and over 830,000 residents. Our area has isolated rural settlements 


and farms, market towns, and larger urban areas such as York, Harrogate, and 


Scarborough with the associated societal risk and vulnerability. The City of York is also 


home to over 21,000 students, with two universities and more than 20 million visitors 


come to our area each year. The current funding model does not take account of this. 


Our primary challenge as a service is balancing our ambition and improvement journey 


with maintaining financial security and sustainability. Our improvements need to be 


innovatively generated, with clear leadership for delivery, rather than financially generated. 


Since governance transfer, we have identified significant savings and efficiencies whilst 
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managing to protect essential frontline services. We have progressed collaboration at 


pace, but to avoid overspend we have had to reduce the capital investment programme, 


preventing much needed modernisation of our estate, fleet, and equipment. The current 


funding formula does not account for geographic expanse or wider risks such as climate 


change. As a service familiar with wildfires and wide area flooding, we need to maintain 


suitable assets to respond to these risks, as evidence suggests these will become more 


frequent and severe. As a service our ambitions are constrained in parts by our budget, 


we continue to face significant financial pressure, despite an enormous drive locally for 


increased productivity and efficiency. We continue to ‘save to survive’ rather than having 


the ability to ‘invest to improve’ delaying much needed additional public value, efficiency 


and effectiveness.


7. Basis and Preparation of the Statement of Accounts


The Statement of Accounts cover the year ended 6th May 2024 and are in the format


laid down in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom


2023/24 (The Code) issued by CIPFA and in accordance with the International Accounting


Standards Board framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements as


interpreted by the Code. The Code is based upon International Financial Reporting


Standards (IFRS). The Statements required by the Code are detailed below along with the


objective of each:


a) the Movement in Reserves Statement which shows the movement in the year on the


different reserves held by the PFCC FRA, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that


can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other unusable reserves.


The (Surplus) or Deficit on the provision of services line shows the true economic cost of


providing services. This is different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to


the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes. The Net Increase/Decrease


before Transfers to Earmarked reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance for


council tax setting purposes.


b) the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the accounting cost of 


providing the service in year in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices,


rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. PFCC FRA's raise taxation to cover


expenditure in accordance with regulations, this may be different from the accounting cost.


The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.


An example of expenditure included within the accounting cost but not funded from precept


is the cost of depreciation on the Authority's Property, Plant and Equipment of £2.139m in


2023/24 charged to the net cost of services within the Comprehensive Income and


Expenditure Statement (CIES). However, this charge is not funded from Council Tax, nor is


it included in the Net Service Expenditure reported within the Summary of Revenue


Spending in paragraph 5 of this Narrative Report. A reconciliation of how the Net Service


Expenditure relates to the amounts included within the CIES is shown within the


Expenditure and Funding Analysis in Note 6 to the financial statements.


c) the Balance Sheet shows the values as at 6th May 2024 of the assets and liabilities


recognised by the Authority.


The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority.


Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category is  'usable reserves' i.e. those


that can be used to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of
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reserves and any statutory limitation on their use (for example, the Usable Capital receipts


reserves may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The second category


is 'unusable reserves' which cannot be used to provide services. This category includes


reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve)


where amounts would only become available if the assets are sold; and reserves which


hold timing differences which are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line


'Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations'.


d) the Cashflow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority


during the financial year.  The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses


cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing


activities.


The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the


extent to which the Authority's services are funded by way of taxation, grant income or


income generated from services provided.


Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for


resources which are intended to contribute to future service delivery. Cash flows arising


from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of


borrowing to the Authority.


e) the Pension Fund Accounts show the income and expenditure during the financial year of


the Firefighters Pension Fund and the financial position of the Fund on 6th May 2024.


f) the Statement of Accounting Policies explains the principles, bases, conventions and


rules applied by the Authority when preparing the Statement of Accounts. The statement


can only be properly appreciated if the policies that have been followed in dealing with


material items are explained. Changes in policies from previous years are shown below.


Changes in accounting policies


There have been no changes in accounting policies during the financial year.


Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted by the Authority


The authority is required to disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting 


change that will be required by a new standard which has been issued but not yet adopted.


One such change impacting on the Authority's financial statements in 2024/25 is IFRS16


Leases:


Mandatory implementation of IFRS16 Leases is required by all Local Authorities for the 


financial year 2024/25. The main impact of the standard is to remove (for lessees) the


traditional distinction between finance and operating leases. Finance leases have effectively


been accounted for as acquisitions (with the asset on the Balance Sheet, together with a 


liability to pay for the asset acquired). In contrast, operating leases have been treated as


pay as you go' arrangements, with rentals expensed in the year they are paid. IFRS 16


requires all substantial leases to be accounted for using acquisition approach, recognising


the rights acquired to use the asset. Whilst it is currently not anticipated that IFRS16 as


regards the treatment of operating leases will impact significantly on the Authority, the


standard also applies to the measurement of the lease liability for PFI arrangements.


Under the current standard for PFI contracts (IAS17),  liabilities are not remeasured when


the value of payments changes in a way which is not predetermined in the lease contract,
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for example, where payments are increased in line with an inflation index such as RPI. The


increase in payments arising from indexation is treated in the same way as finance costs


and expensed in the period to which it relates. Under IFRS 16 a different treatment is


applied; where indexation or changes in a rate affect future payments, the lease liability is


remeasured. Instead of expensing the additional (or reduced) payment, the net present


value of future payments that comprise the liability is recalculated based on the revised


level of payments.


The current position (under IAS17) as regards the outstanding liability of the PFI contract


as at 6th May is set out in note 11 to the financial statements:


The balance outstanding as at 6th May is disclosed as follows on the Balance Sheet:


£000


Payable within one year -  included with Short Term Creditors 299


PFI Obligations - long term liability 697


996


The impact of the application of IFRS16 on the financial statements of 2024/25 will be an


increase in the opening liability as at 1/4/2024 by £959k to reflect the increase in payments


made under the contract due to RPI of 4.5% (February 2024) being applied. Under IFRS16,


because the liability has been remeasured to reflect the increased unitary charge


attributable to the assets, both the finance costs and principal to be repaid have also


increased:


£000


Balance outstanding at 6/5/24 996


IFRS 16 remeasurement 959


Payments made during year (551)


Balance outstanding 31/5/25 1,405


The accounting entries required to reflect the increase in liabilities under the transition to


IFRS16 are:


Remeasuring lease liability: £000 £000


Dr Property, Plant & Equipment 959


Cr Short term Creditors 251


Cr Long term Creditors 708


959 959


Accounting for any increase/decrease in the revaluation of PFI assets as advised by the


Valuers in 2024/25  would take into account the increase in the Historical Cost of the


assets of the £959k adjustment above.


8. Further Information


Under Sections 25 and 26 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act)


interested parties and local government electors have the right to inspect the Authority's


accounts and supporting documents, and to question the auditor, or make objections to


matters contained in them. The times at which the accounts are deposited for inspection


are advertised on the Commissioner's website
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The Annual Governance Statement is published alongside the Statement of Accounts on


 PFCC's website at the following link:


Annual governance statement - Fire


This explains how the PFCC has complied with its Code of Corporate Governance during


the year and also meets the requirements of the Accounts and Audit regulations in relation


to the publication of a statement of internal control.


Following the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework during 2023/24,


governance and decision making processes continue to be regarded as fit for purpose


in accordance with the governance framework. There are, however, a number of issues


that the Authority recognises of a significant nature that need to be urgently addressed


during 2024/25, along with a number of areas that require continued focus to ensure that


they do not become significant issues in future years. For the period ended 6th May 2024,


the Head of Internal Audit opinion is that the organisation does not have an adequate


framework of risk management, governance and internal control.


Every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of these accounts and compliance with


accounting requirements.


The Authority’s external auditors are: Forvis Mazars, The Corner, Bank Chambers, 26


26 Mosley Street, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE1 1DF


M Porter - Assistant Director of Resources, York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority
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The Mayor exercising his Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner responsibilities is required:


a) to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure


that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this


Authority that officer is the Assistant Director of Resources of York and North Yorkshire


Combined Authority.


b) to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and


safeguard its assets.


c) to approve the Statement of Accounts.


The Assistant Director of Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's


Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA Code


of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 


In preparing this statement of accounts, the Assistant Director of Resources has:


a) selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;


b) made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and


c) complied with the Code of Practice.


d) kept proper accounting records which are up to date; and


e) taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.


Approval of the Statement of Accounts


I certify that the financial statements set out on pages 19 to 79 present a true and fair view of


the financial position of North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (Fire and


Rescue Authority) as at 6th May 2024 and its income and expenditure for the year then


ended.


Signed: ……………………………………………….. Date: 17th June 2024


M Porter


The Statement of Accounts was approved by the Mayor for York and North Yorkshire


Combined Authority:


Signed: ……………………………………………….. Date: …………………….


D Skaith


Mayor for York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority


STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS


Assistant Director of Resources, York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 31 March 2023 1,075                 6,284                 16                      -                     7,373                 (286,626)            (279,251)            


Movements in Reserves during 


2023/24


Total Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure (13,553)              -                     -                     -                     (13,553)              18,898               5,344                 


Adjustments between accounting basis 


& funding basis under regulations 


(Note 5) 12,724               -                     -                     -                     12,724               (12,724)              0


Net increase/(decrease) before 


Transfers to earmarked reserves (830)                   -                     -                     -                     (830)                   6,174                 5,344                 


Transfers to / (from) Earmarked 


Reserves (Note 19) 829                    (1,595)                -                     -                     (765)                   765                    -                     


Increase / (Decrease) in 2023/24 -                     (1,595)                -                     -                     (1,595)                6,939                 5,344                 


Balance at 6 May 2024 carried 


forward 1,075                 4,689                 16                      -                     5,779                 (279,690)            (273,911)            


MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 2023/24
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Comparative Year:


Balance at 31 March 2022 1,075                 7,241                 16                      -                     8,332                 (412,427)            (404,095)            


Movements in Reserves during 


2022/23


Total Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure (15,067)              -                     -                     -                     (15,067)              139,911             124,844             


Adjustments between accounting basis 


& funding basis under regulations 


(Note 5) 14,600               -                     -                     -                     14,600               (14,600)              -                     


Net increase/(decrease) before 


transfers to earmarked reserves (468)                   -                     -                     - (468)                   125,311             124,844             


Transfers to / (from) Earmarked 


Reserves (Note 19) 468                    (957)                   -                     -                     (489)                   488                    -                     


Increase / (Decrease) in 2022/23 -                     (957)                   -                     -                     (957)                   125,799             124,844             


Balance at 31 March 2023 carried 


forward 1,075                 6,284                 16                      -                     7,373                 (286,626)            (279,251)            


MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 2022/23


21







Gross Gross Net Gross Gross Net


Expenditure Income Expenditure Expenditure Income Expenditure


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


41,908 (6,355) 35,552 Fire Services 41,994 (6,426) 35,567


41,908 (6,355) 35,552 Net Cost Of Services 41,994 (6,426) 35,567


Other Operating Expenditure


10 0 10


(Gain)/loss on the Disposal of 


non current assets 33 0 33


10 0 10 33 0 33


Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure


842 - 842


Interest Payable and similar 


charges (Note 29) 1,167       -           1,167       


11,482 - 11,482


Net interest on the net defined 


pension liability (Note 28) 15,805     -           15,805     


- (107) (107)


Interest receivable and similar 


income (Note 29) -           (343)         (343)         


12,324 (107) 12,217 16,972 (343) 16,628


Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income


- (23,498) (23,498) Council tax income -           (27,478)    (27,478)    


- (2,732) (2,732) Non domestic rates -           (2,963)      (2,963)      


- (6,482) (6,482)


Non ring-fenced government 


grants (Note 24) -           (8,070)      (8,070)      


- - -


Capital grants and 


contributions (Note 24) -           (164)         (164)         


0 (32,711) (32,711) 0 (38,676) (38,676)


15,067 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 13,553


(2,528) (2,348)


(137,383) (16,550)


(139,911) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (18,898)


(124,844) Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (5,344)


Remeasurements of the net defined benefit 


liability (Note 28)


COMPREHENSIVE INCOME & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT


2022/23 2023/24


2023/24


Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non 


current  assets (Note 21a)
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31 Mar 2023 6 May 2024


£000 Note £000


Property, Plant & Equipment 7


34,370    Land & Buildings 37,187


6,851    Vehicles 7,425


1,514    Plant & Equipment 1,473


-    Assets Under Construction 2,266


42,734 48,351


381 Intangible Assets - Software 8 303


66 Long Term Debtors 14 64


43,181 Long Term Assets 48,718


225 Inventories 13 255


5,677 Short Term Debtors 14 5,824


6,685 Cash and Cash Equivalents 15 3,591


12,586 Current Assets 9,669


(1,667) Short Term Borrowing 30 (884)


(4,789) Short Term Creditors 16 (5,308)


0 Short Term Provisions 17 (141)


(6,455) Current Liabilities (6,333)


(14,341) Long Term Borrowing 30 (16,589)


- Other Long Term Liabilities -              


- Long Term Creditors 16 -              


(313,026) Pensions Liability 28 (308,520)


(88) Finance Lease obligations 12 0


(1,029) PFI Obligations 11 (697)


(83) Provisions 17 (161)


(328,567) Long Term Liabilities (325,966)


(279,252) Net Assets (273,911)


Usable Reserves


16               Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 20 16


1,075 General Fund Balance 1,075


6,284 Earmarked Reserves 19 4,688


7,374 5,779


Unusable Reserves 21


8,957 Revaluation Reserve (a) 11,142


17,321 Capital Adjustment Account (b) 18,010


(313,026) Pensions Reserve (c) (308,520)


146 Collection Fund Adjustment Account (d) (316)


(24) Accumulated Absences Account (e) (6)


(286,626) (279,690)


(279,252) Total Reserves (273,911)


BALANCE SHEET AS AT 6th MAY 2024
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Restated


2022/23 2023/24


£000 £000


Operating Activities


Taxation


        23,400 - Council Tax Income           27,643 


          1,850 - Non Domestic Rates Income             2,936 


Grants


          5,619 - General Government Funding             8,013 


        10,788 - Other Government grants           12,257 


          2,345 Cash received for goods and services             4,235 


               67 Interest received                380 


44,069      Total Operating Activities cash in flows 55,465


       (14,126) Cash paid to and on behalf of employees         (17,552)


       (10,389) Cash paid to suppliers of goods and services         (15,053)


            (812) Interest Paid           (1,075)


       (20,476) Other payments for operating activities (Note 26)         (21,175)


(45,804)       Total Operating Activities cash out flows (54,855)


(1,734) Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 610


Investing Activities


         (1,370) Purchase of PPE and intangible assets           (4,603)


                -   Proceeds from the sale of PPE and intangible assets                  -   


                -   Other receipts from investing activities                  -   


                -   Capital grants/contributions received                (30)


(1,370) Net cash flows from Investing Activities (4,633)


Financing Activities


          4,500 Cash receipts of short and long term borrowing             3,000 


                (0) Other receipts from financing activities (Note 27)              (124)


            (238) Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding 


liability relating to finance leases and on balance sheet 


PFI contracts (principal)


             (361)


            (396) Repayments of short and long term borrowing           (1,586)


3,866 Net cash flows from financing activities 930


761 Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,094)


          5,924 


Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 


period (Note 15)             6,685 


6,685


Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 


period (Note 15) 3,591


CASHFLOW STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 6th MAY 2024
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1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies


(a) Accounting Concepts


The code requires an authority to disclose its significant accounting policies in the notes to the


financial statements. This is to have two elements:


- Disclosure of the measurement basis (or bases) used in the preparation of the financial statements.


The Authority uses the convention of historical cost modified by the use of current and fair value for


particular categories of assets and liabilities as set out in the relevant policies below.


- Disclosure of the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of financial


statements.


The functions of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) in North Yorkshire, were


transferred by Parliamentary Order (The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023) to


the Elected Mayor of York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority from 7th May 2024. The transfer of


the PFCC functions to the Mayor mean that the legal entity known as the North Yorkshire Police, Fire


and Crime Commissioner (Fire and Rescue Authority) ceased to exist as of 6th May 2024 and all staff,


rights and liabilities transferred to the Combined Authority. As the functions of the PFCC will continue,


the accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.


The figures presented within the financial statements are rounded to the nearest £1,000 to assist in


making them easier to read and understand. The numbers within the financial statements may


appear not to add up, however this does not require rectification, it being due to rounding of numbers


within electronic spreadsheets used in the construction of the statements. The Code allows for the


rounding of numbers as long as the level of such is disclosed and effect is neither material to the


presentation, nor hinders the requirement to present a true and fair view of the financial position of the


Authority.


Information is defined as material by the Code if omitted or misstating it could influence decisions that


users make on the basis of financial information about the Authority.


(b) Property, Plant and Equipment


Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or


services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes that are expected to generate


economic benefit during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.


(i) Recognition


Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is


capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or


service potential associated with the item will flow to the Authority and the cost can be measured


reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future economic


benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when incurred.


In accounting for non current asset acquisitions, a de minimis level of £10,000 is set and where


capital expenditure is de minimis, this is charged direct to cost of services.


NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(ii) Measurement


Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:


- the purchase price


- any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable


of operating in the manner intended by management


- the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which


it is located.


Assets are then carried on the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:


- Assets under construction - historical cost


- Property, Plant and Equipment - current value, determined using the basis of existing use value (EUV).


Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an


asset, e.g. fire stations, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of fair value.


Where non property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical


cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.


Surplus assets are valued at fair value and assets reclassified as held for sale are valued at market


value.


(iii) Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that


their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year end, but as a


minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve


to recognise unrealised gains.


Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:


- where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying


amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).


- where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount


of the asset is written down in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).


The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date


of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital


Adjustment Account.


(iv) Impairment


Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is a material reduction in the value of an


asset due to impairment (e.g. physical damage or deterioration in the quality of the service provided by


the asset). Where identified, the loss is recognised through an impairment charge to the net cost of


services.


Impairment losses are accounted for as a decrease in valuation as set out above.


Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the net cost of


services, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged


if the loss had not been recognised.


(v) Depreciation


Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation


of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An exception is made for assets without a 


determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (e.g.
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assets under construction). 


Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:


- fire stations and other buildings - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as


estimated by the valuer.


- vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the assets.


In the year that an asset is either acquired or disposed of, half a years depreciation is provided for.


Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is significant


in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. This is to ensure


that both the depreciation charge in the Net Cost of Services and also the asset carrying value in the


Balance Sheet are materially correct. The Authority undertakes an annual review to evaluate whether


the componentisation of any of its assets would lead to a materially different depreciation charge and


asset carrying value being reported. To date this review has identified no such assets.


(vi) Disposals and Non Current Assets Held for Sale


When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a


sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held For Sale.


If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back


to non current assets.


Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. When an


asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is


written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


Statement (CIES) as part of the gain or loss on disposal.   Any revaluation gains accumulated for the


asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.


Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts.


The written off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non current assets


is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the


Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.


(c) Intangible Assets


Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the


Authority as a result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that


future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Authority.


Intangible assets are measured initially at cost.  Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of the


assets held by the Authority can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, no


intangible asset held by the Authority meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at amortised


cost.  The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised over its useful life and included


in the net cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).


Where impairment occurs, any losses recognised are also posted to the net cost of services. Any gain


or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to the Other Operating


Expenditure line in the CIES.


Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes,


amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses on Intangible Assets are not permitted


to have an impact on the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out
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of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital


Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts reserve.


Charges to Revenue for Non Current Assets


Operational and support services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding


non current assets during the year:


- depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service


- amortisation of intangible assets used by the relevant service


- revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by services where there are no accumulated gains


in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off


The Authority is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment


losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards


the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses


and amortisation are therefore replaced by the contribution (the Minimum Revenue Provision) in the


General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the


Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.


(d) Government Grants and Contributions 


Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions


and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that:


- the Authority will comply with conditions attached to the payments, and


- the grants or contributions will be received


Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and


Expenditure Statement (CIES) until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. 


Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied


in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as


specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.


Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are


carried in the Balance Sheet as receipts in advance within Creditors.  When no conditions exist or


have been satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line or Taxation and Non


Specific Grant Income (non ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CIES.


Where capital grants are credited to the CIES, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in


the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital


expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve until it is applied. Once applied, it is


transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.


(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 


Cash is represented by cash in hand. Cash equivalents are deposits invested on behalf of the


Authority by North Yorkshire Council as part of a blanket investment fund in accordance with the


Treasury Management Service Level Agreement. These deposits are readily convertible to known


amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.


In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are


repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority's cash management.
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(f) Leases


Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks


and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.


All other leases are classified as operating leases.


Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return


for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on


use of specific assets.


Finance Leases


Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the


commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value


of the minimum lease payments, if lower).  The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the


obligation to pay the lessor.


Lease payments are apportioned between:


- a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the Property, Plant or Equipment - applied to write down


the lease liability, and


- a finance charge debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).


Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies


applied generally to such assets.


Operating Leases


Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the CIES as an expense of the services benefitting


from use of the leased Property, Plant or equipment.


(g) Accruals of Income and Expenditure


Both the revenue and capital accounts of the Authority are maintained on an accruals basis in


accordance with the Code of Practice. That is, sums due to or payable by the Authority during the


year are included in the accounts whether or not the cash has actually been received or paid in the


year. A de minimis limit of £5,000 is applied to this process.


(h) Inventories 


Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of


inventories is assigned using the average basis costing formula.


(i) Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets


(i) Provisions


Provisions represent the best estimate, at the balance sheet date, of expenditure required to settle


a present obligation. The outcome must be able to be estimated reliably and have a probable outcome.


For example, the Authority may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of


a settlement for the payment of compensation. Details of individual provisions are given in the notes


to the Financial Statements.


(ii) Contingent Liabilities 


A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible


obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future


events not wholly within the control of the Authority.  Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances
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where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources


will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.


Material Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note.


(iii) Contingent Assets 


A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible asset


whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not


wholly within the control of the Authority.


Material Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the


accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.


(j) Financial Instruments


A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial


liability or equity instrument of another. They are recognised in the Balance Sheet only when the


Authority is committed to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. The only exceptions are


trade debtors and creditors when the Authority recognises these transactions on delivery or receipt.


Loans and Receivables


Loans (financial liabilities) and Receivables (financial assets) are measured at fair value and carried at


their amortised cost. Annual charges or credits to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


Statement (CIES) in the year are based on the carrying amount of the loan or receivable multiplied by


the effective rate of the instrument. This means that for all the borrowing that the Authority has, the


amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal (plus accrued interest); and


interest charged to the CIES is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. For


Authority investments, the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal


receivable and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable for the year.


Expected Credit Loss Model


The Authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost on


a lifetime basis applying the simplified approach which measures the loss allowance at an amount


equal to lifetime expected credit losses. This applies to non statutory receivables (Debtors) held by the


Authority.


(k) Fair Value


The Authority measures its assets and liabilities at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the 


price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction


between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the


transaction to sell an asset to transfer the liability takes place either:


(i) in the principal market for the asset or liability, or


(ii) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.


The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market


participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in


their economic best interest.


The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which


sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant known data (observable inputs) and


minimising the use of estimates or unknowns (unobservable inputs).
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Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured


or disclosed in the Authority's financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as


follows:


Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the


Authority can access at the measurement date


Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or


liability, either directly or indirectly


Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability


(l) Exceptional and Extraordinary items and Prior Period Adjustments


Exceptional and extraordinary items are disclosed on the face of the Comprehensive Income and


Expenditure Statement and fully explained in the notes to the financial statements.


Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a


material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current


and future years affected by the change, and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.


Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the


change provides more reliable or relevant information about the Authority's financial position or


performance. Where a change is made, it is accounted for retrospectively by adjusting the opening


balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had been applied.


(m) Reserves 


The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves (Usable) for future policy purposes or to cover


contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the


Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure is to be financed from a reserve, it is charged


to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of


Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated


back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net


charge against council tax for the expenditure.


Certain reserves (Unusable) are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets,


financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the


Authority. These reserves are explained in the relevant notes to the financial statements.


(n) Employee Benefits 


(i) Benefits Payable During Employment


Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They


include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave and non-monetary


benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year


in which employees render service to the Authority.


(ii) Termination Benefits


Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an


officer's employment before the normal retirement date or an officer's decision to accept voluntary


redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


Statement at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or


when the Authority recognises costs for a restructuring.
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(o) Pensions


The Authority participates in four different pension schemes, three of which meet the needs of


Operational staff and the fourth the needs of Support staff. Both schemes provide members with


defined benefits related to pay and services. Employees' and employers' contribution levels are based 


on percentages of pay set nationally and are subject to Actuarial triennial review. The schemes are as


follows:


Firefighters Pension Schemes


The Authority meets the pension payments by the payment of an employer's pension contribution


based upon a percentage of pay into the Pension Fund. Employee contributions are also paid into the


fund which is topped up as necessary by Government Grant if the contributions are insufficient


to meet the pension payments due. In the event of a surplus, this will be recouped by the Government.


All three Schemes are unfunded and do not take into account the liabilities to pay pensions and other


benefits after the reporting period end.


Local Government Pension Scheme for Support staff is administered by North Yorkshire Pension


Fund - this is a funded scheme, meaning that the Authority and employees pay contributions into a 


fund calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets. The 


pension costs charged to the Authority's accounts equate to the employer's contributions paid to the


fund on behalf of eligible employees. Further costs arise in respect of certain pensions paid to retired


employees on an unfunded basis.


Pension schemes are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits. IAS19 is based


upon the principle that an organisation should account for all retirement benefits when it is committed


to give them even if the actual giving will be many years into the future. This includes the recognition


of a net asset/liability and a pensions reserve in the Balance Sheet and entries in the Comprehensive


Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for movements in the asset/liability.


A net pensions asset indicates that an authority has effectively overpaid contributions relative to the


future benefits earned by employees. A net liability shows an effective underpayment. The assets and


liabilities are assessed by Scheme Actuaries being based upon the latest full valuation of Schemes as


at 31st March 2022.


The change in the net pensions liability for all Pension Schemes is analysed into the following seven


components:


- Current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year.


- Past service cost - the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect relates


to years of service earned in earlier years.


- Net interest on the defined benefit liability/asset, i.e. net interest expense for the Authority


- Gains or Losses on settlements and curtailments - the result of actions to relieve the Authority of


liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of employees


Remeasurements comprising:


- Expected return on plan assets - excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit


- Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not


coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because actuaries have updated


assumptions. These include movements due to applying an asset ceiling adjustment under IFRIC14


(International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee) to adjust for the value of the LGPS asset


that cannot be realised by the Authority either through refunds or by reducing employer contributions.


- Contributions paid to the Pension Fund - cash paid as employer's contributions to the fund in
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settlement of liabilities.


The Code required the following accounting policies to be applied to the various elements of the net


asset/liability:


- Where an authority participates in more than one scheme, schemes with net assets should be


shown separately from those with net liabilities.


- The assets of each scheme should be measured at fair value, which is based on bid value.


- The liabilities of each scheme should be measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit


method i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits


earned to date by employees based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates


and projections of projected earnings for current employees.


- Scheme liabilities should be discounted to their value at current prices using a discount rate reflecting


the time value of money and the characteristics of the liability.


- The current service cost should be based on the most recent actuarial valuation at the beginning of the


period, with the financial assumptions updated to reflect conditions at that date.


- The past Service cost should be disclosed on a straight line basis over which the increases in benefit


rest.


- The interest cost should be based upon the discount rate and the present value of the scheme


liabilities at the beginning of the period.


- The expected rate of return on assets is based upon the long term expectations at the beginning of the 


period and is expected to be reasonably stable.


- Actuarial gains and losses arise from any new valuation and from updating the latest actuarial valuation


to reflect conditions at the balance sheet date.


- Losses arising on settlement or curtailment not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions should be


measured at the date on which the employer becomes demonstrably committed to the transaction and


disclosed in the notes to the accounts covering that date. Gains arising from settlement/curtailments


not allowed for in the actuarial assumptions should be measured at the date on which all parties are


irrevocably committed to the transaction.


Pensions Grant - Firefighters Pension Schemes


The Code of Practice identifies Pension top up grant as a separate asset, which is excluded from


IAS 19 entries in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). Top up grant is


credited directly to the Pension Fund account not the CIES. The grant is taken through the Movement


in Reserves Statement (and movement in reconciliation of scheme assets) as an actuarial gain.


Change in Estimation Technique - Disclosure of effect of change in discount rate for


liabilities


In assessing liabilities for retirement benefits, Actuaries are required to use a discount rate appropriate


to each authority's circumstances, with the rate potentially changing each year with fluctuations in


market circumstances. The effect of this change on the Authority's pension scheme liabilities are:


Local Government Pension Scheme


In assessing liabilities for retirement benefits at 31 March 2023 for the 2022/23 Statement of


Accounts, the Actuary assumed a discount rate of 4.7%, a rate based upon the current rate on a


high quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to scheme liabilities. For the 2023/24


Accounts, the Actuary has advised that a rate of 5.1% is appropriate. Application of this rate has


resulted in a decrease in liabilities at today's prices of £1,086,000 (3.4% of liabilities), adjusted by


a remeasurement gain recognised for the year in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
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Firefighters Pension Schemes


In assessing liabilities for retirement benefits at 31st March 2023 for the 2022/23 Statement of


Accounts, the Actuary assumed a discount rate of 4.65%, based upon the current rate on a high


quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to scheme liabilities. For the 2023/24


Accounts, the Actuary has advised that a rate of 5.10% is appropriate. Application of this rate has


resulted in a decrease in liabilities at today's prices of £15,300,000 (5% of liabilities), adjusted by


a remeasurement gain recognised for the year in the Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.


Injury Awards - Firefighters Compensation Scheme


Under the Firefighters Compensation Scheme, injury awards are payable to those firefighters who


have sustained a qualifying injury in the exercise of their duties as a firefighter. As these benefits are


payable through the Firefighters Pension scheme, under IAS 19 they are accounted for as part of the


pension arrangements. Separate disclosures have been provided for this scheme.


(p) Overheads and Support Services


The cost of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with


the Authority's arrangements for accountability and financial performance.  As a single service provider,


the Authority charges all such overheads and support service costs to a single segment i.e. Fire


within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).


(q) Private Finance Initiative (PFI)


The Authority is party to one PFI Scheme arrangement for the provision of a Fire Station at


Huntington and a Fire Training Centre and Station (at Easingwold). The treatment of transactions


under the scheme are in accordance with IFRIC 12 - Service Concessions and the IFRS Code.


As ownership of the land and buildings will pass to the Authority at the end of the contracts for a


nominal charge, the Authority carries the assets used on its Balance Sheet. The original recognition


of these assets at fair value (based on the cost to purchase) was balanced by the recognition of a 


liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the capital investment. The assets are


revalued and depreciated in the same way as property plant and equipment owned by the


Authority.


The amounts payable to the PFI operator each year are analysed into four elements:


- Fair value of the services received during the year - debited to net cost of services in the


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES).


- Finance cost - an interest charge of 7.5% on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited to the


Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.


- Contingent rent - increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the contract


debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in CIES.


- Payment towards liability - applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI operator


(the profile of write-downs is calculated using the same principles as for a finance lease).


(r) VAT 


VAT is included in the accounts only if it is irrecoverable from His Majesty's Revenue and Customs


(HMRC).


(s) Precept and Non Domestic Rates


Billing authorities in England are currently required by statute to maintain a separate fund for the


collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and national non domestic rates
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(NNDR). In its capacity as a billing authority, it acts as an agent - it collects and distributes council tax


and NNDR income on behalf of itself and other major preceptors such as the NYPFCC FRA.


Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund i.e. the Collection Fund for the 


collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NNDR. Under the legislative


framework for the Collection Fund, billing authorities, major preceptors and Central Government share


proportionately the risks and rewards that the amounts collected could be less or more than predicted.


The council tax and NNDR income of the Authority included in the Comprehensive Income and


Expenditure Statement (CIES) is the accrued income for the year. However, the difference between


the accrued income included in the CIES and the amount required to actually be credited to the general


fund in year is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account. This account is held on the Balance


Sheet, and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Hence the


difference between accrued precepts and NNDR income received and actual amounts received does


not impact on the General Fund or the revenue budget of the Authority.


The Balance Sheet includes the Authority's share of the year end balances in respect of council tax


and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowances for doubtful debts, overpayments and


prepayments and appeals.


(t) Post Balance Sheet Events


Events after the Balance Sheet date are reflected by the Authority up to the date when the Accounts


are authorised for issue: Two types of event can be identified:


- those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period - the 


Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events.


- those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period - the Statement of Accounts


is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material effect,


disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.


2. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies


In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Authority has had to make certain judgements


about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. The following are the


significant management judgements made:


(i) Transfer of Functions:


The functions of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) in North Yorkshire, were


transferred by Parliamentary Order (The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023) to


the Elected Mayor of York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority from 7th May 2024. The transfer of


the PFCC functions to the Mayor mean that the legal entity known as the North Yorkshire Police, Fire


and Crime Commissioner (Fire and Rescue Authority) ceased to exist as of 6th May 2024 and all staff,


rights and liabilities transferred to the Combined Authority. As the functions of the PFCC will continue,


the accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.


These Statement of Accounts cover the period from 1st April 2023 to 6th May 2024, a period of 13


months and 6 days). In preparing the Balance Sheet as at 6th May 2024, the following critical


judgements were adopted by management:


- IAS19 pension entries for the period ended 6th May 2024 are based upon reports obtained from the


PFCC's pension actuaries as at the balance sheet date.


- Non-current asset valuations as at 6th May 2024 are based upon reports obtained from the PFCC's
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external valuers as at 31st March 2024. The valuation of a Fire Station is undertaken on a depreciated


replacement cost (DRC) basis using average build costs, then adjusted by obsolescence factors.


Management considered the movement in the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) indices


between 31st March and 6th May 2024 to determine whether the valuations as at 31st March 2024 are


a reasonable proxy for that as at 6th May, and concluded the difference within the 36 day period is not


material to the financial statements. In line with this judgement, CIES costs in respect of non-current


assets are actual costs as at 31st March 2024.


- Loan and investment balances reported are actuals as at 6th May 2024. 


- Cash and cash equivalents reported are actuals as at 6th May 2024. 


- PFI unitary charge and balance sheet entries are accounted for on the basis of the actual position as


at 6th May 2024.


- Insurance provisions were based upon claims as at the balance sheet date.


- Collection Fund adjustments are accounted for on the basis of the actual position as 31st March 2024


as provided by Billing Authorities.


- Accumulated absences were accounted for on the basis of the actual position as at 31st March 2024


for accrued annual leave balances. Management judgement is that the difference in the actual position


between 31st March and 6th May 2024 is not material to the financial statements.


- Usable reserves are accounted for on the basis of the actual position as at 6th May 2024.


Transactions for the period 1st April 2024 and 6th May 2024 were examined and the following items


deemed material and accrued into the statements for the 36 day period:


- Pay and associated employer costs are accrued on the basis of actual costs to 6th May 2024 where


available, and expected costs where necessary.


- Non pay costs are accrued on the basis of 36 days expected costs


- Precept and Grant funding on the basis of actual receipts where available, and expected income where


necessary.


- Pension income and expenditure is accrued in the Firefighters Pension Fund Account on the basis


of actual costs/receipts where available, and expected costs/income where necessary.


(ii) The Authority is deemed to control the services provided under its PFI arrangement and is also able to


control the residual value of these buildings at the end of the agreement. The accounting policies for


PFI schemes and similar contracts have been applied to the arrangement and the assets (valued at


£6,319,000) are recognised as Land and Buildings on the Authority's Balance Sheet.


3. Assumptions Made About The Future and other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty


The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by


the Authority about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into


account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because


these balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different


from the assumptions and estimates. The items in the Authority's Balance Sheet at 6th May 2024


for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are:


(i) Pensions Liability - net carrying amount 6th May 2024 £(308,520,000)


Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements and


projections advised by the Actuaries, which include; the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries


are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected future returns on


pension fund assets where applicable. Note 28 to the financial statements provides more detail. The


resultant impact on the CIES is a charge of £12,044,000 to reflect the present value of the defined 


benefit obligation and net actuarial gain of £16,555,000.
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(ii) Non Current Assets - net carrying amount 6th May 2024 £48,654,000


Assets are depreciated over the useful life that they will be operational. The useful life is dependent on


assumptions about the level of repairs and maintenance expenditure in relation to individual assets.


Should insufficient expenditure be incurred to properly maintain an asset, it may be the case that the


useful economic life of that asset is reduced; this might give rise to an impairment or accelerated


depreciation being required, and a resultant decrease in the carrying amount of the asset. It is 


estimated that the annual depreciation charge for non current assets would increase by £257,000 for


every year that useful lives are reduced.


Valuation of assets and consideration of impairment depends on a number of complex judgements


and a firm of Valuers is engaged to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be applied. The


valuation (and any impairment review) is commissioned in accordance with the Royal Institution of


Chartered Surveyors (RICS) valuation standards.


The valuation of a Fire Station is undertaken on a depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis using


average build costs, then adjusted by obsolesce factors. Any changes in value are therefore derived


from changes in build costs and obsolesce factors. The Valuer has stated that it does not consider


there to be significant or material changes to values, unless they are informed by the Authority of a


significant change in the use of a property. The valuations are not based upon market evidence and


are therefore not impacted on by changes in the market.


4. Events after the Balance Sheet Date


The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Assistant Director of Resources on 17th


June 2024. Events taking place after that date are not reflected in the financial statements. However,


where events after this date provide information about conditions existing at 6th May 2024, the figures


in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects.
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5. Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations


This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure


recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to arrive at the


amounts that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future


capital and revenue expenditure:
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12,044          -              


460               -              


(18)                -              


2,116            -              


(164)              


Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources           14,437                 -   


Adjustments between 


Revenue and Capital 


(1,423)           -              


(291)              -              


(1,714)           -              


Adjustments to Capital Resources


-                -              


Total Adjustments to Capital Resources -                -              


Total Adjustments 12,724          -              


Total Adjustments between Capital and Revenue 


Resources


Usable Reserves


Amounts by which income and Expenditure included in the 


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are different from 


revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory 


requirements


Pension costs transferred to/(from) the Pensions Reserve (see Note 21c)


Council Tax and NDR transferred to/(from) the Collection Fund Adjustment 


Account (see Note 21d)


Holiday Pay (transferred to/(from) the Accumulated Absences Adjustment 


Account (See Note 21e)


Reversal of entries included in the surplus or deficit on the provision of 


services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to the 


Capital Adjustment Account (See Note 21b))


Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES that have been applied 


to capital financing (See Note 21b)


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt


Capital expenditure financed from revenue resources


Use of capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure
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Comparative figures in 2022/23 G
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£000 £000


15,057          -              


(1,000)           -              


25                 -              


1,937            -              


-


Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources           16,019 -              


- -


(1,201)           -              


Capital expenditure financed from revenue resources (218)              


(1,419)           -              


Adjustments to Capital Resources


Use of capital receipts reserve 


to finance new capital 


-                -              


-                -              


Total Adjustments 14,600          -              


Descriptions of the reserves that the adjustments are made against:


(a) General Fund Balance is the main revenue fund from which the Authority's cost of services is met.


It represents the accumulated credit balance i.e. the excess of income over expenditure, which


provides a working balance to help manage uneven cash flows and avoid unnecessary borrowing. The


General Fund balance also includes a contingency element to manage unexpected and consequently


unbudgeted events and circumstances.


(b) Capital Receipts Reserve records balances of receipts for capital disposals that can be retained


for qualifying capital purposes, expenditure of a capital nature or repayment of borrowings.


Usable Reserves


Holiday Pay (transferred to/(from) the Accumulated Absences Adjustment 


Account (See Note 21e)


Reversal of entries included in the surplus or deficit on the provision of 


services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to the 


Capital Adjustment Account (See Note 21b))


Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES that have been applied 


to capital financing (See Note 21b)


Statutory provision for the repayment of debt


Total Adjustments to Capital Resources


Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources


Transfer of non current asset sale proceeds from revenue to 


the Capital Receipts Reserve


Total Adjustments between Capital and Revenue 


Resources


Council Tax and NDR transferred to/(from) the Collection Fund Adjustment 


Account (see Note 21d)


Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the 


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are different from 


revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory 


requirements


Pension costs transferred to/(from) the Pensions Reserve (see Note 21c)
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6. Expenditure and Funding Analysis


The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how the annual expenditure is used and funded from 


resources (government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in 


comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally 


accepted accounting practices which is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure Statement (CIES).


Net 


Expenditure 


Chargeable to 


the General 


Fund Balance


Adjustment 


between the 


Funding and 


Accounting 


Basis (Note 6a)


Net 


Expenditure in 


the CIES


£000 £000 £000


Fire Services 38,959 (3,392) 35,567


Net Cost Of Services 38,959 (3,392) 35,567


Other Income and Expenditure (38,130) 16,116 (22,014)


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 830 12,724 13,553


Opening General Fund and Earmarked Reserves 7,358


Plus/(Less) Surplus or (Deficit) on the General Fund (830)


Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (765)


Closing General Fund and Earmarked Reserves as at


6th May 2024 5,764


2022/23 Comparative Figures


Net 


Expenditure 


Chargeable to 


the General 


Fund Balance


Adjustment 


between the 


Funding and 


Accounting 


Basis (Note 6a)


Net 


Expenditure in 


the CIES


£000 £000 £000


Fire Services 31,469 4,083 35,552


Net Cost Of Services 31,469 4,083 35,552


Other Income and Expenditure (31,001) 10,517 (20,484)


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision 470 14,600 15,067


Opening General Fund and Earmarked Reserves 8,315


Plus/(Less) Surplus or (Deficit) on the General Fund and (468)


Earmarked Reserves in year (488)


Closing General Fund and Earmarked Reserves as at


31st March 2023 7,358


2023/24
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(a) Note to the Expenditure & Funding Analysis


Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure amounts:
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£000 £000 £000 £000


Fire Services 369               (3,761)           -                (3,392)         


Net Cost Of Services 369               (3,761)           -                (3,392)         


Other Income and Expenditure from the


Expenditure & Funding Analysis (131)              15,805          441               16,116        


Difference between General Fund surplus or


deficit and Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit on


the Provision of Services 238               12,044          441               12,724        


2022/23 Comparative Figures
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£000 £000 £000 £000


Fire Services 508 3,575 - 4,083


Net Cost Of Services 508 3,575 0 4,083


Other Income and Expenditure from the


Expenditure & Funding Analysis 10 11,482 (975) 10,517


Difference between General Fund surplus or


deficit and Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit on


the Provision of Services 518 15,057 (975) 14,600


(i) Adjustments for Capital Purposes


Adjustments for capital purposes - this column adds in depreciation and impairment and 


revaluation gains and losses in the services line, and for:


Other operating expenditure - adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal 


of assets and the amounts written off for those assets.


Financing and investment income and expenditure - the statutory charges for capital financing 


i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income 


and expenditure as these amounts are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting 


practices.
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Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure - capital grants are adjusted for income


not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.  Revenue grants are adjusted from


those receivable in the year to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were


satisfied throughout the year.  The Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is


credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were 


satisfied in the year.


(ii) Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments


Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee Benefits 


pension related expenditure and income:


For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the 


Authority as allowed by statute which are replaced with current and past service costs.


For Financing and investment income and expenditure - the net interest on the defined benefit 


liability is charged to the CIES.


(iii) Other differences


Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and 


Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute:


For services, this represents the adjustment for timing differences in relation to accumulated staff


absences earned but not taken in the year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31st 


March. The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents


the difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NNDR that 


was projected to be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally 


accepted accounting practices in the Code.  This is a timing difference as any difference will be 


brought forward in future surpluses or deficits on the Collection Fund.


(b) Expenditure & Income analysed by nature


The Authority's expenditure and income is analysed as follows:


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Expenditure:


Employee benefits expenses 46,367 43,454


9,349 8,007


Depreciation, amortisation, revaluations and impairment 2,083 1,927


Interest Payments 1,167 842


(Gain) or Loss on Disposal of non current assets 33 10


Total expenditure 58,999 54,240


Income:


Fees, charges & other service income (1,103) (833)


Interest and investment income (343) (107)


Income from council tax and non domestic rates (30,441) (26,230)


Government grants and contributions (13,557) (12,004)


Total income (45,445) (39,174)


(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 13,553 15,067


Other service expenses
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7. Property, Plant and Equipment


O
th


e
r 


L
a
n
d
 


a
n
d
 


B
u
ild


in
g
s


V
e
h
ic


le
s


P
la


n
t 


&
 


E
q
u
ip


m
e
n
t


S
u
rp


lu
s
 


A
s
s
e
ts


A
s
s
e
ts


 


u
n
d
e
r 


C
o
n
s
tr


u
c
ti
o
n


T
o
ta


l


P
F


I 
A


s
s
e


ts
 


(N
o


te
 1


1
) 


In
c
lu


d
e


d
 i
n


 


O
th


e
r 


L
a


n
d


 &
 


B
u


ild
in


g
s


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Cost or Valuation (GCA):


As at 1st April 2023 34,370        17,955      3,914        -            -            56,238       5,211            


Additions 1,178          1,529        299           -            2,266         5,272         -                


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment written off to Gross Carrying Amount (212)            -            -            -            -            (212)          (36)                


Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 2,348          -            -            -            -            2,348         1,205            


Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the provision of Services 170             -            -            -            -            170            -                


Derecognition - disposals -              (435)          (16)            -            -            (451)          -                


Derecognition - other -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Other movements in cost or valuation -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


As at 6th May 2024 37,854        19,049      4,196        -            2,266         63,366       6,380            


Movements on Balances 2023/24: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment:


As at 1st April 2023 -              (11,105)     (2,401)       -            -            (13,506)     -                


Depreciation Charge (879)            (925)          (334)          -            -            (2,138)       (97)                


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment written off to Gross Carrying Amount 212             -            -            -            -            212            36                 


Impairment losses / (reversals) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Impairment losses / (reversals) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the provision of services -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Derecognition - disposals -              406           12             -            -            418            -                


Other Movements in Depreciation and Impairment -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


At 6th May 2024 (667)            (11,625)     (2,723)       -            -            (15,014)     (61)                


Net Book Value
At 6th May 2024 37,187        7,425        1,473        -            2,266         48,351       6,319            


At 31st March 2023 34,370        6,851        1,514        -            -            42,734       5,211            
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Comparative Movements in 2022/23
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Cost or Valuation:


As at 1st April 2022 31,824        16,579      3,526        -            1,220         53,149       4,878            


Additions 653             191           429           -            11              1,283         -                


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment written off to Gross Carrying Amount (730)            -            -            -            -            (730)          (90)                


Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 2,528          -            -            -            -            2,528         423               


Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the provision of services 95               -            -            -            -            95              -                


Derecognition - disposals -              (45)            (41)            -            -            (86)            -                


Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Other movements in cost or valuation - 1,231        -            -            (1,231)       -            -                


At 31st March 2023 34,370        17,956      3,914        -            -            56,239       5,211            


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment:


As at 1st April 2022 -              (10,261)     (2,136)       -            -            (12,397)     -                


Depreciation Charge (730)            (888)          (296)          -            -            (1,914)       (90)                


Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment written off to Gross Carrying Amount 730             -            -            -            -            730            90                 


Depreciation written out to the Surplus / Deficit on the provision of services - -            -            -            -            - -                


Impairment losses/ (reversals) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


Impairment losses/ (reversals) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services -              -            -            -                


Derecognition - Disposals -              44             32             -            -            75              -                


Other movements in Depreciation and Impairment -              -            -            -            -            -            -                


At 31st March 2023 -              (11,105)     (2,400)       -            -            (13,505)     -                


Net Book Value
At 31st March 2023 34,370 6,851 1,514 - - 42,734 5,211


At 31st March 2022 31,824 6,317 1,389 - 1,220 40,750 4,878
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Depreciation


     -   Land - not depreciated


     -   Buildings  15 - 60 years


     -   Vehicles  2 - 15 years


     -   Plant & Equipment  5 - 15 years


Capital Commitments 


At 6th May 2024, the Authority is within contracts for Vehicles for which the expenditure commitment in


future years is estimated at £2,401,000. Of this amount £1,811,000 relates to fire appliances ordered


prior to 31st March 2024, at various stages of the build process, caused by delays in delivery.


Revaluations


Assets are carried in the Balance sheet using the asset management bases set out in Accounting Policy


Note 1 (b) (ii). The Authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Land and Buildings


required to be measured at current value are revalued at least every five years. Valuations under the 


rolling programme in 2023/24 were carried out by NPS Property Consultants, an independent external


valuer in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards


of the Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  The effective date of the valuations undertaken was 31st March 


2024. The whole estate has thereafter been subject to a 'desk top' style valuation using Building Cost


Information Service (BCIS) indices between 31st March and 6th May 2024 to determine that the valuation


as at 31st March 2024 is a reasonable proxy for that as at the balance sheet date.


The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values are:


- That the properties and values are unaffected by any matters which would be revealed in a local 


search or inspection of any register, and remains useable for its intended purpose.


- That good title can be shown.


- That all sites are free of high alumina cement, concrete or calcium chloride additive, or asbestos, 


woodwool slabs or other potentially deleterious materials.


- All properties are free of radon gas.


- For the depreciated replacement cost method, the cost of constructing the property is calculated 


and then depreciated to reflect factors of age and obsolescence. An addition is then made for the 


value of the land on which the property is situated.


- Remaining useful lives are based upon the assumption that the Authority continues to undertake 


appropriate maintenance and repair, but that rebuilding or extension works will not be undertaken.
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£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Carried at historical cost -            7,425         1,473         -            2,266         11,164        


Valued at current value as at:


31 March 2024 10,119       -            -            -            -            10,119        


31 March 2023 10,706       -            -            -            -            10,706        


31 March 2022 3,065         -            -            -            -            3,065          


31 March 2021 3,646         -            -            -            -            3,646          


31 March 2020 9,651         -            -            -            -            9,651          


Total Cost or Valuation 37,187       7,425         1,473         -            2,266         48,351        


The dates listed in the table above are the dates of the last formal valuation of assets by External


Valuers under the rolling programme.


The following useful lives have been used in the calculation of depreciation:
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8. Intangible Assets


The Authority's Intangible assets consist wholly of software licences for the Authority's IT systems. 


The useful lives of the licences are based on assessment of the period that they are expected to 


be of use to the Authority.  The useful lives assigned to the software licences range from 3 - 8 


years.  The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight line basis. Amortisation 


of £114,670 in 2023/24 (£107,781 in 2022/23) was charged to Fire Services in the Comprehensive


Income and Expenditure Statement.


The movement on Intangible Asset balances during the year is as follows:


2023/24 2022/23


Balance at the start of the year: £000 £000


Gross carrying amounts 981            905             


Accumulated amortisation (600)          (492)           


Net carrying amount at start of year 381 413


Additions 36             76               


Disposals -            -             


Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve -            -             


Impairment losses/ (reversals) recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the


Provision of Services -            -             


Amortisation for the period (115)          (108)           


Derecognition - Disposals -            -             


Other movements in cost or valuation -            -             


Net carrying amount at end of year 303 381


Comprising:


Gross carrying amount 1,017         981             


Accumulated amortisation (715)          (600)           


303 381


9. Impairment Losses


The Authority recognised no impairment losses in 2023/24, nor 2022/23.
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10. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing


The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including 


the value of assets acquired under finance leases and PFI/PP contracts), together with the 


resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future 


years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Authority, the expenditure results in an 


increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure 


incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be financed.  


The CFR can be analysed as follows:


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Opening Capital Financing Requirement 16,837 17,385 


Capital investment


Property, Plant and Equipment 5,272         1,284          


Intangible Assets 36             76               


Sources of finance


Capital receipts -            -             


Government grants and other contributions (164)          -


Direct revenue contributions (1,055)       (707)           


Minimum Revenue Provision (1,423)       (1,201)        


Closing Capital Financing Requirement 19,504 16,837 


Explanation of movements in year


Increase/(decrease) in underlying borrowing (supported by Government (237) (225)


financial assistance)


Increase/(decrease) in underlying borrowing (unsupported by Government 3,306 (84)


financial assistance)


Assets acquired under finance leases (95) (79)


Assets acquired under PFI contracts (308) (160)


Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 2,667 (548)


11. Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts


The PFI Scheme is an arrangement under which a contractor designs, builds, finances and 


operates a Fire Station (at Huntington) and a Fire Training School and Fire Station (at Easingwold) 


for the Authority.  The contract was signed in July 2001 and the fire station and training centre  


opened in May 2002.  The contract period is for 25 years and commenced in May 2002. During the 


contract period the Contractor is responsible for maintaining the assets and for the provision of 


certain facilities management services (cleaning, window cleaning, catering janitorial, grounds 


maintenance, waste management and pest control).  The contract specifies minimum standards 


for the services to be provided by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made 


if facilities are unavailable or below the minimum standards. The contract may be extended by 


mutual agreement between the two parties. Should the contract run to its natural close, the 


Authority can purchase the land and buildings at a nominal cost of £10 per site. The element of the 


contract payable for the Facilities Management Service is market tested at five yearly intervals 


throughout the contract period.  The testing is based upon the basket of services being supplied by 


the contractor at the time.


Property Plant and Equipment


The assets used to provide services at the sites are recognised on the Authority's Balance Sheet.


Movements in their value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement of Land and
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Buildings balances in Note 7.


Payments


The Authority makes an agreed payment each year which is increased annually by RPI and can


be reduced if the contractor fails to meet availability and performance standards in any year but 


which otherwise is fixed unless the agreed maximum usage is exceeded. The total payment in the 


year to 6th May 2024 was £2,068,690 (£1,623,670 in 2022/23).


Payments remaining to be made under the PFI contract at 6th May 2024 (excluding any 


estimation of inflation and availability/performance deductions) are set out in the following table:


Reimbursement


of Capital Interest Payment 


Expenditure Charge for Service Total


£000 £000 £000 £000


Payable within one year (to 31st March 2025) 299 71 917 1,288


Payable in the 2nd to 3rd year (final) 697 69 1,975 2,741


996 140 2,892 4,028


Although the payments made to the contractor are described as unitary payments, they have been 


calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services they provide, the capital 


expenditure remains to be reimbursed. The liability outstanding to pay the contractor for capital 


expenditure is as follows:


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Balance outstanding at 1 April 1,304 1,464


Payments during the year (308) (160)


Capital expenditure incurred in the year - -


Balance outstanding at 6 May 996 1,304


The balance outstanding as at 6th May is disclosed as follows on the Balance Sheet:


Payable within one year -  included with Short Term Creditors 299


PFI Obligations - long term liability 697


996


12. Leases


(a) Authority as Lessee


(i) Finance Leases


The Authority has acquired fire appliances under finance lease arrangements. The assets acquired


under these leases are carried as Property, Plant and Equipment in the Balance Sheet at the following


net book values:


6th May 31st March


2024 2023


£000 £000


Other Land and Buildings -            -             


Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment 80 89


80 89


The Authority is committed to making minimum payments under these leases, comprising 


settlement of the long term liability for the interest in the property acquired by the Authority and 


finance costs that will be payable by the Authority in future years while the liability remains 


outstanding.  The minimum lease payments are made up of the following amounts:
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6th May 31st March


2024 2023


Finance lease liabilities (net present value of minimum lease payments): £000 £000


          Current 79             86               


          Non-current -              88               


Finance costs payable in future years -              2                


Minimum lease payments 79 176


The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods:


6th May 31st March 6th May 31st March


2024 2023 2024 2023


£000 £000 £000 £000


No later than one year 79             88             79             86               


Later than one year and not later than five years -              88             -              88               


Later than five years -              -              0               0                


79 176 79 174


The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after 


the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.  No contingent rents were 


payable by the Authority in either 2023/24 or 2022/23.


(ii) Operating Leases


The Authority has acquired land, vehicles and communications equipment by entering into operating


leases, with lives ranging from two to forty five years.  The arrangement for communications 


equipment include payments for non lease elements (e.g. mobile phone airtime) where the payment


cannot be accurately categorised between the lease and non lease element. This arrangement


is disclosed separately from those which contain a lease element only. The minimum lease


arrangements which contain a lease element only.  The minimum lease payments due under


non-cancellable leases in future years are:


6th May 31st March 6th May 31st March


2024 2023 2024 2023


£000 £000 £000 £000


No later than one year 5               26             2               2                


Later than one year and not later than five years -              27             8               8                


Later than five years -              28             56             58               


5 81 66 68


Expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the year in 


respect of these leases was:


2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000 £000 £000


Minimum lease payments 5               36             2               2                


Contingent rents -              -              -              -               


5 36 2 2


Payments Lease Liabilities


FinanceMinimum Lease


Agreements inc. lease


and non lease payments only lease payments 


Agreements inc.


Agreements inc.


only lease payments and non lease payments


Agreements inc. lease
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(b) Authority as Lessor


(i) Operating Leases


The Authority leases out property and equipment under operating leases for the following purposes:


- A number of Fire Stations are leased out to the OPFCCNY for use as a police station or office space.


The annual rents are peppercorn with running costs being shared on an occupation basis.


- Easements for underground power cables.


As all leased property is let at either peppercorn rent or for short term agreements, there are no future


minimum payments receivable under non-cancellable leases to disclose.


13. Inventories


Transport Operational


2023/24 Uniform inc. Fuel Equipment Other Total


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 1st April 30             128            57             11             225             


Purchases 84             643            307            60             1,094          


Recognised as an expense in year (71)            (623)          (314)          (55)            (1,063)        


Written off balances -            -            -            -            -             


Reversal of write offs in prior years -            -            -            -            -             


Balance at 6th May 43 149 50 15 256 


2022/23 Comparatives Transport Operational


Uniform inc. Fuel Equipment Other Total


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance at 1st April 30 151 57 6 244 


Purchases 62 658 372 77 1,169 


Recognised as an expense in year (62) (681) (372) (72) (1,187)


Written off balances -            -            -            -            -             


Reversal of write offs in prior years -            -            -            -            -             


Balance at 31st March 30 128 57 11 225 


14. Debtors


6th May 31st March 6th May 31st March


2024 2023 2024 2023


£000 £000 £000 £000


Central Government bodies - - 2,679 2,817


Other Local Authorities 64 66 1,406 1,134


Other entities and individuals - - 1,739 1,726


Total 64 66 5,824 5,677


15. Cash and Cash Equivalents


6th May 31st March


The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following 2024 2023


elements: £000 £000


Cash held by the Authority 2               1                


Bank current accounts -            (522)           


Short-term deposits with banks and financial institutions 3,589         7,205          


Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,591 6,685


Long Term Short Term
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16. Short-Term Creditors


6th May 31st March 6th May 31st March


2024 2023 2024 2023


£000 £000 £000 £000


Central Government Bodies - - 1,874         786             


Other Local Authorities - - 1,983         1,364          


NHS Bodies - - - -             


Other entities and individuals - - 1,452         2,638          


Total - - 5,308 4,789


17. Provisions


Short Term


Liability MMI


Salaries Claims Claims Sub Total Total


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance as at 1 April 2023 -            (27)            (56)            (83)            (83)             


Provisions Made 2023/24 (141)          (107)          -            (107)          (248)           


Amounts used in 2023/24 -            23             -            23             23               


Unused amounts reversed in 2023/24 -            6               -            6               6                


Balance as at 6 May 2024 (141) (105) (56) (161) (302)


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Balance as at 1 April 2022 -            -            (56)            (56)            (56)


Provisions Made 2022/23 -            (27)            -            (27)            (27)


Amounts used in 2022/23 -            -            -            -            -             


Unused amounts reversed in 2022/23 -            -            -            -            -             


Balance as at 31 March 2023 0 (27) (56) (83) (83)


Insurance Claims


Under the Authority's insurance policies, the Authority is liable for an excess per claim of between


£25,000 and £52,000 dependant upon the date of the originating event giving rise to the claim.


The Insurers have advised that as at 6th May 2024, there are two new claims requiring provision


within the 2023/24 accounts.


Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) was the predominant insurer of public sector bodies, including the


Authority, until it stopped underwriting operations in 1992. The 1993 implementation of a 'Scheme of


Arrangement' means that even today, these public sector bodies have exposure to MMI due mainly to


subsequent and much higher than expected levels of industrial disease type claims. MMI's deteriorating


solvency position has led to insolvent liquidation. As a result of the Scheme of Arrangement, following


advice from the Insurers, the current provision of £56,000 remains sufficient.


Salaries


Following the ruling in 2017 of the Bear Scotland Limited v Fulton case, employers are required to 


take into account all remuneration (including non-guaranteed overtime) when calculating holiday pay. The


definition of non-guaranteed overtime is currently being reviewed by the Authority to confirm whether the


current policy for calculating holiday pay complies.  If the policy is amended, it is estimated that £141,000


of backdated arrears will be owed to staff as at 6th May 2024.


Long Term


Short TermLong Term
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18. Termination Benefits


There were no exit packages charged to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement in


2023/24. (There were no exit packages charged in 2022/23).


Band: Number £000 Number £000


£0-£100,000 0 0 0 0


19. Transfers to / from Earmarked Reserves


This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund in earmarked reserves to provide


financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to


meet General Fund expenditure in 2023/24:


Balance at Transfers Balance at


2023/24 1 April 23 In / (Out) 6 May 24


£000 £000 £000


Pensions, Pay & Prices 1,021         (143)          878             


New Developments 883            (426)          457             


Insurance 80             -            80               


Recruitment 175            -            175             


Hydrants Repair & Maintenance 100            -            100             


Collection Fund 44             (24)            20               


Risk & Resource Model 400            (194)          206             


Capital Expenditure 2,995         (765)          2,230          


HO ESMCP 129            -            129             


HO Protection Funding 457            (43)            414             


Total 6,284 (1,595) 4,688


The net transfers from Earmarked Reserves in year as shown in the Movements in Reserves is


 £1,595,000.


Transfers to / from Earmarked Reserves


2022/23 Comparatives Balance at Transfers Balance at


1 April 22 In / (Out) 31 March 23


Pensions 1,066 (45) 1,021


Pay and Prices 337 (337) 0


New Developments 1,108 (224) 884


Revenue Budget Support - 0 0


Insurance 80 0 80


Recruitment 175 0 175


Hydrants Repair & Maintenance 100 0 100


Collection Fund 66 (22) 44


Risk & Resource Model - 400 400


Capital Expenditure 3,146 (152) 2,994


HO ESMCP 661 (532) 129


HO Protection Funding 502 (45) 457


Total 7,241 (957) 6,284


2023/24 2022/23
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20. Usable Reserves


6th May 31st March


2024 2023


£000 £000


Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 16 16


General Fund Balance 1,075 1,075


Earmarked General Fund Reserves 4,688 6,284


Total Usable Reserves 5,779 7,375


Movement in the Authority's usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement.


21. Unusable Reserves 6th May 31st March


2024 2023


£000 £000


Revaluation Reserve 11,142 8,957


Capital Adjustment Account 18,010 17,321


Pensions Reserve (308,520) (313,026)


Collection Fund Adjustment Account (316) 146


Accumulating Compensated Absences Adjustment Account (6) (24)


Total Unusable Reserves (279,690) (286,626)


The Movement in Reserves Statement provides details of the source of all transactions posted to 


the reserves above.


(a) Revaluation Reserve


The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the 


value of its Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is reduced when assets with 


accumulated gains are:


     -   revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost


     -   used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 


         disposed of and the gains are realised


The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 


Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the 


balance on the Capital Adjustment Account.


Revaluation Reserve 2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Balance at 1st April 8,957 6,535


Upward revaluation of assets 2,687 2,752


Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the


Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (340) (224)


2,348 2,528


Surplus or deficit on revaluation/impairment of non-current assets not 


posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services - -


Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation (162) (106)


Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped -            -             


Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (162) (106)


Balance at 6th May 11,142 8,957
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(b) Capital Adjustment Account


The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 


arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 


acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions.  The 


Account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation,


impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 


Statement (CIES) with reconciling posting from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value


figures to a historical cost basis.  The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the


Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. The Account also


contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1st April 2007, 


the date the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains.


Capital Adjustment Account 2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Balance at 1st April 17,321 17,244


Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the CIES:


     Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (2,138)       (1,915)        


     Revaluation Gains/(Losses) on Property, Plant and Equipment 170            95               


     Amortisation of intangible assets (115)          (108)           


     Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of


     gain/(loss) on disposal to the CIES (33)            (10)             


(2,116)       (1,937)        


Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve 162            106             


Net written out amount of the cost of non current assets consumed in year (1,953)       (1,831)        


Capital financing applied in the year:


     Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure -            -             


     Use of the Earmarked Capital Reserve to finance new capital expenditure 764            489             


     Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES that have been -             


     applied to capital financing 164            -             


     Statutory provision for the financing of Capital investment charged


     against the General Fund balance 1,423         1,201          


     Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 291            218             


2,642         1,908          


Balance at 6th May 18,010       17,321        


(c) Pensions Reserve


The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 


accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 


provisions.  The Authority accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income 


and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 


service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 


returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require


benefits earned to be financed as the Authority makes employer's contributions to pension funds or


eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions


Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current


employees and the resources the Authority has to meet them. However, the statutory arrangements


ensure that the funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.
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Pensions Reserve 2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Balance at 1st April (313,026) (435,352)


Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 16,550 137,383


Pensions costs transferred to the Pensions Reserve:


Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the


Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Service in the CIES (18,969) (20,609)


Employer's pensions contributions and payments to pensioners in the year 6,925 5,552


(12,044) (15,057)


Balance at 6th May (308,520) (313,026)


(d) Collection Fund Adjustment Account


The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 


council tax income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) as it falls due 


from Council Tax and Non Domestic Rate (NDR) payers compared with the statutory arrangements


for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund.


2023/24 2023/24 2023/24


£000 £000 £000


Council Tax NDR Total


Balance at 1st April 233 (89) 144


Amount by which council tax and NDR income credited to the


CIES is different from council tax and NDR calculated in accordance


with statutory requirements (391) (69) (460)


Balance at 6th May 2024 (158) (158) (316)


2022/23 2022/23 2022/23


£000 £000 £000


Council Tax NDR Total


Balance at 1st April 118 (973) (854)


Amount by which council tax and NDR income credited to the


CIES is different from council tax and NDR calculated in accordance


with statutory requirements 115 884 1,000 


Balance at 31st March 2023 233 (89) 146 


(e) Accumulating Compensated Absences Adjustment Account


The Accumulating Compensated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that 


would otherwise arise on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences 


earned but not taken in year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory 


arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or 


from this account.


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Balance at 1st April (24) 1


Settlement/cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding year 24 (1)


Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (6) (24)


18 (25)


Balance at 6th May (6) (24)


Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an accruals basis is 


different from remuneration chargeable in year in accordance with statutory 


requirements
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22. Officers' Remuneration


(a) Senior Employees


The remuneration paid to the Authority's senior employees in 2023/24 (covering the period 1st April 2023


 to 6th May 2024) is as follows:
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(i) Chief Fire Officer - Jonathan Dyson 163,955     -              163,955     47,787       211,742      


(ii) Deputy Chief Fire Officer 132,416     -              132,416     38,598       171,014      


296,371     -              296,371     86,385       382,756      


For the purposes of comparison to the previous financial year which covered a conventional 12 month


period, the remuneration paid to the Authority's senior employees between 1st April 2023 to 31st March


2024 was:
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Chief Fire Officer - Jonathan Dyson 148,857     -              148,857     42,871       191,728      


Deputy Chief Fire Officer 120,126     -              120,126     34,596       154,722      


268,983     -              268,983     77,467       346,450      


The Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner (PFCC) for North Yorkshire is Zoe Metcalfe. The post


holder's full remuneration is reflected in the PFCC Group Accounts. The costs incurred within these


accounts in 2023/24 (covering the period 1st April 2023 to 6th May 2024) amounts to £4,185.


The current Chief Finance Officer of the Authority is Michael Porter. This function is discharged by the


Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire via a collaboration agreement with the


Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland who reflect the post holder's remuneration in its


accounts.  The costs incurred within these accounts in 2023/24 (covering the period 1st April 2023 to


6th May 2024) amounts to £34,192.


2022/23 Comparative Figures
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(i) Acting Chief Fire Officer 27,405       887            -              28,292       7,893         36,185        


(ii) Chief Fire Officer/Acting 


Deputy Chief Fire Officer 129,363     -              129,363     41,523       170,886      


(iii) Deputy Chief Fire Officer 36,260       -              -              36,260       6,177         42,437        


193,028     887            -              193,915     55,593       249,508      
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(i) The Acting Chief Fire Officer retired from the Authority on 17th June 2022.


(ii) The Acting Deputy Chief Fire Officer became the Chief Fire Officer on 18th June 2022.


(iii) The current Deputy Chief Fire Officer was appointed on the 4th December 2022. Prior to this, the


post holder was seconded on an acting basis from West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue between 13th June


and 3rd December at a cost of £77,074.


The Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner (PFCC) for North Yorkshire is Zoe Metcalfe. The post


holder's full remuneration is reflected in the PFCC Group Accounts. The costs incurred within these


accounts in 2022/23 amounts to £3,785.


The current Chief Finance Officer of the Authority is Michael Porter. This function is discharged by the


Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire via a collaboration agreement with the


Police and Crime Commissioner for Cleveland who reflect the post holder's remuneration in its


accounts.  The costs incurred within these accounts in 2022/23 is £30,287.


(b) The following table sets out the number of employees whose total remuneration, excluding pension


contributions, was more than £50,000 for the 13 months ended 6th May 2024. For the purposes of


comparison to the previous financial year which covered a conventional 12 month period, the total


number of employees between 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 is also included. The table excludes


employees reported in (a) above.


13 month 


period ended Year ended Year ended 


6/5/2024 31/3/2024 31/3/2023


Band:


£50,000 - £54,999 71             33             24               


£55,000 - £59,999 29             19             13               


£60,000 - £64,999 24             11             5                


£65,000 - £69,999 8               6               3                


£70,000 - £74,999 10             4               6                


£75,000 - £79,999 1               4               4                


£80,000 - £84,999 4               4               -             


£85,000 - £89,999 6               2               1                


£90,000 - £94,999 1               2               1                


£95,000 - £99,999 3               1               -             


£100,000 - £104,999 1               -            -             


£105,000 - £109,999 1               -            -             


159            86             57               


Remuneration is all amounts receivable by an employee, including expenses and allowances 


chargeable to tax and the estimated money value of any other benefits received. The increase in


employee numbers within the first three bandings in the year ended 31st March 2024 is due to both the


impact of the 5% pay increase awarded to Firefighters' with effect from 1st July 2023 alongside payments


to staff providing vacancy cover and working within the operational staffing reserve. 


The further increase in numbers in the year ended 6th May, is due to the extended reporting period.


Number of employees
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23. Audit Fees 


The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to fees payable to auditors appointed 


under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 with regard to external audit services carried out 


under the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Audit General in accordance 


with s18 of the 2014 Act.


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Fees payable to Mazars appointed under the Local Audit and


Accountability Act 2014 with regard to external audit services 102 31


102 31


The table above represents fees agreed between the Authority and their external auditor. In 2023/24,


costs of £9,700 for additional work relating to the 2022/23 audit, not confirmed as at 31st March 2023


were incurred.


24. Grant Income


The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations (over £10,000) to the


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2023/24:


2023/24 2022/23


Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income £000 £000


Non Domestic Rates Top Up 3,556         2,987          


Revenue Support Grant 3,373         2,632          


Rural Services Delivery Grant 672            540             


PFI Grant (to match interest charge) 470            323             


Total Non ring-fenced government grants 8,070         6,482          


Capital Grants & Contributions 164            -             


8,234         6,482          


Credited to Services


New Dimension Grant 31             34               


Services Grant 253            424             


Protection Uplift Grant 315            291             


Building Risk Review 17             -             


Host Authority Infrastructure Grant 103            70               


Business Levy 52             -             


Fire Link Project 149            186             


Sec 31 NDR Grant 2,163         2,424          


Audit Fees 13             13               


PFI Grant 243            326             


Pension Mitigation Grant 1,842         1,711          


Pensions Administration Grant 10             42               


ESMCP Staff Costs 134            -             


5,324         5,521          


The Authority received no grants in year that had yet to be recognised as income at 6th May 2024.


25. Related Parties


The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties - bodies or 


individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or 


influenced by the Authority.  Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent 


to which the Authority might have been considered in its ability to operate independently or might 
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have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Authority.


The Authority has sound arrangements for internal control and corporate governance (including a 


scheme of delegations and purchase, contract and procurement regulations) which minimise the 


potential for a single officer to constrain the actions of the Authority, and which seek to ensure that 


the Group obtains value for money in all transactions.


Central Government


Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Authority - it is 


responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Authority operates, providing 


significant funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that 


the Authority has with other parties.  Grants received from Government are set out in Note 6 (b). 


Grant receipts outstanding as at 6 May 2024 are included in Debtors (Note 14).


Key Management


Key management are also classed as related parties. Key management are considered to be the 


Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and other Senior Officers (as defined in Note 22) and other


persons having the authority for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Authority, 


including the oversight of these activities.


The Police Fire and Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire (NYPFCC) had statutory responsibility


for the Fire and Rescue Authority during the reporting period, the Fire and Rescue Authority remaining a


separate corporation sole. During 2023/24, the Fire and Rescue Authority purchased services to the


value of £942,000 from NYPFCC, and provided services to the value of £509,000 to NYPFCC. Of these 


amounts, £923,000 were owed to, and £377,000 owed from, the NYPFCC at 6th May 2024.


No other related party transactions occurred in 2023/24.


26. Other Payments for Operating Activities


As required under the Code, Other Payments for Operating Activities within the Cashflow 


Statement of £21,174,906 (£20,475,515 in 2022/23) comprise Employers National Insurance and 


pension contributions and also payments to Pensioners of the Firefighters Pension Schemes.


27. Other Receipts from Financing activities


As required under the Code, where an Authority acts as an agency, transactions will not be


reflected in its financial statements, with the exception of cash collected or expenditure incurred by the


agency on behalf of the principal in which case the net cash position is included in financing activities


in the cash flow statement. Since 2020/21, the Authority has acted as 'host' for Home Office


grant to fund expenditure incurred on salaries of staff seconded by other Authorities to the Home


Office to work on findings of the Grenfell enquiry. The net cash (creditor) position under this


arrangement as at 6th May 2024 was £123,740. (£nil in 2022/23).
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28. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes


(a) Participation in Pension Schemes


As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions 


towards the cost of post employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable 


until employees retire, the Authority has a commitment to make the payments that need to be 


disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. The Authority participates in four 


pension schemes:


(i) Local Government Pension Scheme for Support staff is administered by North Yorkshire 


Pension Fund - this is a funded scheme, meaning that the Authority and employees pay 


contributions into a fund calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with 


investment assets.  The pension costs which are charged to the Authority's accounts equate to the


employer's contributions paid to the fund on behalf of eligible employees. Further costs arise in


respect of certain pensions paid to retired employees on an unfunded basis, and cash has to be


generated to meet these payments as they fall due.


(ii) Firefighters Pension Scheme - these are unfunded schemes, meaning that there are no assets 


built up to meet pension liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet actual pension payments 


as they eventually fall due. There are three schemes administered by the Authority - the Firefighters 


Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS), the New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS) and the 


Firefighters Pension Scheme 2015.


(b) Injury Allowances - Firefighters Compensation Scheme 2006


Injury awards and awards payable on the death of a firefighter attributable to a qualifying injury are 


not part of the Firefighters Pension Scheme because they are payable irrespective of whether an 


employee is a member of the scheme. New tax rules with effect from 1st April 2006 prevent injury 


awards from being part of the Pension Scheme Regulations and the opportunity was taken to


move the injury awards into a separate Firefighters Compensation Scheme 2006 with all injury 


awards previously covered by the FPS being paid from the  Authority's Income and Expenditure 


account, not its Pension Fund.


The principal risks to the Authority of the Schemes are the longevity assumptions, statutory 


changes to the schemes, structural changes to the schemes (i.e. large scale withdrawals from the 


schemes), changes to inflation, bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by 


the LGPS.  The impact of the assumptions, and how they interact, is detailed within this note.


These are mitigated to a certain extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund


the amounts as set out below.


Transactions relating to Retirement and Injury Benefits 


The Authority recognises the cost of retirement and injury benefits in the Net Cost of Services when


they are earned by employees rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.


However, the charge the Authority is required to make against council tax is based on the cash


payable in the year, so the real cost of benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement


in Reserves Statement (MIRS).  The transactions below have been made in the Comprehensive


Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the MIRS during the year:
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Total


Expenditure Statement 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24


Cost Of Services : £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Service Cost comprising:


Current Service Cost (784)          -            -            (2,300)       (90)            (3,174)        


Past Service (Cost)/Gain -            -            10             -            -            10               


Financing and Investment


Income and Expenditure :


Net Interest Expense 95             (13,230)     (1,050)       (930)          (690)          (15,805)      


Total Post Employment Benefits 


Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the


Provision of Services (689)          (13,230)     (1,040)       (3,230)       (780)          (18,969)      


Other Post Employment Benefits Charged to the


Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement


Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:


Return on plan assets (excluding


the amount included within net


interest expense) 1,216         -            -            -            -            1,216          


Experience gains/(losses) arising


on pension liabilities (370)          (3,260)       (330)          (1,100)       130            (4,930)        


Actuarial gains/(losses) arising on


changes in financial and demographic


assumptions 2,325         23,136       1,521         (2,547)       660            25,095        
-             


Changes in effect of the


asset ceiling (4,831)       -            -            -            -            (4,831)        


Total Post Employment


Benefits charged to the


CIES (1,660) 19,876 1,191 (3,647) 790 16,550


Movement in Reserves Statement


Reversal of net charges to the Surplus or Deficit for


the Provision of Services for post employment benefits


in accordance with IAS 19 689 13,230 1,040 3,230 780 18,969


Actual Amount charged to the General


Fund Balance for pensions in the year


Employers contributions and benefits


payable to Pensioners (565) (34) (39) (5,337) (950) (6,925)
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2022/23 Comparative Figures:


Comprehensive Income & L
o


c
a


l 


G
o


v
e


rn
m


e
n


t 


P
e


n
s
io


n
 


S
c
h


e
m


e


F
ir


e
fi
g


h
te


rs
 


1
9


9
2


 (
F


P
S


) 


P
e


n
s
io


n
 


S
c
h


e
m


e


F
ir


e
fi
g


h
te


rs
 


2
0


0
6


 (
N


F
P


S
) 


P
e


n
s
io


n
 


S
c
h


e
m


e


F
ir


e
fi
g


h
te


rs
 


2
0


1
5


 P
e


n
s
io


n
 


S
c
h


e
m


e


F
ir


e
fi
g


h
te


rs
 


C
o
m


p
e


n
s
a


ti
o


n
 


S
c
h


e
m


e


Total


Expenditure Statement 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23


Cost Of Services: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Service Cost comprising:


Current Service Cost (1,527) -            20 (7,430) (190) (9,127)


Past Service Cost -            (9,940) (1,170) 11,110 -            -             


Financing and Investment


Income and Expenditure:


Net Interest Expense (162) (8,720) (840) (1,290) (470) (11,482)


Total Post Employment Benefits 


Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the


Provision of Services (1,689) (18,660) (1,990) 2,390 (660) (20,609)


Other Post Employment Benefits 


Charged to the Comprehensive


Income and Expenditure Statement


Remeasurement of the net defined


benefit liability comprising:


Return on plan assets (excluding


the amount included within net


interest expense) (4,076) - - - - (4,076)


Experience gains/(losses) arising


on pension liabilities (2,419) (20,150) (1,240) (370) (870) (25,049)


Actuarial gains/(losses) arising on


changes in financial and demographic


assumptions 15,683 104,230 14,065 27,700 4,830 166,508


Total Post Employment Benefits 


Charged to the Comprehensive Income and


Expenditure Statement 9,188 84,080 12,825 27,330 3,960 137,383


Movement in Reserves Statement


Reversal of net charges to the Surplus or Deficit


for the Provision of Services for post employment benefits


in accordance with IAS 19 1,689 18,660 1,990 (2,390) 660 20,609


Actual Amount charged to the General


Fund Balance for pensions in the year


Employers contributions and benefits


payable to Pensioners (587) 0 25 (4,200) (790) (5,552)
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The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Authority's obligation to meet its defined 


benefit schemes is as follows:
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Total


2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Present Value of the


defined benefit obligation 31,981 256,680 20,340 18,420 13,080 340,501


Fair value of plan assets (31,981) - - - - (31,981)


Net liability arising from the


defined benefit obligation 0 256,680 20,340 18,420 13,080 308,520


2022/23 Comparative Figures:
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Total


2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Present Value of the


defined benefit obligation 27,757 263,360 20,530 16,880 14,040 342,567


Fair value of plan assets (29,541) - - - - (29,541)


Net liability arising from the defined


benefit obligation (1,784) 263,360 20,530 16,880 14,040 313,026


Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of the Scheme Assets
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Total


2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Opening Fair Value 29,541       -            -            -            -            29,541


Interest Income 1,512         -            -            -            -            1,512


Remeasurement loss - the return on plan


assets, excluding the amount included in


the interest expense 1,216         -            -            -            -            1,216


Other -            11,346       191            (5,507)       -            6,030


Employer contributions 565            34             39             5,337         950            6,925


Employee contributions 280            -            20             2,160         - 2,460


Benefits paid (1,133)       (11,380)     (250)          (1,990)       (950)          (15,703)


Closing Fair Value 31,981 0 0 0 0 31,981
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2022/23 Comparative Figures:
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Total


2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Opening Fair Value 32,816 -            -            -            -            32,816


Interest Income 885 885


Remeasurement loss - the return on plan 0


assets, excluding the amount included in 0


the interest expense (4,076) -            -            -            -            (4,076)


Other - 9,470 175 (3,340) -            6,305


Employer contributions 587 -            (25) 4,200 790 5,552


Employee contributions 227 -            -            1,860 -            2,087


Benefits paid (898) (9,470) (150) (2,720) (790) (14,028)


Closing Fair Value 29,541 0 0 0 0 29,541


Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities


Funded 


liabilities:
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Total


2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Opening Balance 1 April 27,757       263,360     20,530       16,880       14,040       342,567


Current Service Cost 784            -            -            2,300         90             3,174


Past Service Cost -            -            (10)            -            -            (10)


Interest Cost 1,417         13,230       1,050         930            690            17,317


Contributions by members 280            -            20             2,160         - 2,460


Re-measurement (gains)/losses:


Experience (gains)/losses


on pension liabilities 370            3,260         330            1,100         (130)          4,930


Actuarial (gains)/losses


arising on changes in financial and


demographic assumptions (2,325)       (11,790)     (1,330)       (2,960)       (660)          (19,065)


Changes in effect of asset


ceiling 4,831         -            -            -            -            4,831


Benefits paid (1,133)       (11,380)     (250)          (1,990)       (950)          (15,703)


Closing Balance 6 May 31,981 256,680 20,340 18,420 13,080 340,501


Unfunded liabilities:
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2022/23 Comparative Figures:


Funded 


liabilities:
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Total


2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23 2022/23


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Opening Balance 1 April 39,118 328,780 31,340 50,800 18,130 468,168


Current Service Cost 1,527 - (20) 7,430 190 9,127


Past Service Cost - 9,940 1,170 (11,110) - 0


Interest Cost 1,047 8,720 840 1,290 470 12,367


Contributions by members 227 - - 1,860 - 2,087


Re-measurement (gains)/losses:


Experience (gains)/losses


on pension liabilities 2,419 20,150 1,240 370 870 25,049


Actuarial (gains)/losses


arising on changes in financial and


demographic assumptions (15,683) (94,760) (13,890) (31,040) (4,830) (160,203)


Benefits paid (898) (9,470) (150) (2,720) (790) (14,028)


Closing Balance 31 March 27,757 263,360 20,530 16,880 14,040 342,567


Asset Ceiling Adjustment


Following the LGPS valuation by the Actuary as at 6th May 2024, this was determined that the fair value


of the LGPS scheme outweighed the present value of the plan obligations, resulting in a plan net asset


of £4,831,000.


IAS19 requires that, where a pensions asset exists, it is measured at the lower of:


a) the surplus in the defined benefit plan


b) the asset ceiling


The asset ceiling is the present value of the maximum economic benefit available to the Authority in the


form of refunds or reduced future employer contributions. The Actuary's calculation of the asset ceiling in


accordance with IFRIC14 for 2023/24 is £0. Hence, the net asset of the LGPS is restricted to the lower of 


£4,577,000 and £0.


Reconciliation of the LGPS funded status to the Balance Sheet:


2023/24 2022/23


£000 £000


Fair Value of Assets 31,981 29,541


Present value of funded defined benefit obligation (27,150) (27,757)


Funded status 4,831 1,784


Unrecognised asset (application of asset ceiling) (4,831) 0


Asset/Liability recognised on the Balance Sheet 0 1,784


Asset ceiling 0 6,341


Unfunded liabilities:
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Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:


The Firefighters' Pension and Compensation Scheme has no assets to cover its liabilities. Assets in


the Local Government Pension Scheme consist of the following categories:


Quoted Unquoted Quoted Unquoted


2023/24 2023/24 2022/23 2022/23


Asset Category £000 £000 £000 £000


Equities 15,319 -            15,391 -             


Property 1,791 -            1,891 -             


Government Bonds 3,966 -            3,250 -             


Corporate Bonds 2,335 -            2,127 -             


Mutli Asset Credit 1,663 -            0


Cash 1,375 -            1,979 -             


Other 1,823 3,710 * 2,156 2,747


28,271 3,710 26,794 2,747


* Other unquoted is the Fund’s investment in Private Debt and Insurance Linked Securities.


Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities


Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an 


estimate of the pensions that will be payable in the future years dependent on assumptions about 


mortality rates, salary levels etc. The Local Government Pension Scheme liability has been 


assessed by AON Limited, and the Firefighters Pensions and Compensation Schemes' liabilities 


have been assessed by the Government Actuary Department, both firms of Actuaries.


The estimates for the Local Government Pension Scheme are based upon the latest full valuation 


of the scheme as at 31st March 2022.  For the Firefighters Pension Schemes, the estimates are 


based upon a detailed valuation by the Actuary of the most recent data (as at 31st March 2020)


provided to them.


The significant assumptions advised by the Actuaries are:


Mortality Assumptions (years):


Member aged 65 for current pensioners: 2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23


Males 22.1 22.6 21.3 21.2


Females 24.6 25.0 21.3 21.2


Member aged 45 for future pensioners :


Males 23.0 23.5 22.9 22.9


Females 25.6 26.0 22.9 22.9


Rate of CPI inflation  % 2.70 2.70 2.65 2.60


Rate of increase in salaries % 3.95 3.95 3.90 3.85


Rate of increase in pensions % 2.70 2.70 2.65 2.60


Rate for discounting scheme liabilities % 5.10 4.70 5.10 4.65


The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in 


the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonable 


possible changes of the  assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes 


2006 (NFPS) & 2015


Local Government


Pension Scheme


Schemes


Firefighters 1992 (FPS),
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for each change that the assumption analysed remains constant. The assumptions in longevity, for 


example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, 


this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in 


the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme i.e. on an actuarial


basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and type of assumptions used in


preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change from those used in the previous period.


Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation:


£m £m


increase decrease


Longevity (increase or decrease in one year) 0.7 (0.7)


Rate of inflation (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 0.4 (0.7)


Rate of increase in salaries (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 0.0 (0.0)


Rate of increase in pensions (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 0.4 (0.7)


Rate of discounting scheme liabilities (increase or decrease by 0.1%) (0.4) 0.4 


Impact on Defined Benefit Obligation:


increase decrease


£m £m


Longevity (increase or decrease in one year) (9.0) 9.0 


Rate of inflation (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 3.6 (3.6)


Rate of increase in salaries (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 0.4 (0.4)


Rate of increase in pensions (increase or decrease by 0.1%) 3.6 (3.6)


Rate of discounting scheme liabilities (increase or decrease by 0.1%) (3.4) 3.4 


Asset and Liability Matching (ALM Strategy)


Local Government Pension Scheme


The pension committee of North Yorkshire Council has determined the investment strategy aimed at 


growing North Yorkshire Pension Fund's assets to meet obligations when they fall due. As required by the


regulations, the suitability of various classes of investments have been considered including the benefit of


asset class diversification. The fund is primarily invested in equities (50% of scheme assets) and fixed


income (20%) with investments also in property and alternatives, the proportions being not materially


dissimilar to last year.  This strategy is reviewed periodically, dependent on changes to market conditions


and the solvency of the fund.


Impact on the Authority's Cash Flows


Local Government Pension Scheme


The objectives of the schemes are to keep employers' contributions at as constant a rate as 


possible.  The Council has agreed a strategy with the Scheme's actuary to achieve a funding level of


100% over 19 years. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The next triennial valuation is due


to be completed on 31st March 2025.


The  Authority anticipates to pay £689,000 contributions into the Local Government Pension Scheme


in the year to 31st March 2025. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for


scheme members is 16.6 years in 2023/24. (17.0 years 2022/23)


Local Government


Pension Scheme


2006 (NFPS) & 2015


Firefighters 1992 (FPS),


Schemes
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Firefighters Pension Schemes


The Firefighters' Pension Schemes have no assets to cover their liabilities. Finance is only required


to be raised to cover Firefighters' pensions when the pensions are actually due to be paid. Regular


monitoring of movements relating to retirements is carried out in order to accurately forecast when


retirements will occur.


The Authority anticipates to pay £6,307,000 contributions into the Firefighters Pension and Compensation


Schemes in the year to 31st March 2025.


The Authority's pension liability as at 6th May 2024 calculated by its Actuaries, in accordance with IAS19,


of £308,520,000 which shows the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long term to pay


retirement benefits. The liability has a substantial impact on the net worth of the Authority reported in the


Balance Sheet. The impact results in a negative net worth of £273,910,000. However, statutory 


arrangements in place for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the Authority remains


healthy because;


(i) finance is only required to be raised to cover Firefighters' pensions when the pensions are actually due to


be paid.  Regular monitoring of movements relating to retirements is carried out in order to accurately


forecast when retirements and payments will occur.


(ii) the deficit on the LGPS  will be made good by increased contributions over the remaining working life of


employees, as assessed by the Scheme Actuary.


29. Financial Instruments


(a) The Authority has adopted CIPFA's Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice 


and has a set of treasury management indicators to control key financial instrument risks in 


accordance with CIPFA's Prudential Code.


Categories of Financial Instruments


The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:


Financial Assets


Cash & Cash


Investments Debtors Equivalents Debtors Total


6th May 6th May 6th May 6th May 6th May


2024 2024 2024 2024 2024


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Amortised Cost -            -            3,591         2,322         5,912          


Non Financial Assets -            -            -            -            -             


Total -            -            3,591         2,322         5,912          


Financial Liabilities


Borrowings Creditors Borrowings Creditors Total


6th May 6th May 6th May 6th May 6th May


2024 2024 2024 2024 2024


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Amortised Cost 16,589       -            884            1,842         19,315        


Non Financial Liabilities:


  PFI -            697            -            299            996             


  Finance Leases -            -            -            79             79               


Total 16,589       697            884            2,221         20,391        


CurrentNon Current


Non Current Current
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2022/23 Comparative Figures:


Cash & Cash


Investments Debtors Equivalents Debtors Total


31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar


2023 2023 2023 2023 2023


Financial Assets £000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Amortised Cost -            -            7,207         1,242         8,449          


Non Financial Assets -            -            -            -            -             


Total -            -            7,207         1,242         8,449          


Financial Liabilities


Borrowings Creditors Borrowings Creditors Total


31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar 31st Mar


2023 2023 2023 2023 2023


£000 £000 £000 £000 £000


Amortised Cost 14,341       -            1,667         1,730         17,739        


Non Financial Liabilities:


  PFI -            1,029         -            275            1,304          


  Finance Liabilities -            88             -            86             174             


Total 14,341 1,117 1,667 2,091 19,217


(b) Income, Expense, Gains and Losses


The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 


relation to financial instruments are made up as follows:


S
u


rp
lu


s
 o


r 


D
e
fi
c
it
 o


n
 


P
ro


v
is


io
n


 o
f 


S
e


rv
ic


e
s


O
th


e
r 


C
o
m


p
re


h
e


n
s
iv


e
 


In
c
o


m
e


 &
 


E
x
p


e
n


d
it
u


re


S
u


rp
lu


s
 o


r 


D
e
fi
c
it
 o


n
 


P
ro


v
is


io
n


 o
f 


S
e


rv
ic


e
s


O
th


e
r 


C
o
m


p
re


h
e


n
s
iv


e
 


In
c
o


m
e


 &
 


E
x
p


e
n


d
it
u


re


£000 £000 £000 £000


2023/24 2023/24 2022/23 2022/23


Net gains/losses on:


  Financial Assets measured at amortised cost 12             -            6               -             


Interest revenue


  Financial Assets measured at amortised cost (343)          -            (107)          -             


Interest Expense 1,167         -            842            -             


The Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities that are not measured at Fair


Value (but for which Fair Value Disclosures are Required)


All financial liabilities and financial assets held by the Authority are classified as loans and 


receivables and long term debtors and creditors and are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised 


cost.  The fair values calculated are as follows:


Carrying Fair Carrying Fair


Amount Value Amount Value


Financial Assets £000 £000 £000 £000


Loans and Receivables 3,591 3,591 7,207 7,207


Debtors 2,322 2,322 1,242 1,242


5,912 5,912 8,449 8,449


Short term Loans and Receivables and Debtors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation 


of their value.


Current


6th May 2024 31st March 2023


Non Current


Non Current


Current


69







Carrying Fair Carrying Fair


Amount Value Amount Value


Financial Liabilities £000 £000 £000 £000


Financial Liabilities held at amortised cost


Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Loans 17,473 16,539 16,006 15,688


Other liabilities:


PFI 996 1,541 1,304 1,929


Finance Leases 79 79 176 176


Creditors 1,842 1,842 1,730 1,730


20,391 20,002 19,216 19,524


PWLB Loans:


The Authority assessed  the fair value of PWLB loans by calculating the present value of the cash


flows that will take place over the remaining life of the loans applying the following rates:


(a) For the fair value measured according to the requirements of the Code - new borrowing available from


the PWLB, rates as at the balance sheet date of 6th May 2024; and


(b) for the value reflecting the amount that the Authority would have to pay to repay the loans as at 6th


May 2024 - PWLB premature repayment rates as at 6th May 2024.


(c) The fair value, as calculated in accordance with the Code, of £16,539,000 measures the economic


effect of the past terms agreed with the PWLB compared with new borrowing rates from the PWLB


as at 7th May. This is because the Authority has the ability to borrow at concessionary rates from


the PWLB rather than from the markets and therefore this provides a more useful figure for users of


the Authority's financial statements as opposed to a value using prevailing market rates. The fair value


of the liabilities is lower than the carrying amount because the Authority's portfolio of loans includes


a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is lower than PWLB rates as at


6th May 2024. This shows a notional future gain (based upon economic conditions as at the date)


arising from a commitment to pay interest to the PWLB below its current rates.


(d) However, it is important for users of the accounts to recognise that if the Authority were to seek to 


receive the projected gain by repaying the loans early, the PWLB would charge a premium to reflect 


the additional interest that would not then be paid. The amount the Authority would have to pay to 


repay the loans early using premature repayment rates as at 6th May 2024 is £23,403,000 being


the outstanding debt including accrued interest plus a premium of £5,904,000. The fact that this


repayment amount is higher than both the carrying amount and also the fair value of the liability


demonstrates why the Authority has undertaken no debt repayment or rescheduling exercise to date.


PFI Liabilities


The difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the PFI liability is due to the differing 


required accounting treatments of the corresponding asset and liability in the accounts of the PFI 


Provider and of the Authority.


The fair value of PFI Liability represents the costs arising on the construction of the assets 


including initial tender costs. During asset construction, interest on income to be received is 


capitalised within the finance debtor receivable. Once the assets were accepted by the Authority, a 


constant proportion of the planned net revenue (the unitary charge paid by the Authority) is 


allocated to fully repay the debtor over the life of the contract.


The carrying value in the Balance Sheet of the Authority as at 6th May 2024 is reported in 


accordance with IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12 Service Concession Arrangements as 


6th May 2024 31st March 2023


70







required by the Code.  The allocation of the unitary charge is split into four elements as stated in 


accounting policy 1(q).  The recognition of the liability for the amount due to the PFI Provider to pay 


for the capital investment uses the same principles as for a finance lease in accordance with


International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17 Leases.


Other Non Financial Liabilities


Finance Leases are exempt from the  IFRS13 Fair Value measurement requirements. The carrying


amount calculated in accordance with the requirements of IAS17 Leases is taken to be a 


reasonable approximation of fair value. Short Term Creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair


approximation of their value.
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


£000 £000 £000 £000


Financial Assets


Loans and Receivables -              3,591         -              3,591          


Debtors 2,322         -              -              2,322          


2,322 3,591 0 5,912 


Financial Liabilities


Financial Liabilities held at amortised cost


PWLB Loans -              16,539       -              16,539        


PFI Liabilities -              1,541         -              1,541          


Creditors 1,842         -              -              1,842          


1,842 18,080 0 19,922 


Transfers between Levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy


There were no transfers between levels of the hierarchy during the year.


Valuation Techniques used to Determine Level 2 Fair Values for the liabilities and assets 


in the table above:


Loans and Receivables


Fair value has been measured from the perspective of a market participant that holds the identical 


item as a liability. The fair value represents the value of the corresponding liability in the North 


Yorkshire Council's Balance Sheet as at 6th May 2024 who make short term investments of the


Authority's daily cash balances under a Service Level Agreement.


PWLB Loans:


The Authority assessed the fair value amounts disclosed in the table above by calculating the 


present value of the cash flows that will take place over the remaining life of the loans applying new


borrowing rates available from the PWLB as at 6th May 2024.


PFI Liabilities


Fair value has been measured from the perspective of a market participant that holds the identical 


item as an asset. The fair value represents the value of the corresponding asset in the PFI 


Contractor's Balance Sheet as at 6th May 2024.
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Changes in Liabilities arising from Financing Activities


To enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 


changes arising from both cash flows and non-cash changes, below is a reconciliation of the


opening and closing balances in the Balance Sheet:


Balance at Non Balance at


1 Apr 2023 Cashflows Cashflows 6 May 2024


Financial liability: £000 £000 £000 £000


Short and long term borrowing 16,008 1,284 180 17,472


Finance Lease Obligations 175 (86) (9) 80


PFI Obligations 1,304 (275) (33) 996


17,486 923 138 18,548


30. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments


The Authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:


(a) Credit Risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority.


(b) Liquidity Risk - the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its 


commitments to make payments.


(c) Market Risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of changes 


in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. The Authority's overall financial risk


management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise


potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. The procedures are set out through


a legal framework in the Local Government Act 2003 and the associated regulations. These require the


Authority to comply with CIPFA's Prudential Code and Treasury Management in the Public Services Code


of Practice  (both revised in 2021). Overall, these procedures require the Authority to manage risks in the


following ways:


- adopt the requirements of the Code of Practice


- approve annually in advance, prudential indicator limits for the following three years regarding:


   -  Affordability of the Authority's capital investment plans including its borrowing limits;


   - Treasury Management, for example, the maturity structure of borrowing; and


   -  maximum annual exposures to investments maturing beyond a year.


- approve an investment strategy for the forthcoming year setting out the criteria for both investing and


selecting investment counterparties in compliance with Government guidance.


The Annual Treasury Management Strategy includes these procedures in order to manage the 


risks of the Authority's financial instrument exposure. It is approved by those charged with governance


before the beginning of the financial year. In addition, it is a primary requirement that, as a minimum,


a mid year review and a performance outturn report on the Authority's investment and borrowing activity


is produced.


(a) Credit Risk


Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the


Authority's customers. Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they meet the


minimum requirements of the investment criteria outlined in the Treasury Management Strategy


for 2023/24.
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North Yorkshire Council provide Treasury Management arrangements for short term investment of the


Authority's daily balances. The investment credit criteria applied by the Authority is in line with the 


Council's who prepare an approved lending list of Counterparties. Given the high level of turmoil the


financial markets have experienced since 2008, attention is focused on the credit standing of


counterparties with whom the Council can invest funds.


The Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the


following means: 


(a) minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties.


This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to


monitor counterparties are the short term and long-term ratings.


(b) Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important


to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation


to the economic and political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also


take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration, the


Council will engage with its advisors to monitor market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and


overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.


(c) other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such information


pertaining to the financial sector to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of


potential investment counterparties.


All credit ratings are monitored daily.  If a downgrade results in a counterparty no longer meeting the


Council's minimum criteria, further use as a new investment is withdrawn immediately. Extreme market


movements may result in the downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council's lending list.


The above is seen as a practical response to the current money market instability and volatility 


which enables the Authority to manage its money market risk exposure whilst also ensuring that it 


can still achieve a return that is consistent with available market rates.


Amounts arising from Expected Credit Losses


The Authority recognises expected credit losses on its financial assets held at amortised cost on a 


lifetime basis applying the simplified approach which measures the loss allowance at an 


amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. 


Loans and Receivables:


Cash invested with NYC on the 6th May has been classified within the Balance Sheet as cash and


cash equivalents due to it being recallable on demand i.e. very short term in nature. Due to the default


risk of the investment being extremely low, nil impairment under IFRS 9 is deemed appropraite.


Debtors:


The Authority does not generally allow credit for Customers. Information disclosed by Company


Liquidators is circulated within the Authority by the Finance Team to ensure that such companies are


not granted a chargeable service. The Authority had the following exposure to credit risk at 6th May 2024


based upon experience of default and uncollectability over the last three years adjusted to reflect current


and forecast market conditions (i.e. the simplified approach):


Carrying Historical Expected


Value at 6th experience Credit Credit Loss


May 2024 of default Losses Allowance


£000 % % £000


Deposits with banks and financial institutions 3,591 0.00% 0.00% 0


Customers 2,322 0.01% 0.51% 12
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(b) Liquidity Risk


The Authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets to cover day to day cash 


flow needs whilst the PWLB provides access to longer term funds. There is, therefore, no 


significant risk that it will be unable to meet commitments under financial instruments. The 


approved prudential indicator 'Limits for the Maturity Structure of Debt' is the key parameter used 


by the Authority to address liquidity risk and is used in planning when new loans are to be taken 


and when it is economic to do so, making early loan repayments.


The limits in 2023/24 on the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a 


percentage of total projected borrowing is:


%


Less than 1 year 10


Between 1-2 years 10


Between 2-5 years 30


Between 5-10 years 50


Between 10-20 years 100


More than 20 years 100


All long term borrowing as at the 6th May 2024 was with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). 


Interest is payable at fixed rates between 2.68% and 4.83%.


Analysis of loans by maturity:


6th May Maturity 31st March Maturity 


2024 Profile 2023 Profile


£000 % £000 %


Less than 1 year 703 4.1% 1,537 9.7%


Between 1-2 years 409 2.4% 752 4.7%


Between 2-5 years 1,725 10.0% 1,495 9.4%


Between 5-10 years 7,020 40.6% 7,159 45.1%


Between 10-15 years 5,935 34.3% 4,935 31.1%


Between 15-20 years 1,500 8.7% 0 0.0%


17,292 100.0% 15,878 100.0%


Borrowing due within 1 year is disclosed in the Balance Sheet as a current asset including interest


due on borrowing within one year:


£000


Borrowing due within 1 year 703


Interest on borrowing due within 1 year 180


884


All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year.


(c) Market Risk


(i) Market Risk - Interest Rate risk


The Authority is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its 


borrowings and investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Authority.  


For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects:


    -   Borrowings at fixed rates - the fair value of the liabilities for borrowings will fall.


    -   Investments at variable rates - the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the 


        Provision of Services will rise.
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Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would


not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income


and Expenditure. However, changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings


and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and affect the


General Fund balance pound for pound.


The Authority has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk. The main strategy for 


undertaking new borrowing is to take advantage of the lowest rates possible whilst also focusing on


borrowing over periods where there is currently no concentration of debt so as to achieve a balanced


spread in the Authority's debt maturity profile. The Authority's debt position is reviewed as part of the


Medium Term Financial Plan via the annual budget setting process which allows for any adverse


changes to be considered and accommodated.  This review also considers whether internal


borrowing using cash balances be used as an alternative to new external borrowing. The use of


internal borrowing which runs down investments, maximises short term savings and reduces


exposure of low interest rates on investments, and the credit risk of counterparties.


If interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, the financial effect would be:


£000 £000


+1% -1%


Change in interest receivable on variable rate investments (impact on


Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services) 67.0 67.0


(ii) Market Risk - Price risk


The Authority does not invest in equity shares and thus has no exposure to losses arising in


movements in the price of shares.


(iii) Market Risk - Foreign exchange risk


The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and thus has 


no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates.


(iv) PFI Contract - Management of Risks


The PFI Contract allocates the majority of risks to the service provider. There are no significant 


risks to the Authority arising from the contract. However, the affordability of the contract relies on 


annual grant of £649,000 from Central Government. Any reduction in that provision would  impact 


adversely upon the Authority's financial position.


31. Contingent Liabilities


Defined Benefit Pension Schemes:


The McCloud/Sargeant Judgement


In December 2018 the Government lost a Court of Appeal case (the McCloud/Sargeant Judgement)


which found that the transitional protection arrangements put in place when the Firefighters' and


Judges' pension schemes were reformed amounted to illegal age discrimination. The Government


acknowledged that the difference in treatment would need to be remedied across all public service


pension schemes.


The McCloud remedy period ran from 1st April 2015 to 31st March 2022. Eligible members were


able to elect which scheme they wish to receive benefits from for this period. Due to the differing


benefits structures, the Actuary expects the majority of eligible Firefighters to elect to take legacy


scheme (1992 Scheme or 2006 Scheme) benefits for the remedy period.
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An allowance for McCloud remedy was first included in the 2018/19 disclosures as a past service


cost for service from 2015 to 2019. For subsequent years to 2021/22, this past service cost was


attributed proportionately to the 1992 and 2006 schemes. For subsequent years to 2021/22, an allowance


was made in the 2015 service costs for the annual accrual of additional remedy service.


Now that the remedy window is closed, the Actuary has moved all McCloud related liabilities for eligible


members for the period 2019 to 2022 to the associated legacy schemes. This means that all McCloud


liabilities are held within the legacy scheme that the Actuary expects them to be paid from. In the 


2022/23 disclosures, this led to a past service cost in the 1992 scheme and the 2006 scheme and a 


past service gain in the 2015 scheme (as set out in Note 27 above).


Legal advice is awaited as to whether any further costs to be borne by the Authority will arise in


relation to application of the remedy.  Until further guidance is provided, no estimation of the potential


impact can be made.


Special Retained Members (Matthews)


In November 2018 a ruling on the legal case involving part-time judges (O'Brien v MoJ) had a direct


impact on the equivalent case for Retained Firefighters (Matthews).  Home Office Ministers have


agreed to extend the pension entitlement for retained firefighters to cover service pre-July 2000. A


Memorandum of Understanding signed in March 2022 set out the intended scope and operation of the


options exercise required to enact remedy in this case.


The options exercise will increase the pensions entitlement for some current special retained


members and also allow access to the scheme for additional historic retained members. Although the


options exercise is underway, there is very significant data uncertainty in the calculation of this liability


and significant assumptions have had to be made on eligible member numbers, service periods and


actual take up. Based on the data available and an assumed uptake rate of 60%, the Actuary estimates


a potential increase in liability from the second Matthew's exercise to be £26m. Along with the unique


assumptions required for the options exercise, this additional liability estimated above has been 


calculated using demographic and financial assumptions consistent with the disclosures set out in Note


28 above.


32. Material Items of Income and Expenditure within the Accounts


As explained in Note 7, the Authority carries out a rolling asset revaluation programme that ensures all


land and property required to be measured at fair value is revalued at least every five years. Where


the Valuer determines that the net book value within the accounts of any asset has changed, the


impact is accounted for as a revaluation gain or loss. The result of the 2023/24 rolling programme


was a net revaluation gain of £2,518,000. This is above the Authority's materiality limit and requires


separate disclosure within a note to the accounts.


The financial impact is a credit to the cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure


Statement (CIES), and to the Revaluation Reserve for the increase in valuation. The credit to the CIES is


not one against council tax nor the Authority's General Fund, rather an accounting adjustment through


unusable reserves as set out in Note 21 (b).
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2022/23 2023/24


   £000    £000 £000


CONTRIBUTIONS AND BENEFITS


Contributions receivable


Fire Authority:


(4,210) Contributions in relation to pensionable pay (4,988)          


- Early Retirements (234)             


(1,845) Firefighters contributions (2,236)          


(33) Other Firefighters contributions (24)               


(6,089) (7,482)


Transfers in


(7) Individual transfers in from other schemes (189)


Benefits payable


9,851 Pensions 11,934         


2,100 Commutations & lump sum retirement benefits 1,585           


- Lump sum death benefits -               


11,951 13,519


Payments to and an account of leavers


198              Individual transfers out to other schemes -               


Other payments


132 Scheme tax charges 79


Deficit / (Surplus) for the year before top up grant


6,185 receivable from/payable to Central Government 5,927


(6,185) Top up grant receivable from Government (5,927)


- Net amount payable / (receivable) for the year -


FIREFIGHTERS PENSION FUND


ACCOUNT FOR YEAR ENDED 6th MAY 2024
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2022/23 2023/24


   £000 Note    £000 £000


Current Assets 5a


319 Contributions due from Authority 95


133 Contributions due from Firefighters 30


2,115 Pension top up grant receivable from Government 1,594


2,567 1,719


Current Liabilities 5b


- Unpaid pension benefits -


- Unpaid Scheme tax charges -


(2,567) General Fund (1,719)


(2,567) (1,719)


- Total Net Assets -                


NET ASSETS STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 6th MAY 2024


FIREFIGHTERS PENSION FUND


78







1. General Description of the Fund


There are three Pension Schemes currently administered by the Authority:


(a) Firefighters Pension Scheme 1992 (FPS) operated under the Firefighters Pension


Scheme (Amendment) (No. 2) (England) Order 2006


(b) New Firefighters Pension Scheme 2006 (NFPS) operated under the Firefighters' Pension


Scheme (England) Order 2006


(c) The Firefighters Pension Scheme 2015 as set out in the Firefighters' Pension Scheme


(England) Regulations 2014 (SI 2014/2848)


All three Schemes are unfunded meaning that there are no investment assets built up to


meet the pensions liabilities, and cash has to be generated to meet actual payments as


they fall due.


Entrants to the Service since 1st April 2015 are eligible to join the 2015 Scheme, a career


average scheme with a normal retirement age of 60. Other members have either


transitioned to the 2015 Scheme, or in the case of firefighters who were within 10 years of


retirement on 1st April 2012, remained in either the 1992 (FPS) or the 2006 (NFPS), both


of which are final salary schemes.


The Authority pays firefighters' pensions via a separate Firefighters Pension Fund


Account. An employer's contribution based on a percentage of pay is paid into the


fund. The Authority is also required to make lump sum payments in respect of ill health


retirements to meet locally, at least, some of the cost of retiring an employee on the 


grounds of ill health. Employee contributions are also paid into the fund. The fund is


topped up as necessary by Government Grant if the contributions are insufficient to meet


the pension payments due. In the event of a surplus, this will be recouped by the


Government.


Each Fire and Rescue Authority in England is required by legislation to operate a Pension


Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the fund are specified by


regulations under statute. The fund is administered and managed for the Authority by


West Yorkshire Pension Fund via a service level agreement for Pensions Administration.


The contributions payable by Employees and Employers prescribed by the regulations


above are:


06/05/2024 31/03/2023 06/05/2024 31/03/2023


Scheme


1992 (FPS) - - - -


2006 (NFPS) - - - -


2015 Scheme 37.6% 28.8% 11.0%-14.5% 11.0%-14.5%


* Employee rates vary which are dependent upon pensionable pay bandings. From


1st April 2022 all active members were in the 2015 Scheme.


NOTES TO THE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 


Employer Employee *
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2. Membership


The following summarises the membership of the Pension Fund at 6th May 2024:


Deferred


Scheme Contributors Pensioners Pensioners


1992 (FPS) 0 513 34


2006 (NFPS) 0 91 167


2015 Scheme 632 61 308


Deferred


Scheme Contributors Pensioners Pensioners


1992 (FPS) 0 541 27


2006 (NFPS) 0 87 171


2015 Scheme 649 28 294


3. Accounting Policies


The Pension Fund Accounts for the year ended 6 May 2024 are presented in the


format laid down in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United


Kingdom 2023/24 issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy,


known as 'the Code'.


4. Basis of Preparation


Except where otherwise stated below, the accounts have been prepared on an accruals


basis.


5. Fund Account Transactions


Benefits payable and withdrawal of contributions have been brought into the Accounts on


the basis of all valid payments due in the year. Transfer values are those sums receivable


from, or payable to, other pension schemes for individuals and relate to periods of


previous pensionable employment. Where possible, transfer values within the financial


year are brought into the accounts at the net assets statement date. In a small number of


cases it is not possible to obtain sufficient information from other pension schemes and


these transfers are accounted for on a cash basis.


(a) Current Assets


Debtors are raised for known contributions due to the Pension Fund at 6th May 2024:


6th May 31st March


2024 2023


£000 £000


Central Government Bodies 1,594 2,115


Other entities and individuals 125 452


Total 1,719 2,567


06/05/2024


31/03/2023
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(b) Current Liabilities


Creditors are raised for known contributions owing by the Pension Fund at 6th May


2024:


6th May 31st March


2024 2023


£000 £000


Central Government Bodies - -


Other entities and individuals (1,719) (2,567)


Total (1,719) (2,567)


No allowance has been made for liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the


6th May 2024.


6. Long Term Pension Obligations


Details of the Authority's long term pension obligations in respects of the Firefighters


Pension Schemes can be found in Note 28 to the financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING PERIOD 


The period of time covered by the accounts, normally a period of twelve months commencing on


1st April and ending as at the balance sheet date, 31st March. 


ACCRUALS 


The concept that income and expenditure is accounted for as it is earned or incurred, not as


money is received or paid. 


AMORTISATION


Written off over a suitable period of time, usually in line with the useful life of an asset.


ASSET 


An item owned by the Authority, which has a monetary value. Assets are defined as current or


non current :


  -  Current assets will be consumed or cease to have value within the next financial year,


     e.g. inventories and debtors 


  -  Non current assets provide benefits to the Authority and to services it provides for a


     period of more than one year, for example, land, buildings, vehicles and equipment. 


AUDIT 


An independent examination of the Authority’s activities, either by internal audit or the Authority's


external auditors.


BALANCE SHEET 


A statement of the recorded assets, liabilities and other balances at the end of an accounting


period.


CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 


Expenditure on the acquisition of a non current asset, which will be used in providing services


beyond the current accounting period or, expenditure which adds to an existing non current asset.


CAPITAL FINANCING 


The raising of money to pay for capital expenditure. There are various methods of financing


capital expenditure including borrowing, leasing, direct revenue financing, usable capital receipts,


capital grants, capital contribution, revenue reserves and earmarked reserves.


CAPITAL RECEIPTS 


The proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets. Proportions of capital receipts can be


used to finance new capital expenditure, within rules set down by the Government, but they cannot


be used for general revenue purposes. 


CIPFA


The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. This is the professional institute that


develops and promotes proper accounting practice for Local Government in England and Wales.


GLOSSARY OF TERMS
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CONSISTENCY 


The concept that the accounting treatment of like items is the same from one accounting period


to the next.


CONTINGENT LIABILITY


A contingent liability is either:


- a possible obligation arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the


  occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the Authority's control, or


- a present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that a transfer of economic


  benefits will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient


  reliability.


CONSUMER PRICE INDEX (CPI)


CPI is the official measure of inflation of consumer prices of the United Kingdom. It is a statistical


estimate constructed using the prices of a sample of consumer goods, purchased by households


whose prices are collected periodically


COUNCIL TAX 


This is a banded property tax which is levied on domestic properties. The banding is based on


estimated property values as at 1st April 1991.


CREDITOR 


Amounts owed by the Authority for works done, goods received or services rendered before the


end of the accounting period but for which payments have not been made by the end of that


accounting period.


DEBTOR 


Amounts due to the Authority for works done, goods received or services rendered before the end


of the accounting period but for which payments have not been received by the end of that period.


DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION


Future pension liabilities payable by the Authority that have been promised under the formal terms


of the defined benefit pension schemes provided to employees.


DEPRECIATION 


The amount charged to revenue accounts to represent the reducing value of non current assets


through consumption.


DEPRECIATED REPLACEMENT COST


A method of valuation based on the gross cost of replacing the asset/building less an allowance for


depreciation.


EXISTING USE VALUE


A method of valuation based on the amount that would be paid for an asset/building based on its


existing use.
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FAIR VALUE


The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arms length transaction


less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the asset.


GOVERNMENT GRANTS 


Grants made by the Government towards either revenue or capital expenditure to support the cost


of the provision of the Authority’s services. These grants may be given specifically towards the


cost of particular defined schemes, or to support the revenue spend of the Authority (known as


Revenue Support Grant).


GROSS CARRYING AMOUNT (GCA)


The cost of a non current asset before the deduction of accumulated depreciation and/or


impairment.


IMPAIRMENT 


A reduction in the value of a non current asset, below it's carrying amount on the balance sheet.


INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD (IFRS)


Standards for the presentation and preparation of financial statements set by the International


Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that organisations must follow.  These standards were


previously called International Accounting Standards (IAS).


IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (IFRIC)


The Interpretations Committee are responsible for the maintenance of IFRS. Its objective is to


interpret the application of IFRS and provide guidance on financial reporting issues that are not


specifically addressed, or where concerns are expressed about poorly specified disclosure


requirements.


INVENTORIES


The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use. When use will not


arise until a later accounting period, it is appropriate to carry forward the amount to be matched to


the use or consumption when it arises.


LIABILITY 


A liability is where an authority owes payment to an individual or another organisation: 


  -  A current liability is an amount which will become payable or could be called in within the next


     accounting period, e.g. creditors or cash overdrawn. 


  -  A deferred liability is an amount which, by arrangement is payable beyond the next year at some


     point in the future, or to be paid off by an annual sum over a period of time. 


LONG TERM BORROWING


The main element of long term borrowing is comprised of loans that have been raised to finance


capital investment projects.


MARKET VALUE


The monetary value of an asset as determined by current market conditions.
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MATERIALITY 


The concept that the Statement of Accounts should include all amounts which, if omitted, or


mis-stated, could be expected to lead to distortion of the financial statements to a reader of the


statements.


MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) 


Represents the statutory minimum amount that must be charged to a revenue account in each


financial year to repay external borrowings. 


NET BOOK VALUE 


The amount at which non current assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their  historical


cost or current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 


NET REALISABLE VALUE 


The open market value of the asset in its existing use, less the expenses to be incurred in realising


the asset. 


NON DOMESTIC RATES


National non domestic rates (also known as Business Rates) are a tax on properties which are not


used for domestic purposes such as shops, factories, offices and fire stations. Business rates


collected by Local Authorities are the way that those who occupy non-domestic properties


contribute to the cost of local services.


OPERATIONAL ASSETS 


Non current assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the Authority in the direct delivery of


those services for which it has a statutory or discretionary responsibility. 


PEPPERCORN RENT


A very low or nominal rent payable for the use of an asset.


PRECEPT 


The order made by Precepting Authorities on Billing Authorities, requiring the latter to collect


income from council taxpayers on their behalf.


PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE (PFI)


A means of securing new assets and associated services in partnership with the private sector.


PROVISION 


An amount put aside in the accounts for liabilities or losses which have occurred but uncertainty


surrounds the exact amounts involved or the dates on which they will arise. 


PRUDENCE 


The concept that revenue is not anticipated but is recognised only when realised in the form of


either cash or other assets, the ultimate cash realisation of which can be assessed with


reasonable certainty.
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PUBLIC WORKS LOAN BOARD (PWLB) 


This is a Central Government Agency which provides loans for one year and above to Authorities


at interest rates only slightly higher than those at which the Government itself can borrow.


RELATED PARTIES 


Two or more parties are related, when at any one time during the financial period: 


  -  one party has direct or indirect control of the other party; or 


  -  the parties are subject to common control from the same source; or 


  -  one party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other party to


     an extent that the other party might be inhibited from pursuing at all times its own


     separate interests; or


  -  the parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same source to


     such an extent that one of the parties to the transaction has subordinated its own


     separate interests. 


RESERVES 


The accumulation of surpluses, deficits and appropriations over past years. Reserves of a revenue


nature are available and can be spent or earmarked at the discretion of the Authority. Some


capital reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non current assets and


retirement benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority.


RETAIL PRICE INDEX (RPI)


RPI is a measure of inflation published monthly by the Office for National Statistics. It measures


the change in the cost of a representative sample of retail goods and services.


REVENUE EXPENDITURE 


The day-to-day expenses of providing services. It is usually of a constantly recurring nature and


produces no permanent asset, e.g. salaries, wages, supplies and services, and debt charges.


REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT 


This is a Central Government grant to authorities, contributing towards the cost of their services.


It is based on the Government’s assessment of how much an authority needs to spend to provide


a standard level of service. 


SHORT TERM INVESTMENT


Short term investments are deposits of temporary surplus funds with banks or similar institutions.


USEFUL LIFE 


The period over which the Authority will derive benefits from the use of a non current asset. 
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Annual Governance Statement 


 
Position as at 6th May 2024 including plans for the year to 31st March 2025. 
 
During 2018/19 North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority (NYFRA) was abolished and replaced by the North 
Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire and Rescue Authority (PFCC FRA).  
 
The functions of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) in North Yorkshire, were transferred by 
Parliamentary Order (The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority order 2023) to the Elected Mayor of 
York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority from 7th May 2024. The transfer of the PFCC functions to the 
Mayor mean that the legal entity known as the North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (Fire 
and Rescue Authority) ceased to exist as of 6th May 2024 and all staff, rights and liabilities transfer to the 
Combined Authority.  
 
This annual governance statement reflects the final and slightly extended period of the governance 
framework put in place for the PFCC FRA for the extended year ended to the 6th May 2024 including plans 
for the period to the 31st March 2025. 
 
 
1.  Scope of Responsibility  
 
1.1 The PFCC FRA is responsible for ensuring its business is conducted in accordance with the law and 


proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used 
economically, efficiently and effectively. The PFCC FRA also has a duty to make arrangements to 
secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are exercised, having regard to a 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 


 
1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the PFCC FRA is also responsible for putting in place proper 


arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the exercise of its functions, which 
includes ensuring a sound system of internal control is maintained through the year and that 
arrangements are in place for the management of risk. In exercising this responsibility, the PFCC 
FRA places reliance on the Chief Fire Officer to support the governance and risk management 
processes. 


 
1.3 The PFCC FRA has an overarching code of corporate governance in place to ensure the governance 


arrangements are easily accessible with all of the key documents captured in one place. The code is 
consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework: Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government and while under constant review to ensure it meets the needs of the organisation 
is it the subject of formal review and publication annually.  


 
1.4 Copies of the Code of Corporate Governance are available on our website. 
 
1.5 This statement explains how the PFCC FRA has complied with the code and also meets the 


requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations in relation to the publication of a statement on 
internal control.  


 
 
 
 
 







 
 


2 
 


2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises both the culture and value, and systems and processes, by 


which the PFCC FRA is directed and controlled and their activity through which it accounts to and 
engages with the community. It enables the PFCC FRA to monitor the achievement of its strategic 
objectives and to consider whether these objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost 
effective services, including achieving value for money. 


 
2.2 The Fire and Rescue Plan 2022-25 was in place throughout the 2023/24 financial year and up to the 


period of the 6th May 2024, and set out the strategic vision, priorities and objectives for North 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service over that three year period including how it would better respond 
to the needs of the communities of North Yorkshire. The plan set out the following 4 principles: 
 


 Caring about the vulnerable 
 Ambitious collaboration 
 Realising our potential 
 Enhancing our service for the public 


 
2.3 The former PFCC considered what was achievable for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service in 


working towards achieving the ambition set out through these Principles over the period of the plan 
and set outcomes that she would assess their progress against. These were:  


 Actively engage with all communities to identify need and risk and to reassure. 
 Work jointly as a trusted partner to prevent harm and damage, intervene early and solve 


problems.  
 Deliver the “Right People, Right Support” every time. 
 Maximise efficiency to make the most effective use of all available resources. 
 Enhance positive culture, openness, integrity and public trust. 


 
2.4 The Service consulted with the workforce during 2023/24 about whether to maintain both the 


Service Values which were launched during 2020/21, and were as follows: 
 


 PEOPLE - We exist to serve the public - we put people first 
 RESULTS - We achieve positive results 
 INCLUSION -We embrace inclusion 
 CREATIVITY - We encourage and promote creativity 
 LEARNING - We never stop learning 


 
2.5 Or to keep the Core Code of Ethics as the foundations of services culture and behaviours, which are 


as follows: 
 


 Putting our communities first – we put the interest of the public, the community and service 
users first.  


 Integrity – we act with integrity including being open, honest and consistent in everything 
we do.  


 Dignity and respect - making decisions objectively based on evidence, without discrimination 
or bias.  


 Leadership – we are all positive role models, always demonstrating flexibility and resilient 
leadership. We are all accountable for everything we do and challenge all behaviour that 
falls short of the highest standards.  


 Equality, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) – We continually recognise and promote the value of 
EDI both within the FRSs and the wider communities in which we serve. We stand against 
all forms of discrimination, create equal opportunities, promote equality, foster good 
relations, and celebrate difference. 
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2.6 On the 29th April 2024 the Service officially relaunched the Core Code of Ethics and removed the 
existing service values. 
 


2.7 These principles, expected outcomes and Values helped shape the governance framework of the 
Fire Service throughout the period covered by this Governance Statement. 
 


2.8 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk 
to a reasonable and foreseeable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims 
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the PFCC FRA’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood 
of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
effectively, efficiently and economically. 
 


2.9 A governance framework has been in place at the PFCC FRA for the extended year ended 6 May 
2024 and up to the date of the approval of the financial statements.  


 
3. The Governance Framework 
 
3.1 In April 2016 CIPFA published an updated version of their “Delivering Good Governance in Local 


Government: Framework”. The 2016 Framework sets out seven principles of good governance which 
are taken from the International Framework: Good Governance in the Public Sector (CIPFA/IFAC, 
2014) ('the International Framework') and interprets them for local government. 


 
3.2 The seven principles (A to G) are considered below and have been utilised in our review of 


governance and in developing this AGS. 
 


3.3 This review has also been informed by the conclusions of our internal auditors that, for the second 
year in a row ‘The organisation does not have an adequate framework of risk management, 
governance and internal control’  
 


3.4 Whilst also reflecting that the 2 Causes of Concern raised by HMICFRS from their inspection which 
took place between March and May 2022 were closed during 2023/24. 
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4 PRINCIPLE A: BEHAVING WITH INTEGRITY, DEMONSTRATING STRONG 


COMMITMENT TO ETHICAL VALUES, AND RESPECTING THE RULE OF LAW 


The PFCC FRA is accountable not only for how much they spend, but also for how they use the 
resources under their stewardship. This includes accountability for outputs, both positive and 
negative, and for the outcomes they have achieved. In addition, they have an overarching 
responsibility to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements of legislation and 
government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can demonstrate the appropriateness of all 
their actions and have mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values 
and to respect the rule of law. 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 The Code of Corporate Governance requires all parties to abide by the 7 Nolan Principles, these 


will be central to the behaviour of everyone in the organisation. It also highlights the 
expectation that the relationship between all parties will be based on the principles of goodwill, 
professionalism, openness and trust 


 
 The Financial Management Code of Practice requires the PFCC FRA to ensure that the good 


governance principles are embedded within the way that the organisation operates 
 
 The PFCC FRA has set out their values in the respective corporate and strategic plans 


 
BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 


 
 Behaving with integrity 


 
 Demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values 


 
 Respecting the rule of law 


 
The review recognised the Service had again reviewed and refreshed its overall Code of Corporate 
Governance during the year to ensure that it was fit for purpose. 
 
The review also welcomed the updated and revised Internal Governance Arrangements, that align 
with the Code of Corporate Governance, and that were agreed by the Senior Leadership Board in 
December 2023. 
 
The review does however reflect that there are significant changes to Governance, as a result of the 
transition to the Combined Authority from 7th May 2024, and that this has the potential to create 
challenges and uncertainty around decision making, how the Service is governed going forward and 
what the key roles and responsibilities are within the Service post the transition.  
 
It will be vital that clarity is provided in this area during 2024/25. 
 
The review recognised the recent decision to move to away from separate Service Values and to 
focus on and align with the National Code of Ethics and looks forwards to seeing this develop and 
embed over the coming year. 
 
The review reflected on the significant progress that has been made to address the 19 Culture and 
Values recommendations assigned to the service, and looks forward to continued progress in this 
area in 2024/25. 
 
In addition to this the review was pleased to see that the ‘Framework for Change Project’ work 
started during 2023/24. The Framework for Change Project aims to ‘draw out the lived experiences 
of our staff to ascertain a baseline of where our Cultures and Values lie throughout North Yorkshire, 
giving our staff the opportunity to voice their views and then shape how we move forward as an 
organisation. This project will be run alongside academic research fellows from Huddersfield 
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University, who bring academic toolkits and frameworks for NYFRS to continually work with to 
improve and enhance the workplace culture with North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service.’ 
 
The review is keen to see how this area develops during 2024/25. 
 
PRINCIPLE B: ENSURING OPENNESS AND COMPREHENSIVE STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT 


 
Public Services, including the Fire and Rescue Service, are run for the public good. Organisations 
therefore should ensure openness in their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and 
consultation should be used to engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as individual 
citizens and service users, as well as institutional stakeholders 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 The PFCC FRA is accountable to local people and draws on this mandate to set and shape the 


strategic objectives for the North Yorkshire area in consultation with the Chief Fire Officer. 
 


 The Police, Fire and Crime Plan will clearly set out what the strategic direction and objectives 
are to be and how they will be delivered. 


 
 To complement this, the PFCC FRA’s communication and engagement strategies set out how 


local people will be involved with the PFCC FRA to ensure they are part of decision making, 
accountability and future direction. This will be a mixture of being part of the yearly planning 
arrangements and becoming involved in issues of interest to local people as they emerge. 


 
 The PFCC FRA has developed arrangements for effective engagement with key stakeholders, 


ensuring that where appropriate they remain closely involved in decision making, accountability 
and future direction 


 
 The strength of the PFCC FRA’s working relationship with the Police, Fire and Crime Panel, 


constituent local authorities and other relevant partners.  
 
BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 


 
 Openness 


 
 Engaging comprehensively with institutional stakeholders 


 
 Engaging stakeholders effectively, including individual citizens and service users 


 
This area continues to be a key priority for PFCC with 5 separate, Fire specific, live broadcast On-
Line Public Meeting taking place during 2023/24, which allowed the former PFCC to hold the Fire 
Service to account while providing the opportunity for members of the public to email questions in 
advance of the meeting and/or to use ‘X’ during the meeting to ask questions. The review reflected 
that this was a significant strength of the organisation during both significant change for the Service 
and also during a time on adverse inspection reports.  
 
The significant engagement with the public around the Fire and Rescue plan and the Risk and 
Resource Model has been supplemented by separate engagement and consultation with the public 
during 2023/24. As with previous years a major element of this was in relation to the annual Precept 
proposal. The results of the consultation with the public of North Yorkshire in relation to the level of 
Fire precept for 2024/25, which was undertaken in 2023/24, and had 2,680 responses, resulted in 
69% supporting an increase of 2.99% or above, with a 2.99% increase proposed by the former 
PFCC.  
 
In addition to this the former PFCC put in place a ‘Trust and Confidence’ Survey during 2023/24 ‘to 
regularly hear from members of the public to understand the level of trust and confidence they have 
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in their fire and rescue service here in North Yorkshire and York, to ensure it’s delivering a service 
which keeps people safe and feeling safe.’ 
 
The review reflected that the overall work around this principle is excellent and a significant strength 
and base from which the Service can then deliver for the public.   
 
PRINCIPLE C: DEFINING OUTCOMES IN TERMS OF SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC, 
SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 
 
The long term nature and impact of many of the PFCC FRA’s responsibilities mean that they should 
seek to define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should contribute 
to intended benefits and outcomes, and remain within the limits of authority and resources. Input 
from all groups of stakeholders, including citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is 
vital to the success of this process and in balancing competing demands when determining priorities 
for the finite resources available. 
 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 
 
 The FRS Act 2004 requires the PFCC FRA to issue a Fire and Rescue Plan and the Fire and 


Rescue Statement, which defines the fire and rescue objectives (outcomes) and the strategic 
direction for the Fire Service.  


 
 The Fire and Rescue Service will have a corporate/strategic plan which sets out how it will 


operate to support achievement of these outcomes. 
 
 Collaboration agreements will set out those areas of business to be undertaken jointly with other 


fire and rescue authorities, local policing bodies and other emergency services, in order to 
reduce cost, increase capability, and/or increase resilience to protect local people. 


 
 A medium term financial strategy will be developed and thereafter reviewed regularly to support 


delivery of these plans. Where necessary protocols will ensure proper arrangements for financial 
management 


 
BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 


  
 Defining outcomes 


 
 Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits 


 
During 2022/23 HMICFRS raised 2 causes of concern in relation to North Yorkshire Fire, these were: 
 
First Cause of concern  
The service doesn't have in place robust processes to ensure transformation activities provide 
efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
Second Cause of Concern 
The service doesn't have in place adequate workforce planning processes. This means that areas 
such as safety-critical training, succession planning, absence and work-time management don't 
support its current and future integrated risk management plan. 
 
The review was pleased to see that The HMICFRS concluded in their September 2023 update letter 
that: 
‘We recognise the considerable work carried out to support these improvements. As a 
result, we now consider both causes of concern to be resolved. We will, however, continue 
to monitor them during our scheduled inspection of the service in 2024 as part of our established 
inspection methodology’ 
 







 
 


7 
 


In addition to this, the review was pleased to see that the Service has put in place a comprehensive 
Efficiency and Productivity Plan which has cleared contributed to the development of a balanced 
medium term financial plan. 
 
It is worth recognising however that the Service continues to be transparent about the operational 
context and challenges that it faces, these are included within the Productivity and Efficiency Plan, 
and in the Narrative Statement to the Statement of Accounts, which articulate the following: 
 
Our Service area is one of the largest in England covering more than 3,200 square miles (which 
equates to approximately 7.5% of England’s geographic area) and over 6,000 miles of road. We 
have 38 stations covering this area, which is only 82 square miles less than all the Metropolitan 
services and London Fire Brigade’s service areas combined. We recognise that our risk profile is 
vastly different from those heavily populated urban services, as our area is sparsely populated but 
there are still over 340,000 households and over 830,000 residents. Our area has isolated rural 
settlements and farms, market towns, and larger urban areas such as York, Harrogate, and 
Scarborough with the associated societal risk and vulnerability. The City of York is also home to over 
21,000 students, with two universities and more than 20 million visitors come to our area each year. 
The current funding model does not take account of this.  
 
Our primary challenge as a service is balancing our ambition and improvement journey with 
maintaining financial security and sustainability. Our improvements need to be innovatively 
generated, with clear leadership for delivery, rather than financially generated. Since governance 
transfer, we have identified significant savings and efficiencies whilst managing to protect essential 
frontline services. We have progressed collaboration at pace, but to avoid overspend we have had to 
reduce the capital investment programme, preventing much needed modernisation of our estate, 
fleet, and equipment.  
 
The current funding formula does not account for geographic expanse or wider risks such as climate 
change. As a service familiar with wildfires and wide area flooding, we need to maintain suitable 
assets to respond to these risks, as evidence suggests these will become more frequent and severe. 
As a service our ambitions are constrained in parts by our budget, we continue to face significant 
financial pressure, despite an enormous drive locally for increased productivity and efficiency. We 
continue to ‘save to survive’ rather than having the ability to ‘invest to improve’ delaying much 
needed additional public value, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
Productivity, Efficiency and Financial Planning and Control will continue to be vitally important to the 
Service on its improvement journey, especially given the higher costs that have been agreed 
through National Pay Awards in 2024/25 and this will need to be an area of continued focus for the 
Service during 2024/25. 
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PRINCIPLE D: DETERMINING THE INTERVENTIONS NECESSARY TO OPTIMISE 
THE ACHIEVEMENT OF THE INTENDED OUTCOMES 


 
Local Government, including the Fire and Rescue Service, achieves its intended outcomes by 
providing a mixture of legal, regulatory and practical interventions. Determining the right mix of 
these courses of action is a critically important strategic choice that local government has to make to 
ensure intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust decision making mechanisms to ensure 
that their defined outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between the 
various types of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. Decisions 
made need to be reviewed continually to ensure that achievement of outcomes is optimised. 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 The PFCC FRA will maintain a medium term financial strategy which will form the basis of the 


annual budgets, and provide a framework for evaluating future proposals 
 


 There will be a comprehensive process of analysis and evaluation of plans, which will normally 
include option appraisal, techniques for assessing the impact of alternative approaches on the 
service’s outcomes, and benefits realisation 


 
 Processes will be in place to monitor efficiency and value for money, including benchmarking of 


performance and costs 
 
 The PFCC FRA should maintain effective workforce development and asset management plans 


(eg Estate; ICT) 
 


BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 
 


 Determining interventions 
 


 Planning interventions 
 


 Optimising achievement of intended outcomes 
 


The review welcomes the continued development of a comprehensive Productivity and Efficiency 
Plan for 2024/25 that builds on the one from 2023/24. The review looks forward to the further 
development of this product to set out the achievement of the plans that are in place and the 
incorporation of future efficiencies.  
 
The review was pleased to see the conclusion of the work on the Fire Estate that was started during 
2021/22 and raised as a significant governance issue last year. 
 
However, concerns around Estates Management have been raised as part of the Internal Audit 
programme for 2023/24 – with Minimal Assurance being the conclusion of that Audit, with the 
overview being that: 
Our review focused on the Service’s estates strategy and the information which informs the strategy 
e.g. stock condition surveys. In addition, we considered the reporting through the Service’s 
governance structure and how the strategy informs the Service’s medium-term financial plan. We 
identified the Service has not yet developed an estates strategy and in the absence of an up-to-date 
stock condition survey (last completed in 2014), there is limited information available to inform 
decision making in respect of planned estates works. Instead, works are raised based on historic 
records and professional judgement. We further identified that evidence to support the ordering of 
planned maintenance and reactive maintenance works is not retained on file to evidence approval in 
line with the scheme of authorisation. In addition, we noted that record keeping in respect of 
maintenance works could be improved to support effective planning and monitoring. This resulted in 
the agreement of three high, 10 medium and three low priority management actions. 
 
The review considers this to be a Significant Governance Issue with the action to 
address these issues during 2024/25. 
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PRINCIPLE E: DEVELOPING THE ENTITY’S CAPACITY, INCLUDING THE 
CAPABILITY OF ITS LEADERSHIP AND THE INDIVIDUALS WITHIN IT 


 
The PFCC FRA need appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the right skills, 
appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and achieve their 
intended outcomes within the specified periods. A public organisation must ensure that it has both 
the capacity to fulfil its own mandate and to make certain that there are policies in place to 
guarantee that its management has the operational capacity for the organisation as a whole. Both 
the individuals involved and the environment in which the Fire and Rescue Service operates will 
change over time, and there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the skills 
and experience of the leadership and individual staff members. Leadership in the Fire and Rescue 
service is strengthened by the participation of people with many different types of background, 
reflecting the structure and diversity of communities. 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 The ‘People’ and personal development strategies of the Fire and Rescue Service set the climate 


for continued development of individuals. The respective performance development review 
processes will ensure that these strategies are turned into reality for members of staff. 
 


BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 
 


 Developing the entity’s capacity 
 


 Developing the capability of the entity’s leadership and other individuals 
 


The review welcomes the stability the Senior Leadership Team has brought to the Service and 
continues to look forward to seeing the impact, improvement and results that this brings.  
 
The review was pleased to see that through the Strengths Based Assessment, promotion centres 
have been undertaken for all roles from Deputy Chief Fire Officer to Firefighter in 18 months 
resulting in, amongst many other benefits: 
• The managerial structure vacancies reducing from 42% temporary to 11% year on year –  
 
• Recruitment activity culminating in an intake of new substantive Wholetime Firefighters and 


fewer temporary contracts. 
 
• Review of development folder progress and managerial push for progress. 
 
• Delivery of First Line Leader training to all Middle and Supervisory Managers. 
 
The review welcomes that plans have been proposed to ensure the service doesn’t regress to a 
reactive temporary structure again with promotion boards and recruitment activity set out for the 
next 18 months.  
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PRINCIPLE F: MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE THROUGH ROBUST 
INTERNAL CONTROL AND STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 


 
Public bodies need to ensure that the organisation’s and governance structures that they oversee 
have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance management system that facilitates 
effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk management, business continuity and 
internal control are important and integral parts of a performance management system and crucial 
to the achievement of outcomes. They consist of an ongoing process designed to identify and 
address significant risks involved in achieving outcomes. A strong system of financial management is 
essential for the implementation of policies and the achievement of intended outcomes, as it will 
enforce financial discipline, strategic allocation of resources, efficient service delivery, and 
accountability. 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 The decision making protocol sets out principles for how decisions will be taken by the PFCC 


FRA and the standards to be adopted 
 


 It requires a combined forward plan of decisions, which brings together the business planning 
cycles for the Police, Fire and Crime plan, the Fire and Rescue Plan and the Integrated Risk 
Management Plan. This will ensure proper governance  by bringing together the right 
information at the right time  


 
 The scheme of governance highlights the parameters for decision making, including consents, 


financial limits for specific matters, and standing orders for contracts 
 
 The risk management strategy establishes how risk is embedded throughout the various 


elements of corporate governance of the organisation  
 
 The Communications and Engagement strategies demonstrate how the PFCC FRA will ensure 


that local people are involved in decision making 
 
 The information publication scheme ensures that information relating to decisions will be made 


readily available to local people, with those of greater public interest receiving the highest level 
of transparency, except where operational or legal constraints exist 


 
 The forward plan of decisions combined with open and transparent information schemes enables 


the Police, Fire and Crime Panel to be properly sighted on the decisions of the PFCC FRA. 
 
BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE    


 
 Managing risk 
 Managing performance 
 Robust internal control 
 Managing data  
 Strong public financial management 


 
The review welcomes the revised clarity for Internal Governance that has been set out for North 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service, including the key decision-making groups. It shows how 
reporting flows from the internal governance structures, into the external governance arrangements. 
With the principles of decision making clearly set out within the document. 
  
There are three prime groups with the purpose to provide governance at strategic, tactical and 
delivery levels:  


• Strategic Leadership Board (SLB)  
• Tactical Leadership Board (TLB)  
• Service Delivery Performance Group  
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These are underpinned and supported by further governance groups which cross into all areas:  
• Strategic Equality, Diversity, Inclusion and Culture Board 
• Health and Safety Committee  
• Local Pension Board  
• Change Board  


 
For transparency, minutes of SLB will be displayed on the Service intranet, available to all colleagues 
following submission to Executive Board. 
 
The review continues to welcome that the new Senior Leadership Team worked with the Internal 
Auditors to target areas of management concern within the 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan. The results 
of these reviews have again however proved those concerns to be true, and the outcome of this 
work will be reflected in the reiteration of a significant governance issue, that was raised in 2023/24, 
for the Service to address during 2024/25. 
 
The significant concern is that the findings of the 5 internal audit reviews completed to the date of 
writing this draft report have all but one has provided negative assurance. 
 
In addition to this both of the ‘follow-up’ of the implementation of actions resulted in ‘little progress’ 
being determine by Internal Audit. 
 
As a result for the period ended 6th May 2024, the Head of Internal Audit opinion for the Police, Fire 
and Crime Commissioner Fire Rescue Authority for North Yorkshire is as follows: 
 
‘The organisation does not have an adequate framework of risk management, governance and 
internal control.’ 
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PRINCIPLE G: IMPLEMENTING GOOD PRACTICES IN TRANSPARENCY, 
REPORTING, AND AUDIT TO DELIVER EFFECTIVE ACCOUNTABILITY 


 
Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are answerable 
for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions completed but also 
ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the organisation plans and carries 
out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and internal audit contribute to effective 
accountability. 


 
THE CORPORATE PROCESSES WHICH UNDERPIN THIS COMMITMENT 


 
 Legislation sets out the functions of the PFCC FRA.  


 
 The PFCC FRA is required to appoint a Chief Fire Officer, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial 


Officer 
 


 The Financial Management Code of Practice sets out the responsibilities of the Chief Financial 
Officer/s151 Officer for the PFCC FRA. 


 
 Internal audit, reflecting published guidance on standards 
 
 The Scheme of corporate governance highlights the parameters for key roles in the organisation 


including delegations from the PFCC FRA, financial regulations and standing orders 
 
 Employees of the PFCC FRA will operate within 
 


 PFCC FRA policies and procedures 
 The corporate governance framework 
 Disciplinary regulations 
 Codes of conduct 


 
 An independent Audit Committee operates within the CIPFA guidance and in accordance with 


the Financial Management Code of Practice 
 


 
BEHAVIOURS AND OUTCOMES THAT DEMONSTRATE GOOD GOVERNANCE IN PRACTICE 


 
 Implementing good practice in transparency 
 Implementing good practices in reporting 
 Assurance and effective accountability 


 
The review again reflected that the significant concerns highlighted within the internal audit work 
impacts on the confidence around a number of important areas including the assurances that employees 
are working within policies and procedures. This concern is added to further with regular internal work 
showing that significant documents are ‘out of date’ in terms of them being reviewed and updated. 
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5 Review of effectiveness 
 
5.1 The PFCC FRA has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of 


the governance framework, including:-  
 


 The system of internal audit  
 The system of internal control  


 
5.2 The governance framework within the PFCC FRA has been reviewed, and continues to be reviewed 


for its effectiveness by the PFCC FRA’s Chief Finance Officer. 
 


5.3 The roles and processes applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance 
framework are outlined below: -  
 
PFCC  


5.4 The PFCC has a statutory duty and electoral mandate to ensure an efficient and effective fire and 
rescue service. The review and monitoring of the governance framework is the responsibility of the 
independent audit committee which will discuss the majority of governance issues, referring reports 
to the PFCC when it is felt necessary. Given that the ultimate responsibility for Governance rests 
with the PFCC the Audit Committee requires a Member of the management team to attend each 
Audit Committee meeting. This provides the Committee with a direct opportunity to engage at the 
right level in the organisation but also develop strong working relationships. In addition to this and 
to further strengthen their role the Audit Committee has direct access to both the PFCC and Chief 
Fire Officer if and when required.    
 
Independent Audit Committee  


5.5 The Independent Audit Committee receives regular reports on governance issues. This includes the 
review of the Annual Governance Statement for publication with the Annual Statement of Accounts 
and update reports on progress made in addressing governance issues included in it. 
 


5.6 Chaired independently, the role of the Committee, in part, is to provide independent assurance on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control environment and risk management 
framework, advising the PFCC FRA according to good governance principles and overseeing 
governance and monitoring of governance within the organisation. 
 
Head of Internal Audit  


5.7 In maintaining and reviewing the governance framework, the PFCC’s Chief Finance Officer places 
reliance on the work undertaken by Internal Audit and in particular, the Head of Internal Audits 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control.  
 


5.8 For the period from the 1st April 2023 to 6th May 2024, the Head of Internal Audit opinion for the 
Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner Fire Rescue Authority for North Yorkshire is as follows: 


 
5.9 ‘The organisation does not have an adequate framework of risk management, governance and 


internal control.’ 
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External Audit  
5.10 External Audit are an essential element in ensuring public accountability and stewardship of public 


resources and the corporate governance of the PFCC FRA’s services, with their annual letter 
particularly providing comment on financial aspects of corporate governance, performance 
management and other reports.  


 
HMICFRS 


5.11 In addition to the above other review/assurance mechanisms such as His Majesty's Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) independently assesses the effectiveness and 
efficiency of police forces and fire & rescue services – in the public interest.  


 
5.12 The Service underwent an inspection process which commenced on the 21st of March 2022 and 


concluded on the 30th May 2022.  
 


5.13 The HMICFRS reported 2 Causes of Concern within that inspection that were highlighted as 
Significant Governance Issues to be addressed during 2023/24. As reported elsewhere these 2 
Causes of Concern are considered by the HMICFRS to be ‘resolved’ 
 


 
6 Evaluation 
 
6.1 Following this review, governance and decision making arrangements continue to be regarded as fit 


for purpose in accordance with the governance framework. There are however a number of issues 
of a significant nature that need to be urgently addressed during 2024/25, along with a number of 
areas that require continued focus to ensure that they do not become significant issues in future 
years.  
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7 Governance Issues 
Action Plan for 2024/25 to address issues raised:  


 


Significant Governance Issues Action Owner
Target 
Implementation Date


MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE 
THROUGH ROBUST INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT


The Senior Leadership Team working with the Internal Auditors have continued to target areas of management concern 
within the 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan. The results of these reviews, as with those from 2022/23, have however proved 
those concerns to be true, and the outcome of this work is an adverse Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2023/24, 
following from an Adverse opinion in 2022/23.


ACTION: Ensure that the Risk and Assurance Board oversees the timely implementation of all actions raised within all 
Internal Reports and hold all action owners to account.


ACTION: Ensure that the Risk and Assurance Board oversees the Check and Challenge sessions to provide wider 
organisational support and understanding to the implementation of all Internal Audit actions going forward.


Deputy Chief Fire 
Officer


31st March 2025


DETERMINING THE INTERVENTIONS 
NECESSARY TO OPTIMISE THE ACHIEVEMENT 
OF THE INTENDED OUTCOMES


An Internal Audit on Estates Management, focused on the Service’s estates strategy and the information which informs 
the strategy e.g. stock condition surveys. In addition, it considered the reporting through the Service’s governance 
structure and how the strategy informs the Service’s medium‐term financial plan. The Audit identified the Service had 
not yet developed an estates strategy and in the absence of an up‐to‐date stock condition survey (last completed in 
2014), there is limited information available to inform decision making in respect of planned estates works. Instead, 
works are raised based on historic records and professional judgement. The audit further identified that evidence to 
support the ordering of planned maintenance and reactive maintenance works is not retained on file to evidence 
approval in line with the scheme of authorisation. In addition, we noted that record keeping in respect of maintenance 
works could be improved to support effective planning and monitoring. 


ACTION: Ensure that all actions and issues raised within the Internal Audit report are addressed.


Assistant Chief 
Officer


31st March 2025


Areas which require further/continued focus Action Owner
Target 
Implementation Date


MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE 
THROUGH ROBUST INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT


Supplier Payments: Process and Control Assurance
This internal audit review focused on whether expenditure is committed, approved and accounted for in line with the 
Financial Regulations, and that suppliers are paid accurately and in a timely manner. The review identified that the 
controls used to manage the supplier payments process require urgent improvement, and noted significant deficiencies 
in relation to the purchase order and goods receipting processes. The ordering and receipting processes are managed by 
individual departments and not by the Finance Team, and the lack of centralised oversight has led to inconsistencies in 
processes and in the evidence retained on file.


ACTION: Ensure that all actions and issues raised within the Internal Audit report are addressed.


Chief Finance 
Officer/Head of 
Enable Finance


31st March 2025


MANAGING RISKS AND PERFORMANCE 
THROUGH ROBUST INTERNAL CONTROL AND 
STRONG PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT


Asset Management
Our review focused on how the Service's asset management arrangements are effectively maintained and processes 
were in place to identify when replacements are required. Our review established that whilst expectations and 
processes have been identified by management, these do not seem to be reflected at an operational level, and further 
development is required to ensure gaps in the control framework are identified and resolved, and processes have been 
clearly communicated to the wider Service.


ACTION: Ensure that all actions and issues raised within the Internal Audit report are addressed.


Assistant Chief 
Officer


31st March 2025







 
 


16 
 


 
 
7.1 We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to enhance our 


governance arrangements further. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for 
improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation as part of our next annual review. 
 


 
 
Signed: 
 
   
      
-----------------------------------                
David Skaith                  
York & North Yorkshire Mayor  
            
 
 
----------------------------------- 
 
Jonathan Dyson 
Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 
 
------------------------------------ 


 
Michael Porter 
Assistant Director of Resources (Deputy s73 Officer for Police, Fire and Crime Functions) 
 
 
 
Date:  
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Joint Independent Audit Committee (Policing & Crime) 13 June 2024 


Independent Audit Committee (Fire & Rescue) 25 June 2024 


 


Report of the Combined Authority Deputy Monitoring Officer for Mayoral 
Policing, Fire and Crime Functions 


Annual Review – Codes of Corporate Governance & Constitutional 
Instruments 


 


 


 


1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 


1.1. To update Members on the development and adoption of a codified Constitution for 


York & North Yorkshire Combined Authority, following the transfer of functions from 


the former Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner to the new Authority on 7 May 2024. 


1.2. To amplify the informal presentations provided to Members prior to statutory 


transfer, by senior OPFCC officers on the topic of constitutional change.  


1.3. To allow Members the opportunity to undertake their conventional annual review of 


the Codes of Corporate Governance and associated constitutional instruments.  


1.4. To update Members on the broad approach to Audit Committee development under 


the new Combined Authority arrangements. 


1.5. This paper is submitted in matching terms to both the JIAC and IAC given its 


relevance to both committees and the fused nature of the Combined Authority 


Constitution. Points of particular relevance to the remits of each individual 


Committee, will be highlighted as appropriate in the respective meetings.  


 







2. BACKGROUND 
 


2.1. The Police & Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire (‘PCC’) and the North 


Yorkshire Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner Fire & Rescue Authority (‘FRA’), were 


abolished at 23:59 on 6 May 2024.  


2.2. The powers and duties of the PCC and FRA passed to the York & North Yorkshire 


Combined Authority on 7 May 2024. The Mayor was elected on the same day. As a 


matter of law, the powers of PCC vest in the Mayor and those of the FRA vest in the 


Combined Authority but are exercisable by the Mayor, rather than by the Combined 


Authority at large.  


2.3. The Mayor may make arrangements for functions to be performed by delegates in 


much the same way that the PFCC did.  


2.4. The Constitution sets out those Delegations, along with the Consents to the Chief 


Constable which permit the Chief Constable to exercise corporate leadership of 


North Yorkshire Police. Members will of course be aware that in strict terms, neither 


a PCC nor a Mayor with PCC powers, can delegate powers to the Chief Constable – 


hence the use of a Scheme of Consent. 


2.5. In essence, the overarching aim of the OPFCC-led transition programme has been 


to align with the direction set by the Combined Authority, to transfer the governance 


architecture on an ‘as is’ basis with the minimum of necessary change, ensuring 


safe and legal operation of the Combined Authority’s policing, fire and crime 


responsibilities. This concept became known as ‘plug and play’ for brevity and ease 


of reference throughout the transition programme. 


2.6. The most up to date published version of the Combined Authority Constitution is set 


out at Appendix A. 


2.7. The following table sets out the chronology of the development of the Constitution 


and highlights provisions which have been adopted, adjusted and refined which 


have relevant to the functions previously performed by the PFCC: 


  







Date Edition Summary of Variations Details relevant to Policing, Fire & Crime functions 
22 January 2024 1 Constitution approved by the CA 


 
Part 9 not included at this stage 


First constitution approved. 
 
Chief Fire Officer designated as Chief Officer in Part 1 
 
Mayoral PCC and FRA functions set out in Part 2  
 
Delegations to Chief Fire Officer included in Part 3 
 
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (Fire and Rescue Functions) 
provisions set out in Part 3 
 
Financial Procedures (single set) set out at Part 6 
 
Code of Corporate Governance set out in Part 7 
 
Allowances for Mayor et al set out at Part 8 
 
Part 9 (Police & Crime Commissioner Functions) not included at this stage.  
 


18 March 2024 2 Updated to take account of CA 
decisions made  
since January 2024  


Part 1 – Introduction and Articles 
Section I (Officers), para 5 
Insertion of para 5.2 to read:  
 
5.2 The Combined Authority have appointed Veritau as their internal 
auditors. The Police and Crime and Fire and Rescue functions use RSM as 
their internal auditors. This arrangement will continue, with the Head of 
Internal Audit being appointed from either Veritau or RSM, to be determined 
by the Combined Authority. The Head of Internal Audit will obtain assurance 
from their partner internal auditor, which will then allow the Head of Internal 
Audit to provide overall assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
Section I (Officers) 
Insertion of para 7 to read: 
 







Date Edition Summary of Variations Details relevant to Policing, Fire & Crime functions 
7 Policing, Fire and Crime 
7.1 The Statutory Officers must make arrangements to ensure that their 
responsibilities in respect of the Policing, Fire and Crime elements of the 
Y&NYCA powers and duties, are carried out robustly and effectively. 
7.2 Those arrangements must ensure compliance with all prevailing 
statutory and non-statutory guidance to Elected Local Policing Bodies and 
Fire and Rescue Authorities for the carrying out of the responsibilities of: 
7.2.1 Head of Paid Service for the staff employed by the Combined 
Authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to the Mayor’s PCC functions; 
7.2.2 Head of Paid Service for the staff employed by the Combined 
Authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to the Mayor’s FRA functions; 
7.2.3 Monitoring Officer in respect of the Mayor’s PCC and FRA functions; 
Section 73 Officer in respect of the Mayor’s PCC and FRA functions. 
7.3 Those arrangements must be set out in writing (in the form of Protocols 
and/or schemes of sub-delegation, delegating functions to Officers 
engaged by the Combined Authority deployed wholly or partly in relation to 
the Mayor’s PCC or FRA functions as the case may be) and subjected to 
regular review. 
 
Section K (Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters),  
 
para 1.1 1.1 The management of the Y&NYCA’s financial affairs will be 
conducted in accordance with the Financial Procedures set out in Part 6 of 
this Constitution. 
Part 3 – Y&NYCA Functions reserved to the Mayor 
 
Section BI, subsection 6 (Fire and Rescue) 
 
6.6 The Mayor will set the Fire and Rescue element of the general precept 
after consultation with the public of North Yorkshire, the Police, Fire and 
Crime Panel and the Chief Fire Officer. The policing precept is set 
separately. 
 
Section D, para 3 (c) and (d) (Fire and Rescue Functions) 







Date Edition Summary of Variations Details relevant to Policing, Fire & Crime functions 
 
Deletion of sub paras c and d on the basis that the local auditor for Fire and 
Rescue will be the same as appointed for the Combined Authority: 
 
Section E, para 2 (General delegations to all Chief Officers) 
Insertion of para 2.1 to read: 
 
2.1 Any reference to these delegations in relation to the Chief Fire Officer 
are limited in scope to Fire and Rescue functions only. All other Chief 
Officers have these general delegations in respect of the Combined 
Authority as a whole. 
 
Part 7 Codes and Guidance 
Section E, subsection 8 (Code of Corporate Governance, Managing 
Risks and Performance) 
Amendment to para 8.7 to read: 
 
8.7 An independent audit committee will operate in line with the guidance of 
the Financial Management Code of Practice, in relation to the Mayor’s 
Police and Crime functions. 
 
Inclusion of Part 9 – Police and Crime Commissioner Functions, 
containing the following summary provisions: 
 


• Introduction and Statement of Corporate Governance; 
• Mayor’s PCC Scheme of Consent and Scheme of Delegation; 
• Appendices as follows 


o Terms of reference for  
A. PCC Joint Independent Audit Committee,  
B. the Fire and Rescue Independent Audit Committee;  
C. and Executive Board1  


 
1 The Terms of Reference for Executive Board included as Appendix C in this iteration of the Constitution, omitted the Fire & Rescue Authority/Fire & Rescue Service, expect 
in the title/heading. 







Date Edition Summary of Variations Details relevant to Policing, Fire & Crime functions 
• Provisions which relate to a Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  
• Provisions permitting the Mayor to opt, upon commencement of 


their office to delegate any Fire and Rescue Functions to the 
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, or to a Fire Committee. 


• A scheme of sub-delegation (intended to complement an 
appointment of Deputy Monitoring Officer and Deputy Section 73 
Officer for specific functions from the Interim Monitoring Officer and 
Interim Section 73 Officer to allow key officers of the Police, Fire 
and Crime Commissioners Office to be able to continue working on 
the 7 May 2024 in a seamless manner.  


• Fused Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules 
applicable to the Combined Authority including both the PCC and 
Fire and Rescue Functions. 


 
12 April 2024 3 Amendment to Part 4, Section A, 


paragraphs  
2.1 to 2.6 (Audit and governance 
Committee)  
under Monitoring Officer decision. 


None of direct relevance to Policing, Fire or Crime 
 
The full detail of the amendments made on this date are set out in a 
Decision Record at  https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2024/04/240411-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-
Amendment.pdf  
 


7 May 2024 4 Amendments to Part 9 (PCC & 
FRA Functions – Governance 
Documents) under Monitoring 
Officer urgent decision. 


55 Amendments, a summary of which is as follows: 
 


• Inclusion of Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure Rules – 
ensuring that financial arrangements of both Police, Fire and Crime 
Functions can continue to operate. PCC and FRA sets of Fin Regs 
and Contract Rules to operate in addition to the Combined Authority 
Regulations and Rules, until a full review can be undertaken. 


 
• Amendment to the Terms of Reference for the Executive Board 


restoring Fire and Rescue Service to membership of the Board.  
 


• Clarification around the Lead Finance Officer within OPFCC and the 
Fire and Rescue Service Amendment to the Scheme of Delegation 



https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/240411-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf

https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/240411-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf

https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/240411-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf





Date Edition Summary of Variations Details relevant to Policing, Fire & Crime functions 
to provide clarity around the main delegations within this service 
area. 


 
• Finalisation of naming conventions for post titles. 


 
• Legislative provisions updated to reflect York and North Yorkshire 


Combined Authority Order 2023 (eg re Fire funding) 
 


• Legal & typographical corrections. 
 


The full detail of the amendments made on this date are set out in an 
Urgent Officer Decision Notice at https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2024/05/240507-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-
Amendment.pdf  
 


31 May 2024 5  Additional Delegations to officers added as follows: 
 


• Vetting decisions in respect of the Chief Constable (in accordance 
with prevailing College of Policing Guidance) 


• Vetting Decisions in respect of staff within the OPFCC 
 


 



https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/240507-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf

https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/240507-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf

https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/05/240507-Urgent-Decision-Constitutional-Amendment.pdf





  
3. OTHER GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS OF RELEVANCE TO PCC AND FRA 


FUNCTIONS 
 
3.1. Statutory Officer Robustness and Effectiveness 


 
3.2. The Constitution (at Part 1, Section I, Paragraph 7) requires the Head of Paid 


Service, s73 Officer and Monitoring Officer to make arrangements to ensure that the 


PCC and FRA functions have robust and effective ‘statutory officer’ oversight, 


aligning to the prevailing statutory and non-statutory guidance. 


3.3. Such guidance includes but is not limited to 


3.3.1. The Policing Protocol Order 2023 


3.3.2. The Financial Management Code of Practice 


3.3.3. The APCC Non-Statutory Guidance developed in partnership with the Home 


Office, entitled Police And Crime Commissioner Guidance: The role and 


responsibilities of PCCs  


3.3.4. The APACE Statement on the Role of the Monitoring Officer 


3.3.5. CIPFA Guidance 


3.3.6. Local Government Association Guidance 


3.4. On 7 May 2024 personal appointments were made by the Interim Monitoring Officer 


and the Interim Section 73 Officer, to Simon Dennis and Michael Porter respectively. 


Taken together with the sub-delegations set out in the Constitution (principally in 


Part 9) these personal appointments make designated deputisation arrangements 


which broadly mirror and preserve in essence the pre-transfer responsibilities of the 


PFCC Monitoring Officer and PFCC Chief Finance Officer respectively, even though 


the formal obligation upon a PFCC to make such statutory officer appointments for 


PCC and FRA functions, does not apply to the Mayor2. 


3.5. It follows that Simon Dennis, as the Deputy Monitoring Officer for Mayoral Policing, 


Fire and Crime Functions has been allocated responsibility as follows: 


3.5.1. To act as Deputy Monitoring Officer in relation to Police and Crime and Fire 


and Rescue Functions of the Combined Authority. 


3.5.2. To ensure that the Mayor, when exercising their Police and Crime and Fire 


and Rescue Functions, carries out these Functions lawfully, ensuring lawfulness 


and fairness in decision making. 


 
2 Schedule 6 to the York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023, disapplies various statutory 
provisions applicable to PCCs – see https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1432/schedule/6  



https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/727772/CCS207_CCS0718021968-001_HO_FMCP_2018_Print_.pdf

https://www.apccs.police.uk/media/9600/apcc_police_and_crime_commissioner_guidance_-_the_role_and_responsibilities_of_pccs.pdf

https://www.apccs.police.uk/media/9600/apcc_police_and_crime_commissioner_guidance_-_the_role_and_responsibilities_of_pccs.pdf

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1432/schedule/6





3.5.3. To ensure that the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (if appointed), when 


exercising their Police and Crime Functions (and Fire and Rescue Functions if 


delegated), carries out these Functions lawfully, ensuring lawfulness and 


fairness in decision making. 


3.5.4. To report to the Monitoring Officer and the Mayor/Deputy Mayor for Policing 


and Crime any matters that the Deputy Monitoring Officer believes is, or may 


be, illegal or amount to maladministration. 


3.5.5. To provide advice and guidance on the conduct of the Mayor or Deputy 


Mayor for Policing and Crime (if appointed) in relation to their exercise of Police 


and Crime Functions and Fire and Rescue Functions (if applicable). 


3.5.6. Delegations/sub-delegations from the Mayor which can be found in Part 9 of 


the Constitution of the Combined Authority. In the event of a conflict with the 


provisions of this deputy appointment and the Constitution, the provisions 


(including the delegations and sub-delegations) of the Constitution have 


precedence. 


3.6. It follows that Michael Porter, as the Deputy s73 Officer has been allocated 


responsibility as follows 


3.6.1. Deputy Section 73 Officer in relation to Police, Fire and Crime Functions of 


the Combined Authority, in particular the detailed financial management 


responsibilities of the Section 73 Officer as set out in the Financial Regulations 


within Part 9 of the Constitution of the Combined authority. 


3.6.2. In respect of Police and Crime Functions of the Combined Authority, to act as 


financial advisor to the Mayor or Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (if 


appointed) exercising their Police and Crime Functions.  This includes a 


responsibility to manage the Mayor’s Police and Crime financial affairs as set 


out in sections 112 and 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the 


Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 (as amended). 


3.6.3. In respect of the Fire and Rescue Functions of the Combined Authority, to act 


as financial advisor to the Mayor or Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime (if Fire 


and Rescue Functions are delegated) exercising their Fire and Rescue 


Functions.   


3.6.4. To sign contracts on behalf of the Combined Authority, limited to Policing and 


Crime and Fire and Rescue matters, irrespective of the value once they have 


been approved in accordance with the Constitution, except those which are 


required to be executed under the common seal of the Combined Authority. 


3.6.5. Delegations/sub-delegations from the Mayor which can be found in Part 9 of 


the Constitution of the Combined Authority.  In the event of a conflict with the 







provisions of this deputy appointment and the Constitution, the provisions 


(including the delegations and sub-delegations) of the Constitution have 


precedence. 


3.7. It has been agreed in principle that the following non-statutory protocols should be 


reviewed and refreshed to assist the smooth operation of the new arrangements: 


3.7.1. the Memorandum of Understanding between the PCC and the Chief 


Constable (adopted in 2014) 


3.7.2. the Monitoring Officer Protocol (last refreshed 2023) 


3.7.3. the Chief Finance Officer Protocol (adopted in 2014) 


 


3.8. Audit Committee Continuity 
 


3.9. The Interim Deputy Monitoring Officer of the Combined Authority has indicated that 


the process to review, refine and codify Audit and Governance Committee 


arrangements across the Combined Authority, is a process that will take between a 


year and eighteen months – following which it may well be that a period of transition 


will be required.  


 


3.10. It follows that the current JIAC and IAC arrangements are expected to remain 


in place for at least the current financial year, and until the completion of that 


programme of review and transition.  


 


3.11. Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
 


3.12. Members will by now be aware that Mayor David Skaith has selected a 


preferred appointee for the role of Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  


 


3.13. Councillor Jo Coles will appear before the Police, Fire and Crime Panel on 12 


June 2024 at a confirmation hearing. Subject to the approval of the Panel, Jo Coles 


will take up post on 8 July 2024.  


 


3.14. The Mayor has indicated that he intends to delegate Fire and Rescue 


functions to the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, meaning that the role will 


operate as (and be known as) Deputy Mayor for Policing, Fire and Crime or 


‘DMPFC’.  


 







3.15. Further details of the terms of appointment are set out in the papers for the 


Police, Fire and Crime Panel which can be viewed here.  


 


3.16. Details of the granular delegations to be made to the DMPFC are yet to be 


worked through and will be reported to the Combined Authority (and of course to 


Members of these Committees) in due course. Those delegations will affect some of 


the arrangements set out in this paper – and in effect, will set out how the DMPFC 


and Officers will work together as a team to discharge the functions of PCC and 


FRA. Certain reserved functions can only be carried out by the Mayor, as before 


under the PFCC model. Certain functions previously reserved to the PFCC, can only 


be delegated to the DMPFC. 


 


3.17. During the period between 7 May 2024 and the commencement in post of the 


DMPFC, Mayor Skaith was content to authorise the Corporate Director of the 


OPFCC to exercise general urgency powers by reference to normal conventions, so 


that robust continuity was maintained in the immediate term. This has worked 


smoothly to date.  


 


4. COMMENTARY 
 


4.1. The development of the Constitution was a lengthy and complex endeavour, with 


fluctuating and uncertain timescales and dependencies. A non-exhaustive list of the 


objective circumstantial factors were 


 


4.1.1. This is the first occasion upon which a transfer of an existing Police, Fire & 


Crime Commissioner governance architecture has been attempted. It is also the 


first occasion when the functions of PCC and FRA have been incorporated into 


a Combined Authority at the same time. It is notable than in York & North 


Yorkshire, the Combined Authority was itself only constituted in January 2024.  


4.1.2. There was some delay in the passing of the secondary legislation3 creating 


the Combined Authority, which meant that some uncertainty endured for longer 


than was convenient, about the detailed manner in which the Devolution 


Scheme (upon which the public had been consulted) had been transferred into 


legislation. 


 
3 The York and North Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2023 was made on 19 December 2023, coming into 
force on 20 December 2023 (except some PCC provisions which came into force on 7 May 2024). See 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1432/contents  



https://edemocracy.northyorks.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1159&MId=8236&Ver=4

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1432/contents





4.1.3. There was exploratory dialogue and correspondence between the Association 


of PCCs and individual PCCs from several areas across the country (including 


but not limited to North Yorkshire) and Ministers, seeking flexibility in the model 


and legislation for Combined Authorities and County Combined Authorities, to 


permit Mayors at their discretion to make additional appointments of statutory 


officers for policing and crime on the one hand, and fire on the other, to ensure 


that the effectiveness of governance and internal control is not diluted by the 


mandatory fusion of those roles into a single structure of three such statutory 


officers. The option of such flexibility was not supported by Ministers.  


4.1.4. The complexity of the work required to develop a functional codified set of 


financial and contract regulations, for example, exceeded the time available. 


 


4.2. As the Constitution is further refined and adjusted over time, lessons to be learned 


from the process of its development will be noted and built upon.  


4.3. The Chief Constable remains a separate corporation sole after 7 May 2024. 


Arrangements for the maintenance of a separate Police Fund, are the same under 


the Combined Authority as under the PFCC model. 


4.4. The Combined Authority becomes the Fire and Rescue Authority under the new 


model. There is no formal requirement to maintain a separate Fire Fund; and no 


separate fire precept.  


4.5. The Combined Authority became the employer of all of the staff employed by the 


former Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner; and all of the staff serving in North 


Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service. 


4.6. Some complexities are already emerging which carry financial impacts, hitherto 


unanticipated. For example, the harmonisation of Local Government Pension 


Scheme employer pension contributions across the three bodies of staff now 


employed by the Combined Authority, creates a recurring pressure on the Fire and 


Rescue Authority Medium Term Financial Plan. This has been reported to the 


Combined Authority and the Executive Board.  


4.7. These new arrangements (and the differences between them) will take time to refine 


and embed. 


4.8. The position set out at paragraph 3.8 will, it is hoped, afford Members the certainty 


and continuity to continue confidently to discharge their respective terms of 


reference on an ongoing basis. 


4.9. Noting that the provisions of the Constitution other than Part 9, were subjected to 


scrutiny by the Audit and Governance Committees of the Constituent Authorities 


(North Yorkshire Council and City of York Council) but that there was no practicable 







opportunity for such scrutiny in respect of Part 9 and the other PCC and FRA 


provisions, Members may feel able to bring such scrutiny to bear as part of this 


annual review, for the benefit of the Mayor, the Combined Authority and the public of 


York and North Yorkshire.   


4.10. Members’ assistance with the process of further reviewing and perfecting the 


Constitution (in respect of the PCC and FRA functions of the Mayor) and refining 


ways of working to take advantage of the Combined Authority model, will be of great 


assistance.   


    


5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 


5.1. Members are invited to  


5.1.1. Review the information provided in respect of the development of the 


Constitution, with special regard to the provisions relating to (as a particular 


focus for JIAC) the Police and Crime Commissioner functions and (as a 


particular focus for IAC) the Fire and Rescue Authority functions; and 


5.1.2. Review and feed back on the Constitution in its most recent iteration, to 


inform its further refinement by the Combined Authority during the course of its 


first year of operation, as planned.  


5.1.3. Note the proposed next steps set out at paragraph 3.7 


5.1.4. Note the proposed arrangements for preservation of the Joint Independent 


Audit Committee (Policing and Crime) and Independent Audit Committee (Fire 


and Rescue) as set out at paragraphs 3.8 - 3.10 


5.1.5. Make such observations as they think fit on the matters set out in this annual 


review, the first in respect of the new constitutional arrangements.  


5.1.6. Indicate what further reports Members require ‘in year’ to exercise oversight 


of constitutional frameworks, under the new arrangements.  


 


6. AUTHOR 


Simon Dennis  


Corporate Director OPFCC 


Combined Authority Deputy Monitoring Officer for Mayoral Policing, Fire and Crime 


Functions 


 


5 June 2024 


 







 


APPENDIX A 
 


The Combined Authority Constitution in its most recent published form is accessible at 
https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/governance-and-meetings/policy-and-procedures/ 


 
 


 
 
 


 


 


 
 



https://yorknorthyorks-ca.gov.uk/governance-and-meetings/policy-and-procedures/
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In this edition of our news briefing, we draw attention to 
some of the key developments and publications in the 
sector. We focus on police anti-corruption reporting, police 
misconduct and integrity, and the annual assessment of fire 
and rescue services in England 2023.


Introduction 
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Questions for committee’s  
consideration


• Are you sighted on the level 
of anti-corruption and abuse 
reporting at your Force?


• Has there been an increase in 
allegations or reporting since 
the new service was 
introduced?


Anti-corruption and abuse reporting service launched


Through a new service run by the charity Crimestoppers, members of 
the public can anonymously or confidentially report serious abuse and 
criminality by police officers, staff, and volunteers. 


The service aligns with the commitment made by police chiefs and 
police and crime commissioners to strengthen standards and culture 
within policing and operates alongside a force’s existing complaints 
procedure. After Crimestoppers receives information, it is shared with 
the relevant force’s specialist unit (such as Professional Standards or 
Anti-Corruption) for assessment. It may be escalated to specialist 
detectives who can initiate an investigation, take protective measures 
for individuals at risk, or document the information for future 
reference.


Police misconduct and investigations 


The Secretary of State for the Home Department, James Cleverly, 
issued a statement on 21 March 2024 focusing on the importance of 
trust and confidence in the police. For effective policing, a robust 
‘accountability system which ensures officers who fall short of the 
standards expected of them are held to account appropriately’ is 
integral. The statement highlights the need for a fair and proportionate 
accountability system for police use of force, as ‘many officers have 
lost trust’ in the current system and lack confidence to take necessary 
actions to protect the public.


There are plans to bring three legislative changes to the Criminal 
Justice Bill:


• to improve the timeliness of investigations, by raising the 
threshold which is used to determine whether the Independent 
Office for Police Conduct (IOPC) refer a case to the Crown 
Prosecution Service (CPS);


• relax the restrictions that prevent the CPS from bringing 
criminal proceedings until the IOPC produces a final report; and


• formalise the IOPC’s existing Victims’ Right to Review (VRR) 
policy in legislation.
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Police integrity inspection programme – 
methodology 


His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) has published the 
methodology for its police integrity inspection programme. 
HMICFRS will inspect and provide separate graded 
judgments for professional standards, vetting, and 
counter-corruption in police forces across England and 
Wales.  As part of its inspections, HMICFRS will consider 
whether:


• the force effectively manages its vetting process, 
anticipates future demand, and ensures all officers 
and staff have the required level of vetting for their 
role. It also addresses any disproportionality in 
decision-making; 


• the force uses various methods to reinforce 
professional behaviour standards and through 
organisational learning, ensures its workforce 
understands these standards; 


• the Professional Standards Department (PSD) has 
the capability and capacity to carry out their role, 
including handling complaints and allegations in 
compliance with statutory requirements; 


• whether the force’s governance arrangements and 
processes allow for good-quality investigations;


• the force’s public complaints system is accessible 
to all; and


• the force ensures that decisions about potential 
misconduct are proportionate, fair, and consistent, 
and the PSD works effectively with other divisions 
and departments, sharing relevant information 
routinely.


Government accepts all recommendations 
made by Angiolini Inquiry


The Angiolini Inquiry, investigating how Wayne Couzens, 
an off-duty Metropolitan police officer was able to abduct, 
rape and murder Sarah Everard, published its Part 1 
report in March 2024. The inquiry highlighted significant 
failures in police forces that allowed Couzens to commit 
his crime and called for an ‘overhaul of police vetting and 
recruitment.’ The government has accepted the 
recommendations, which includes reviewing how the 
criminal justice system handles indecent exposure. 


There will also be a public campaign to raise awareness 
about the criminality of indecent exposure and unsolicited 
explicit photos. Implementation of the remaining 
recommendations concerning police culture and vetting 
will be addressed by the College of Policing and National 
Police Chief’s Council (NPCC).


Chief constables given powers to dismiss 
unfit officers


The Home Office has announced new measures that give 
police chief constables the role of chair in misconduct 
hearings, which make decisions regarding the dismissal 
of officers found guilty of misconduct. 


As part of this approach, chief constables will be 
increasingly accountable for their police officers and will 
allow them to directly influence dismissal decisions within 
their force. 


The changes came into effect on 7 May 2024.


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• What is your organisation doing to 
prepare for the police integrity 
inspection programme?


• When was the last time your 
vetting and/or recruitment 
processes were subject to 
independent third line assurance?


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• Have these new measures  been 
implemented within your 
organisation and have Force 
policies and procures updated to 
take account of the new measures?
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Examining British police pay and the ‘P-Factor’


The Police Federation has published an article from the Social 
Market Foundation (SMF) which examines the ‘adequacy’ of officers’ 
salaries in the UK. It highlights the sustained real-terms losses to 
earnings and with an increased exposure to harm while on duty, 
introduces the concept of the ‘P-Factor’. 


Between 2000 and 2023, police officer pay increased by 40%. 
However, when compared to other professions, this increase ‘is less 
impressive.’ The pay of protective service officers rose by 75%, 
public sector workers saw an increase of 98%, and those in the 
private sector experienced a pay rise of 85%. 


Data from the Police Federation of England and Wales (PFEW)’s 
2023 Pay and Morale Survey also shows how a significant number 
of police officers are dissatisfied with their pay. 79% were dissatisfied 
with their basic pay and 78% with their overall remuneration. 


The SMF calls for further research into the ‘P-Factor’, including 
clarification of the underlying principles and methodology which 
could be used to set appropriate pay levels.


Counter-terror approach to tackling violence against 
women and girls (VAWG) 


A revised national framework for England and Wales outlines how 
police forces will combat VAWG. The framework spans the next 
three years and aligns VAWG response with the seriousness of 
terrorism and organised crime. It uses a ‘4P approach’, adapted from 
counter-terrorism methods to focus on preparedness, protection, 
pursuit of perpetrators, and prevention.


Questions for committee’s  
consideration


• What steps are being taken to 
embed the national 
framework for VAWG and 
how will this be monitored 
and reported within your 
Force?


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• Is your organisation capturing 
any data on satisfaction levels 
for pay?
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Stronger protections for stalking and 
harassment victims


The Minister for Victims and Safeguarding, Laura Farris, 
has set out new plans which make it ‘easier for police to 
protect victims and apply for a stalking protection order at 
the earliest opportunity’.


​ Under updated statutory guidance police officers no 
longer need to meet the high criminal standard of proof 
threshold to apply for a stalking protection order. Instead, 
evidence that meets the ‘lower civil standard will likely be 
accepted by courts to apply a stalking protection order.’


Vetting and anti-corruption part 2: How 
effective is the National Crime Agency at 
dealing with corruption


HMICFRS has published the second of a two-part report 
on the inspection of the National Crime Agency’s (NCA) 
anti-corruption efforts.


In the report, HMICFRS assesses how effectively the 
NCA aids police forces and other law enforcement 
agencies in identifying and combating corruption.


Scale of homicide and suicides by domestic 
abuse victims revealed
The annual report, produced by the Domestic Homicide 
Project, a Home Office-funded research initiative led by 
the NPCC, provides insights by examining domestic 
abuse-related deaths. 


The report highlights the severity of domestic homicides, 
with the aim of enhancing understanding of risk factors, 
victim demographics, and perpetrator profiles to assist 
law enforcement and partners in refining their response. 


Key findings include:


• there were 242 domestic abuse-related deaths 
between April 2022 and March 2023 across 
England and Wales;


• demographically, victims primarily fall within the 25-
54 age range, with male perpetrators of similar age 
profiles;


• 80% of perpetrators were known to the police 
before the homicide, with 60% having a history 
related to domestic abuse;


• over a third of perpetrators had interactions with 
other agencies, emphasising the importance of a 
multi-agency approach to safeguard victims; and


• approximately 10% of suspects had been managed 
by police or probation at some point during the 
three-year data recording period.


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• How does your organisation 
compare to the statistics 
within the annual report?


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• Is your organisation aware of 
the findings of the HMICFRS 
report and what steps have 
been taken following the 
publication of this guidance?
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Value for money profiles 2023 
HMICFRS has released the 2023 value for money profiles, providing 
comparative data on various policing activities for individual police 
forces. The dashboards aid forces in making informed decisions 
about those areas where cost-effectiveness and performance 
improvements can be achieved. 


The dashboards allow detailed examination of how much police 
forces spend on different policing activities. They also facilitate 
comparisons of crime levels across different forces, workforce costs 
are further broken down by role, rank, and gender. The data helps 
assess the efficiency and effectiveness of policing efforts and 
provide insights into the outcomes achieved by forces. 


Police dog Standard and Authorised Professional 
Practice (APP) launched
A new NPCC Police Dog Standard, along with the College of 
Policing’s new APP, seeks to simplify earlier guidelines and enforce 
baseline minimum standards for dog units.


The new standard covers training, welfare, deployment, staffing, 
health and safety, procurement, retirement, and record keeping. The 
APP introduces professional role profiles for police dog handlers and 
trainers, provides operational guidance, and will form the basis for a 
new curriculum for specialist dog capability. 


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• What steps are you taking to 
ensure the wellbeing of your 
workforce?


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• How does your organisation 
compare to others on the 
value for money profile?
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Culture Action Plan progress report 


The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) has released an 
update on its Culture Action Plan, highlighting progress 
made in promoting culture and inclusion within fire and 
rescue services. The plan, launched last July, outlines key 
deliverables to improve public and staff trust, foster a 
diverse workforce and support the adoption of the Core 
Code of Ethics and Fire Standards. Despite positive 
progress, the report emphasises the need for further 
efforts to create a truly inclusive environment. 


The overarching outcomes set out within the plan include, 
improving public and staff trust and confidence, and 
creating a diverse workforce inclusive of 
underrepresented groups and individuals with diverse 
backgrounds. These outcomes are strategic and require 
partnership across fire and rescue services. Progress is 
measured through local trust metrics, staff surveys, and 
diversity reports, and discussions are underway to 
develop a national survey on staff trust and confidence. 


A baseline equality, diversity, and inclusion (EDI) Sector 
Report was produced in 2023, with another planned for 
2025 to measure progress in workforce diversity.


State of Fire and Rescue: The Annual 
Assessment of Fire and Rescue Services in 
England 2023


HMICFRS has published its second state of fire and 
rescue report, providing an assessment of the 
effectiveness and efficiency of services in England. Based 
on inspection reports published between 20 January 2023 
and 31 March 2024, it serves as a comprehensive 
evaluation of the sector’s performance. The report 
identifies systemic challenges facing the sector, stating:


• whilst there has been good progress at a national 
level, the government ‘must press ahead with 
reforms’;


• there is an urgent need for improvement in the 
values, culture, and the management of 
misconduct;


• fire and rescue service leaders are encouraged to 
take a strategic approach to service improvements; 
and


• the inspectorate needs further powers to make 
communities safer.


It is recommended that by 1 March 2025, the Home 
Secretary should introduce amendments to Parliament. 
This would require fire and rescue authorities to publish 
their comments within 56 days following an inspection 
report. Mayors, county councils and police, fire and crime 
commissioners, should also be able to request an 
inspection from HMICFRS for the fire services in their 
region.


The recommendations aim to increase transparency and 
accountability and seek to collectively provide a roadmap 
for the future development and improvement of the fire 
and rescue sector. 


Questions for committee’s  
consideration


• How does your organisation 
compare to the EDI sector 
report?


• Are improvements being made 
where highlighted and how are 
these being reported?
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NFCC releases three new toolkits


The NFCC has developed a series of EDI Toolkits for fire and rescue 
services. The toolkits, part of the NFCC Culture Action Plan, focus 
on training, attracting diverse employees, fostering an inclusive 
culture, and promoting strong leadership. The toolkits cover topics 
such as disability, menopause, and religion and belief in the 
workplace, aiming to create supportive work environments for all.


New Middle Leadership Programme 


The NFCC has also launched a Middle Leadership Programme 
(MLP) to support and standardise the development of middle leaders 
in fire and rescue services.


The MLP, which provides a suite of resources for leaders in all roles 
and locations, aims to ease the transition from supervisory to middle 
leadership. It builds on the Supervisory Leadership Development 
Programme and prepares individuals for senior leadership roles and 
the Executive Leadership Programme. 


National risk methodologies to support community 
risk management planning 


The NFCC has released a series of standardised tools to support fire 
and rescue services in community risk management planning.


The Road Traffic Collision (RTC) Risk Methodology aims to provide 
a consistent approach to understanding and mitigating RTC risks. 
The final guidance in the series, the Evaluation of Fire Interventions, 
is designed to enhance the services’ ability to conduct robust 
evaluations across Prevention, Protection, and Response.


These tools, developed in response to varying approaches identified 
in a 2018 review and the first State of Fire report, aim to help 
services consistently identify, assess, and mitigate community risks. 


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• Are the tools being utilised by 
your organisation?


Questions for committee’s 
consideration


• Are management aware of 
the toolkit, and what steps are 
being taken to ensure that it is 
appropriately utilised within 
your organisation?
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1 Introduction 
The internal audit plan for 2023/24 was approved by the Independent Audit Committee at the 21 March 2023 meeting. We will continue to work closely with management to 
deliver an internal audit programme which remains flexible and ‘agile’ to ensure it meets your needs.  
This report provides an update on progress against that plan and summarises the results of our work to date. The graphic below shows a summary update on the progress 
against the 2023/24 internal audit plan.  
 


 
 
The progress above is accurate at the time of writing on 3 June 2024. There have been no further reports finalised by management since the previous IAC meeting in April 
2024 and we have contacted management for responses on the draft reports issued. For the Asset Management draft report, a meeting has been arranged for 7 June 2024 to 
discuss findings and responses with management.  All assignments from the 2023/24 internal audit plan have been completed and all reports have been issued in draft for 
management review.  
Details of the full progress against the plan has been outlined under Appendix A of this report.   
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Appendix A: Progress against the internal audit plan 2023/24 
Assignment  Status / Opinion issued Actions agreed Target Independent Audit 


Committee 
Actual Independent 


Audit Committee 
L M H 


Follow Up of 2022/23 Negative 
Opinions: Fleet Management, 
Health and Safety, Gazetteer 
and On-Call Firefighter 
Recruitment 


Presented to the IAC in November 2023  


Little progress* 


*This is an overall opinion and separate opinions 
have been provided for each individual report 


followed up.  


1 9 1 November 2023 November 2023 


Estates Management 


 


Presented to the IAC in April 2024 


Minimal Assurance 


 


3 10 3 November 2023 * April 2024 


Grenfell Action Plans 


 


Presented to the IAC in April 2024 


Substantial Assurance 


 


2 1 0 April 2024 April 2024 


Minimal 
assurance


Partial 
assurance


Reasonable 
assurance


Substantial 
assurance


Minimal 
assurance


Partial 
assurance


Reasonable 
assurance


Substantial 
assurance
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Assignment  Status / Opinion issued Actions agreed Target Independent Audit 
Committee 


Actual Independent 
Audit Committee 


L M H 


Supplier Payments: Process 
and Control Assurance 


 


Presented to the IAC in April 2024 


Minimal Assurance 


 


0 6 3 April 2024 April 2024 


Security Policy Framework 


 
Report issued in draft on 29 January 2024 


Awaiting 
responses from 
management 


June 2024 ** - 


Follow Up of Previous Internal 
Audit Management Actions 


Report issued in draft on 21 March 2024 and 
revised draft issued on 13 May 2024 


Awaiting 
responses from 
management 


June 2024 ** - 


Asset Management 


 


Report issued in draft on 13 May 2024 


Meeting arranged for 7 June 2024 to discuss draft 
report with management 


Awaiting 
responses from 
management 


June 2024 ** - 


* The report for the Estates Management was issued in draft on 22 August 2023. Management responses were not received in time for the November 2023 IAC meeting. 


** Three reports remain in draft at the time of writing this report on 3 June 2024. The reports were intended to be reported at the June 2024 IAC meeting; however, we are 
waiting final management responses.  


  


Minimal 
assurance


Partial 
assurance


Reasonable 
assurance


Substantial 
assurance
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Appendix B: Other matters 
We have worked closely with management to deliver an internal audit programme which remains flexible and ‘agile’ to ensure it meets your needs in the current 
circumstances. Detailed below are the changes to the audit plan in 2023/24: 


Note Auditable area Reason for change 


1 Service Catalogue to Grenfell Action Plans 
review.  


Reported to the IAC (September 2023) 


The Risk and Assurance Board has agreed to a request from management to change the Service 
Catalogue review within the 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan to a Grenfell Action Plans review. 
The objective of the review is to ensure actions have been developed and progressed to address 
gaps identified against the Grenfell Tower enquiry (phase 1).  


2 Asset Management  The Asset Management review was originally scheduled for week commencing 12 February 2024. 
Due to annual leave commitments within the team, management requested that the audit be 
pushed back. This is now scheduled to take place in week commencing 22 April 2024.  


 


Head of Internal Audit Opinion 2023/24 
The committee should note that the assurances given in our audit assignments are included within our Annual Assurance report. The committee should note that any negative 
assurance opinions or advisory reviews with significant weaknesses will need to be noted in the annual reports and may result in a qualified / negative annual opinion.  


We had previously reminded the committee that we issued a qualified Head of Internal Audit opinion in 2022/23. We have also reported previously that a number of negative 
opinions were issued in the final reports reported throughout 2023/24. Please refer to our annual report and opinion on risk management, governance and internal control, 
which is a separate agenda item at this meeting.  
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Appendix C: Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
Delivery Quality 


 Target Actual   Target Actual  


Draft reports issued within 10 days 
of debrief meeting 


10 days 9 working days 
(average) 


Conformance with PSIAS and IIA 
Standards 


Yes Yes  


Management responses received 
within 10 days of draft report 


10 days 74 working days 
(average) * 


Liaison with external audit to allow, 
where appropriate and required, the 
external auditor to place reliance on the 
work of internal audit 


Yes As and when required 


Final report issued within 3 days of 
management response 


3 days 1 working day 
(average) 


Response time for all general enquiries 
for assistance 


2 working 
days 


2 working days 
(average) 


    Response for emergencies and 
potential fraud 


1 working 
day 


-  


 
* The time taken for responses received by management does not include the responses to the three draft reports outstanding. The KPI has been calculated using the draft 
report issued date to the date we have received agreement from management to finalise the report. To note, the KPI does not include where management has supplied 
additional evidence in the interim. The longest report to finalise was the Estates Management, which totalled 151 working days from the initial draft being issued to 
management agreeing to finalise the report.  


 


 







 
 


     


 


 
rsmuk.com 


The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact.  This report, or our work, should not 
be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of 
internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist.  Neither should our work be relied 
upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 


Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority, and solely for the purposes 
set out herein. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM UK Risk Assurance 
Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) will do so at its own 
risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other party and shall 
not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 


This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), without 
our prior written consent. 


We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  


RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 4AB. 


For more information contact 
Dan Harris, Partner and Head of Internal Audit 


Daniel.Harris@rsmuk.com 


+44 7792 948767 


 


Phil Church, Associate Director  


Philip.Church@rsmuk.com 


+44 7528 979982 
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Global Internal Audit Standards – key stakeholder 


requirements


2


The new Global Internal Audit Standards, at Domain III Governing the Internal Audit Function, sets out important ‘essential conditions’ for the board (or audit 


committee) and senior management. The essential conditions, when implemented enable the internal audit function to be effective. In this briefing, we look at 


the role of internal audit’s key stakeholders, the requirements of Domain III, and consider some key questions stakeholders should consider asking. 


In line with the Standards, the head of internal audit (HoIA)1 must meet with the board / audit committee2 and senior management. Whilst the frequency and scope of meetings may vary to 


some degree, the discussion will focus on: 


• the purpose of internal audit, as set out in Domain I of the Standards. The HoIA will communicate internal audit’s role in providing ‘independent, risk-based, objective assurance, advice, 


insight, and foresight’;   


• informing the board / audit committee and senior management of their responsibilities, equipping them with the information needed to fulfil the essential conditions within Domain III; and  


• the possible impact on internal audit’s effectiveness, and ability to undertake its role, should the support set out in the essential conditions not be provided. 


Whilst the ‘requirements’ within Domain III are the responsibility of the HoIA, the essential conditions for boards / audit committees and senior management illustrate the need for effective 


communication. Internal audit has always needed the support of its key stakeholders, to ensure it is positioned independently, is sighted on key emerging risks and organisational challenges 


and can provide assurance where it is most needed and adds value. With Domain III the role of key stakeholders is now clearer in the Standards, which can only help to further the 


effectiveness of internal audit services. 


1 Referred to as the chief audit executive (CAE) in the Standards.
2 As the highest-level governing body with the responsibility to direct and/or oversee the organisation’s activities and hold management accountable, ‘Board’ refers to the audit committee 


(or equivalent), to which the governing body has delegated certain functions.
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Requirements and essential conditions for effective internal audit 


Domain III encompassing Principles 6 to 8, includes nine Standards. These standards set the requirements for how the HoIA must support the board and senior management in performing oversight 


responsibilities that enable internal audit to be effective. It emphasises the board / audit committee’s critical activities, including establishing the internal audit function, ensuring it is positioned 


independently and overseeing performance. The HoIA’s communications with senior management is crucial for supporting the board to deliver its responsibilities and of course, provides internal 


audit with unique insight into the organisation. 


Standards


• 6.1 Internal audit 


mandate


• 6.2 Internal audit 


charter


• 6.3 Board and senior 


management support


• Discuss internal audit’s role, authority and 


responsibilities.


• Discuss, review and approve the charter, 


including the mandate.


• Support and champion the mandate of internal 


audit, enabling it to fulfil its objectives, and 


working with senior management, enable 


unrestricted access to information and records.


• Support the HoIA through direct and regular 


communications.


Principle 6 


Authorised by the 


board Board (audit committee) Senior managementHoIA


• Provide the board and senior management with 


information to establish the internal audit 


mandate, included in the charter.


• Develop, maintain and discuss the internal 


audit charter with the board and senior 


management. 


• Coordinate communications and provide 


information to allow the board and senior 


management to support and promote internal 


audit within the organisation.


• Share expectations of internal audit with the 


board as it approves the mandate. Senior 


management should support the mandate and 


promote the authority given to internal audit.


• Communicate management’s expectations to 


be considered for inclusion within the charter.


• Working with the board and management, 


enable internal audit to have unrestricted 


access. 


Essential conditionsKey requirements
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Domain III – Summary of key HoIA requirements and essential conditions for board / audit committee and senior management
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Standards


• 7.1 Organizational 


independence


• 7.2 Chief audit 


executive 


qualifications


• Establish and protect the internal audit 


function’s independence and ensure a direct 


reporting relationship, allowing the HoIA to 


discuss sensitive or significant matters with the 


board without senior management. 


• Engage with senior management to ensure 


safeguards are in place to ensure internal audit 


independence is not impaired.


• Appoint and remove the HoIA and support 


senior management with performance 


evaluation.


• Identify key competencies, experience and 


qualifications required and appoint a HoIA with 


the necessary prerequisites.


Principle 7 


Positioned 


independently Board (audit committee) Senior managementHoIA


• At least annually, the HoIA must confirm 


internal audit’s independence, confirming any 


incidence where independence may have been 


impaired. 


• Any impairments within the HoIA’s current or 


future proposed roles or responsibilities must 


also be communicated.


• Provide information to the board on the 


qualifications and competences of the internal 


audit function.


• Position the HoIA at a level within the 


organisation that enables it to fulfil its role and 


services.


• Provide input to the board on appointment and 


removal of the HoIA and performance 


evaluation.


• Liaise with the board to understand the HoIA’s 


qualifications, experience and professional 


competencies and enable HoIA appointment.


Essential conditionsKey requirements


Domain III – Summary of key HoIA requirements and essential conditions for board / audit committee and senior management
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Standards


• 8.1 Board interaction


• 8.2 Resources 


• 8.3 Quality


• 8.4 External Quality 


Assessment


• Communicate with the HoIA to understand how 


internal audit is fulfilling its mandate and share 


information on the organisation’s strategies, 


risks and objectives.


• Understand the effectiveness of governance, 


risk management and internal control 


processes. The board should set the frequency 


of communications and the criteria for what 


should be escalated.


• In collaboration with senior management, 


ensure internal audit has the resource to fulfil 


the mandate and internal audit plan. At least 


annually, discuss with the HoIA whether 


internal audit resource is sufficient. 


• Discuss the QAIP and assess the efficiency 


and effectiveness of internal audit, approving its 


performance objectives at least annually. 


• Discuss the EQA with the HoIA and review 


results and assessment outcomes.


Principle 8 


Overseen by the 


board Board (audit committee) Senior managementHoIA


• Provide information (including internal audit 


plan and updates, budget, and results of 


engagements) enabling the board to undertake 


its oversight responsibilities. 


• Evaluate if internal audit resources are 


sufficient to deliver the internal audit plan and 


mandate. Where they are not, the HoIA 


communicates the strategy and impacts of 


insufficient resource to the board. 


• A quality assurance and improvement 


programme (QAIP) covering external and 


internal assessments must be in place and the 


results communicated at least annually. 


• An external quality assessment (EQA) must be 


discussed and undertaken once every five 


years. 


• Communicate views on the organisation’s 


strategies, risks and objectives to help set 


internal audit priorities. 


• Support the board to understand the 


effectiveness of the organisation’s governance, 


risk management and internal control and the 


process for escalation of significant matters. 


• Engage with the board to provide internal audit 


with sufficient resources to fulfill the mandate 


and achieve the internal audit plan.


• Collaborate with the board on the assessment 


of internal audit. 


• Review the results of the EQA and assessment 


outcomes.


Essential conditionsKey requirements
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Domain III – Summary of key HoIA requirements and essential conditions for board / audit committee and senior management
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Delivering quality internal audit services 


The internal audit charter, which will incorporate the mandate, is included within our 


internal audit plan. It sets out the authority, role, responsibilities, scope and types of 


services to be provided by internal audit. Our reporting lines and organisational 


positioning are also included. The charter is to be approved by the audit committee at 


least annually. Through this means internal audit is authorised to undertake its work by 


qualified and competent internal auditors. For more information on internal audit 


effectiveness please see our Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) 


paper published in March 2024. 


Open and frequent communication is key to effective collaboration and allows internal 


audit to add the most value. Where there are any changes that warrant discussion with 


the audit committee or senior management on internal audit’s mandate the HoIA will 


communicate this matter.  


Should you have any questions about the authority, role, responsibilities, and internal 


audit services please get in touch with your usual RSM contact. 


Key questions client boards / audit committees should ask


• What enhancements are needed to the internal audit charter to 


incorporate the mandate and to address the changes in the Standards?


• What opportunities are the audit committee providing for the HoIA to 


report directly, including without senior management present? Is this 


opportunity provided at least annually?


• How is the audit committee communicating across functions and 


monitoring internal audit’s effectiveness?


Key questions client senior management should ask


• Has senior management received a resource plan and communication of 


any resource gaps from the HoIA?


• How is the senior management team communicating its perspective on 


organisational strategies, objectives, and risks to assist the HoIA when 


determining internal audit priorities?


• How is senior management working with the audit committee and HoIA to 


ensure there is a clear process of escalating matters of importance?


6
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This report is solely for the use of the persons to whom it is addressed. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to any other 
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This report provides an annual internal audit opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness 
of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance processes. The opinion should contribute to the organisation’s annual 
governance reporting. 


The opinion  
For the 13 months ended 6 May 2024, the Head of Internal Audit opinion for North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority is as 
follows:  


 


 


Please see appendix A for the full range of annual opinions available to us in preparing this report and opinion.  


It remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of risk management, internal control and governance, and for 
the prevention and detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be a substitute for management responsibility 


around the design and effective operation of these systems. 


 


THE ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 
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Scope and limitations of our work 
The formation of our opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with management and approved by the Independent Audit Committee (IAC), our 
opinion is subject to inherent limitations, as detailed below:


• internal audit has not reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation;  


• the opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. The assurance 
framework is one component that the board takes into account in making its annual governance statement (AGS); 


• the opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with management / lead individual(s); 


• where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect 
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a reduction in compliance; and 


• due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention. 
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FACTORS AND FINDINGS WHICH HAVE INFORMED OUR OPINION 


Context to 2023 / 2024 Internal Audit Plan  


It should be noted that the Fire Service has been subject to continued challenges and the Chief Fire Officer, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, and Chief Financial 
Officer had a number of concerns that were fed into the 2023 / 2024 internal audit programme. However, in 2022 / 2023 RSM provided the organisation with 
an opinion of ‘the organisation does not have an adequate framework of risk management, governance or internal control.’ Based on the work we have 
undertaken on the systems of governance, risk management and internal control across the Service, our opinion on governance, risk management and 
control have been informed by the following: 


Governance 


We did not perform a specific governance review in 2023 / 2024, however we have covered elements of the governance frameworks in place at the Service 
for the following reviews and have used this work to support our governance opinion: 


• Estates Management; 


• Supplier Payments: Process and Control Assurance; and 


• Grenfell Action Plans. 


Each of the above reviews received one substantial (positive) and two minimal assurance (negative) opinions, and we identified a number of areas that 
required improvements in the design of the control frameworks and/or compliance with those controls in relation to those negative assurance reviews.  


Risk 


We did not perform a specific risk management review in 2023 / 2024; however, our risk management opinion was informed by the assessment of the risk 
mitigation controls and compliance with those controls in our risk-based reviews in the following areas: 


• Asset Management (risk 8501 – NYFRS assets don’t support desired strategic and tactical outcomes); and 


• Security Policy Framework (risk 8503 – Failure to adhere to operate with appropriate levels of security which protect the Fire services, its staff and the 
public from harm). 


The specific reviews (above) resulted in a minimal (negative) and partial assurance (negative) opinions. Given the negative assurance opinions the Service 
should review the related risks to ensure the control frameworks are operating effectively and if the risk profile needs to be amended. 


We have also attended all IAC meetings throughout the year and confirmed the Service’s risk management arrangements have been reported.  
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Control 


We have undertaken five audits (including the two risk driven reviews mentioned above) of the control environment that resulted in formal assurance 
opinions. These five reviews concluded that the Service could take three minimal assurance (negative), one partial assurance (negative), and one 
substantial assurance (positive) opinions. We identified significant control deficiencies in the Service’s control framework in both the design and application 
of those controls.  


Partial Assurance opinions 


Security Policy Framework 


Our review focused on the security framework in place in relation to the Service’s estate and those checks performed on staff. As a result of this review, we 
have agreed two high, seven medium and one low priority management actions. The first high priority management action relates to all sites across the 
estate portfolio currently being able to be accessed via the same key, which is provided to all new fire station starters across the Service with no adequate 
leavers process in place to ensure that keys are retrieved or access via those keys frequently refreshed.  


The second high priority management action was agreed for the Service to review its current contractor on site arrangements to ensure that adequate ID 
checks or pre-authorisation is sought (in the event of out of hours or lone working on sites).  


Minimal Assurance opinions 


Asset Management 


Our review focused on how the Service's asset management arrangements are effectively maintained and processes were in place to identify when 
replacements are required. Our review established that whilst expectations and processes have been identified by management, these do not seem to be 
reflected at an operational level, and further development is required to ensure gaps in the control framework are identified and resolved, and processes have 
been clearly communicated to the wider Service. This resulted in the agreement of five high, five medium, and one low priority management actions. 


Estates Management  


Our review focused on the Service’s estates strategy and the information which informs the strategy e.g. stock condition surveys. In addition, we considered 
the reporting through the Service’s governance structure and how the strategy informs the Service’s medium-term financial plan. We identified the Service 
has not yet developed an estates strategy and in the absence of an up-to-date stock condition survey (last completed in 2014), there is limited information 
available to inform decision making in respect of planned estates works. Instead, works are raised based on historic records and professional judgement. We 
further identified that evidence to support the ordering of planned maintenance and reactive maintenance works is not retained on file to evidence approval in 
line with the scheme of authorisation. In addition, we noted that record keeping in respect of maintenance works could be improved to support effective 
planning and monitoring. This resulted in the agreement of three high, 10 medium and three low priority management actions. 
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Supplier Payments: Process and Control Assurance 


Our review focused on whether expenditure is committed, approved and accounted for in line with the Financial Regulations, and that suppliers are paid 
accurately and in a timely manner. We identified that the controls used to manage the supplier payments process require urgent improvement, and noted 
significant deficiencies in relation to the purchase order and goods receipting processes. The ordering and receipting processes are managed by individual 
departments and not by the Finance Team, and the lack of centralised oversight has led to inconsistencies in processes and in the evidence retained on file.  


We note since the previous audit undertaken on this area, no significant changes have been made and therefore the results of the audit are reflective of the 
previous actions agreed. This resulted in the agreement of three high and six medium priority management actions.  


Follow Ups 


Furthermore, the implementation of management actions agreed during the course of the year are an important contributing factor when assessing the overall 
opinion on control. We have performed two Follow Up reviews during the course of the year. The initial review focused on the actions raised as part of the 
negative assurance opinions provided for Fleet Management; Health and Safety; Gazetteer; and On-Call Firefighter Recruitment during 2022 / 2023 which 
resulted in a little progress assurance opinion. A further Follow Up was undertaken that focussed on actions closed as part of Payroll; ICT – Maintenance 
and Updates; Procurement; and Follow Up of 2022/23 Negative Opinions: Fleet Management; Health and Safety; Gazetteer; and On-Call Firefighter 
Recruitment reviews. This review resulted in a little progress assurance opinion. 


Overall conclusion 
Your Head of Internal Audit opinion for 2023 / 2024 has identified significant weaknesses in the design and application of the Service’s control framework that 
has resulted in a number of negative assurance opinions being provided.  


A summary of internal audit work undertaken, and the resulting conclusions, is provided at appendix B. 


Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance statement 
We issued three minimal (negative), one partial (negative), and one substantial (positive) assurance opinions in 2023 / 2024. The organisation should 
therefore consider the minimal and partial assurance opinions when completing the annual governance statement, together with any actions already taken 
and action planned by management to address the actions agreed. In addition, the organisation should consider controls in place to monitor and implement 
those actions raised by internal audit to ensure actions are closed in a timely manner. 


Management should also continue to pay particular attention to the action tracking process in place and ensure that the actions from the negative assurance 
reviews are tracked, to ensure these weaknesses identified are addressed in a timely manner. 
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As well as those headlines previously discussed, the following areas have helped to inform our opinion. A summary of internal audit work 
undertaken, and the resulting conclusions, is provided at appendix B.


Acceptance of internal audit management actions 
Management have agreed actions to address all of the findings reported by the internal audit service during 2023 / 2024. 


Implementation of internal audit management actions 
We have performed two Follow Up reviews to determine the organisation’s implementation of internal audit management actions. The initial review focused 
on the actions raised as part of the negative assurance opinions provided for Fleet Management; Health and Safety; Gazetteer; and On-Call Firefighter 
Recruitment. As part of this we considered the 19 management actions raised as part of these reviews which comprised of five high, 10 medium, and four low 
priority management actions. We confirmed that of the 19 actions raised, 16 were due at the time of review and we confirmed 11 actions had not been fully 
implemented. Our overall opinion confirmed the organisation had made little progress towards those actions previously raised. 


We performed a further Follow Up review which considered the closed actions which had been raised as part of the Follow Up – Payroll; ICT – Maintenance 
and Updates; Procurement; and Follow Up of 2022/23 Negative Opinions: Fleet Management; Health and Safety; Gazetteer; and On-Call Firefighter 
Recruitment. We considered 20 management actions which comprised of five high, 13 medium, and two low priority management actions. We confirmed that 
11 actions had been fully implemented and nine actions had been partly though not yet fully implemented or had not been implemented resulting in a little 
progress opinion being provided. 


Working with other assurance providers 
In forming our opinion we have not placed any direct reliance on other assurance providers. 


 


 


THE BASIS OF OUR INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 
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Wider value adding delivery 
The reviews completed in 2023 / 2024 did not include the use of subject matter experts; however, we will continue to use subject matter experts when 
appropriate to ensure true value is added to the organisation. As part of our client service commitment, during 2023 / 2024, we have issued emergency 
services briefings within our progress reports presented to the organisation detailed below. We will continue to share our briefings with you during 2024 / 
2025. 


Area of work  How has this added value?  


Emergency Services – Sector Update: 
May 2023 


The briefing paper provides a useful source of insight into recent developments and publications affecting the 
sector and provided further insight into the following areas: 


• NFCC launch first evidence-based risk assessment methodologies. 
• More rigorous checks for fire and rescue employees. 
• Culture action plan.  
• Positive practice portal. 
• The Fire Standards Board launch two new professional standards. 


Emergency Services – Sector Update: 
August 2023 


The briefing paper provides a useful source of insight into recent developments and publications affecting the 
sector and provided further insight into the following areas: 


• NFCC publishes the culture action plan. 
• Terms of reference: Home Secretary’s commission for a thematic inspection of the handling of misconduct. 


Emergency Services – Sector Update: 
November 2023 


The briefing paper provides a useful source of insight into recent developments and publications affecting the 
sector and provided further insight into the following areas: 


• Fires attended by fire and rescue services. 
• Workforce and pensions statistics. 
• Progress against recommendation made to fire and rescue services. 


Emergency Services – Sector Update: 
March 2024 


The briefing paper provides a useful source of insight into recent developments and publications affecting the 
sector and provided further insight into the following areas: 


• Fire and rescue incident statistics. 
• The government’s response to the fire reform white paper and consultation. 
• New data management framework. 
• Consultation on internal governance and assurance fire standard.  


OUR PERFORMANCE  
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Area of work  How has this added value?  


RSM’s Analysis of Emergency Services 
Risk Registers 


We reviewed the key risks faced by our emergency services clients. We analysed 38 emergency services’ 
strategic risk registers and 540 individual risks. 


Sector Experience We have also made suggestions throughout our audit reports based on our knowledge and experience in the 
emergency services sector to provide areas for consideration. 


Briefings Issued non-sector specific briefings to all of our clients, including North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority.  


 


Conflicts of interest  
RSM has not undertaken any work or activity during 2023 / 2024 that would lead us to declare any conflict of interest. 


Conformance with internal auditing standards 
RSM affirms that our internal audit services are designed to conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  


Under PSIAS, internal audit services are required to have an external quality assessment every five years. Our risk assurance service line commissioned an 
external independent review of our internal audit services in 2021 to provide assurance whether our approach meets the requirements of the International 
Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), and the Internal Audit Code of Practice, as published by the Global Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and the 
Chartered IIA, on which PSIAS is based.   


The external review concluded that RSM ‘generally conforms* to the requirements of the IIA Standards’ and that ‘RSM IA also generally conforms with the 
other Professional Standards and the IIA Code of Ethics. There were no instances of non-conformance with any of the Professional Standards’. 


* The rating of ‘generally conforms’ is the highest rating that can be achieved, in line with the IIA’s EQA assessment model. 


Quality assurance and continual improvement 
To ensure that RSM remains compliant with the PSIAS framework we have a dedicated internal Quality Assurance Team who undertake a programme of 
reviews to ensure the quality of our audit assignments. This is applicable to all Heads of Internal Audit, where a sample of their clients will be reviewed. Any 
findings from these reviews are used to inform the training needs of our audit teams. 


Resulting from the programme in 2023 / 2024, there are no areas which we believe warrant flagging to your attention as impacting on the quality of the 
service we provide to you. 


In addition to this, any feedback we receive from our post assignment surveys, client feedback, appraisal processes and training needs assessments is also 
taken into consideration to continually improve the service we provide and inform any training requirements.  
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Performance indicators 
Delivery Quality 


 Target Actual   Target Actual 


Draft reports issued within 10 
working days of debrief meeting 


10 days 9 working days 
(average) 


Conformance with PSIAS and IIA 
Standards 


Yes Yes 


Liaison with external audit to allow, 
where appropriate and required, the 
external auditor to place reliance on the 
work of internal audit 


Yes As and when required 


Final report issued within 3 working 
days of management response 


3 days 1 working day 
(average) 


Response time for all general enquiries 
for assistance 


2 working 
days 


2 working days 
(average) 


Response for emergencies and 
potential fraud 


1 working 
day 


- 


 







 


11 
 


 


The following shows the full range of opinions available to us within our internal audit methodology to provide you with context regarding 
your annual internal audit opinion. 


Annual opinions Factors influencing our opinion 


 


The factors which are considered when influencing our opinion are: 
• inherent risk in the area being audited; 
• limitations in the individual audit assignments; 
• the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and / or 


governance control framework; 
• the impact of weakness identified; 
• the level of risk exposure; and 
• the response to management actions raised and timeliness of 


actions taken. 


APPENDIX A: ANNUAL OPINIONS 
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All of the assurance levels and outcomes provided above should be considered in the context of the scope, and the limitation of scope, 
set out in the individual assignment report. 


Assignment Assurance level Actions agreed 


L M H 


Asset Management (draft) Minimal Assurance 


 


1 5 5 


Estates Management Minimal Assurance 


 


3 10 3 


Supplier Payments: Process and Control Assurance Minimal Assurance 


 


0 6 3 


Security Policy Framework (draft) Partial Assurance 


 


1 7 2 


APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF INTERNAL AUDIT WORK COMPLETED 2023 / 
2024 
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Assignment Assurance level Actions agreed 


L M H 


Grenfell Action Plans Substantial Assurance 


 


2 1 0 


Follow Up of Previous Internal Audit Management Actions (draft) Little Progress 3 6 0 


Follow Up of 2022/23 Negative Opinions: Fleet Management, Health 
and Safety, Gazetteer and On-Call Firefighter Recruitment 


Little Progress 1 9 1 


 


Minimal 
assurance


Partial 
assurance


Reasonable 
assurance


Substantial 
assurance
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We use the following levels of opinion classification within our internal audit reports, reflecting the level of assurance the board can take: 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, 
Fire and Rescue Authority cannot take assurance that the controls upon which the 
organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently applied or 
effective.  


Urgent action is needed to strengthen the control framework to manage the identified 
risk. 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, 
Fire and Rescue Authority can take partial assurance that the controls upon which 
the organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently applied 
or effective.  


Action is needed to strengthen the control framework to manage the identified risk. 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, 
Fire and Rescue Authority Yorkshire can take reasonable assurance that the 
controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and effective.  


However, we have identified issues that need to be addressed in order to ensure that 
the control framework is effective in managing the identified risk. 


 


Taking account of the issues identified, the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, 
Fire and Rescue Authority can take substantial assurance that the controls upon 
which the organisation relies to manage this risk are suitably designed, consistently 
applied and effective. 


APPENDIX C: OPINION CLASSIFICATION  
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YOUR INTERNAL AUDIT TEAM  
Dan Harris 
Head of Internal Audit 
 
RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP 
1 St. James’ Gate, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE1 4AD 
M: +44 (0)7792 948767 | W: www.rsmuk.com 
 
Philip Church 
Associate Director 
 
RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP 
1 St. James’ Gate, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE1 4AD 
M: +44 (0)7528 970082 | W: www.rsmuk.com 
 
Hollie Adams 
Assistant Manager 
 
RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP 
1 St. James’ Gate, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE1 4AD 
DL: +44 191 255 7027 | W: www.rsmuk.com 



http://www.rsmuk.com/

http://www.rsmuk.com/

http://www.rsmuk.com/





 


rsmuk.com 


The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our review and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the 
weaknesses that exist or all improvements that might be made. Actions for improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact.  This report, or our work, should 
not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound commercial practices. We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system 
of internal controls rests with management and our work should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses that may exist.  Neither should our work be 
relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud and irregularity should there be any. 


Our report is prepared solely for the confidential use of North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, Fire and Rescue Authority, and solely for the 
purposes set out herein. This report should not therefore be regarded as suitable to be used or relied on by any other party wishing to acquire any rights from RSM UK 
Risk Assurance Services LLP for any purpose or in any context. Any third party which obtains access to this report or a copy and chooses to rely on it (or any part of it) 
will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP will accept no responsibility or liability in respect of this report to 
any other party and shall not be liable for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature which is caused by any person’s reliance on representations in this report. 


This report is released to you on the basis that it shall not be copied, referred to or disclosed, in whole or in part (save as otherwise permitted by agreed written terms), 
without our prior written consent. 


We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.  


RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales no. OC389499 at 6th floor, 25 Farringdon Street, London EC4A 
4AB. 
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NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 


NORTH YORKSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE 


Independent Audit Committee    
 


Meeting:    Independent Audit Committee  


Time and date:  Thursday 11th April 2024 


Location:  Haigh, Alverton Court & Via Microsoft Teams  


Chair:                  Jo Gleeson  


Attendees: 


 


Name Role 


Michael Porter (MP) PFCC’s Chief Finance Officer 151 


Mat Walker (MW) Deputy Chief Fire Officer  


Phil Church (PC) RSM 


Damian Henderson 
(DH) 


Area Manager – Director of Service improvement and Assurance  


Gillian Havelock (GH) Risk and Planning Manager  


Fiona Kinnear (FK) OPFCC - Fire Rescue Authority manager 


Stuart Green (SG) Member  


Gavin Barker (GB) Mazars  


Abi Medic (AM) Mazars  


Claire Godfrey (CG) Head of Finance  


Lisa Stitt (LS) Assistant Chief Officer 


Holly Adams (HA) RSM 


Mark Naylor (MN) Group Manager  
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Lisa Stitt (LS) Assistant Chief Officer 


Shain Yapp (SY) Personal Assistant, Executive Support for the Chief Officer Team  


 


Apologies 


 


Items and Decisions: 


No. Discussion 
Outcome / 
Decision 


1.  Attendance and Apologies 
Apologies noted. 


 


2.  Declaration of Interest                                                                                         
There was no declaration of interest. 
 


For 
information 


3.  Minutes and Actions of the previous meeting    
The minutes of the previous meeting 30th November 2023 were agreed. 
 


 


4.  Matters Arising  
For noting: Awareness for members of any matters in relation to the previous 
agenda/minutes which have occurred since the last meeting. 
 


 


 


5.  Forward Planner  
MP shared with the members that he had previously omitted to add Health and 
Safety to the Terms of Reference which he will do going forwards. MP advised.  
changes may be required to the Forward Planner as the Mayoral Combined 
Authority progresses.  
Members agreed on the Terms of Reference.  


 
 
 


Name Role 


Rebecca Barren (RB) Head of BDA  


Roman Pronyszyn Member 


Simon Dennis (SD) Chief Executive Officer/Monitoring Officer, OPFCC 


Christoper Rowlands  Member 


Lucy Partridge Data Protection Officer  


Naomi Mackenzie (NM) Data Protection Officer 
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No. Discussion 
Outcome / 
Decision 


Members requested item 3, which is Information Governance, item 4 Health and 
Safety and item 5 Risk, are to come to the meetings twice a year. Performance 
Indicators to remain as they are. The Chair requested complaints be captured 
within one of the reports.  


6.  Tactical Leadership Team Update Report  
Information Governance:  
Member asked for assurance around training. DH advised that the issues have 
been ratified since the report was circulated.  
 
Corporate Risk Management:  
Members thanked DS for his support and wished him well in his new 
employment.  
The Chair thanked everyone who worked on the report, saying, the reports read 
well. Members are receiving the assurance and the procedural understanding of 
business risk is now understood and owned.  
 
Performance Indicator:  
No questions raised.  
 
Productivity and Efficiency:  
DH update the members that both he and MP produced this report, this being 
the second submission.  
Member queried about the cashable saving and how these have been 
determined. MP advised all cashable savings have been delivered through 
process.  
Chair said the report reads well, and there are no unexpected surprises. There is 
some difficult reading, which is being addressed.  
MP shared that the organisation has done a significant amount of work, however 
financial constraint means that sometimes it takes longer to achieve what is 
required.  


 


7.  Health and Safety: 
MW provided additional updates, including details on contaminate. NYFRS are 
working closely with universities and a number of other academic institution. A 
subgroup has been formed to look at contaminates as a standalone item under 
Health and Safety.  
Chair queried the figures on RTC.  


 


8.  HMICFRS Reports:  
DH provided a brief update, including the Causes of Concern, Areas of 
Improvement and Cultures and Values. Looking forward now to the next 
inspection, we are now looking at the characteristics of good by building 
evidence. Ensuring Corporate narrative is addressed. 50.04 


 


9.  Previous Annual Governance Statement actions update.  
MP shared with the members that the report provides updates to the members, 
sharing that the significant actions have been addressed. MP advised that the 
action to make continued improvements will be the focus.  


 


10.  RSM  
Internal Audit  


• Progress paper 
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No. Discussion 
Outcome / 
Decision 


PC provided a synopsis of the report, predicting a second year of negative 
judgment at year end. GB advised external audits will formulate their judgment 
when the report is completed.  
 


• Sector briefing 
No questions raised.  
 


• Estates Management  
HA provided a short brief on the report. 
LS provided an update to the members, advising that a full audit of the building 
conditions has been completed by the estates team, this process is being 
managed by the new Head of Estates.  
Member stated that they are somewhat assured we are moving on. However 
mindful of the revolving changes, particularly around enable, are the resources 
adequate, and can assurance on quality of the data be given. 
LS advised that some additional skills are required, these may need to be bought 
in. Quality of the Data is still being assessed.  
MP advised, some significant decisions may need to be made around how we 
progress, some buildings may need to be replaced if not cost effective to replace.  
This will have financial implications that will need to be considered when we have 
further understood.  
Chair asked what the cost prohibition is around linkage with ICT. LS advised she 
wasn’t aware of any and would provide an update in the next couple of months 
when the detail of the report is understood.   
 


• Grenfell Action Plans  
No questions raised.  
 


• Supplier Payments: Process and Control  
CG reported that 5 out of the 9 actions were complete and another will be 
complete as at 31/7/24. The remaining actions (3, 4 and 5) are due for 
completion by 31/12/2024 which are being led by the Head of Enable Finance 
who is working with the Procurement Manager to review and improve 
Procurement processes. 
 It was suggested that a progress update be brought to IAC later in the year. It 
also was noted that the report highlights the lack of a centralised process for 
Procurement in Fire, along with no integrated Finance system. JG stated that IAC 
would like to be fully sighted on future developments. 
 


• Internal Audit Plan 2024/25 
Paper for decision, the plan was developed jointly with Chief Fire Office, Deputy 
Chief Fire Officer, and Michael Porter. 
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No. Discussion 
Outcome / 
Decision 


Members were pleased to see the training is being considered and would like to 
see procurement reflected in the plan. Payroll process needs to be considered 
around Mayoral changes.  
Plan was approved by the members.  
 


11.  External Audits: 
GB advise he will be rotated to another function and NYFRS will be supported by 
James Collins and Abi Medic. 
MP shared his concerns around the delay of the close down of accounts and the 
additional challenges this brings, taking in consideration the changes from PFCC 
to Mayor in its self-will be challenging process.  
 
Chair thanked GB for all his time as audit lead and wished him well.  


 


12.  Overview of implications for Governance from Devolution:  
SD was called away on an urgent matter, MP provided a brief update in his 
absence. 


 


13.  Dates of future meetings                                                                                                  
25th June 2024  
19th September 2024 
28th November 2024  
18th March 2025 
 


 


14.  AOB     


 


Actions Agreed: 


No. Action / Update Owner Date Issued Due Date   


 


Date 
Closed 


35 Devolution updates:  
SD asked if a paper on devolution could be added 
to the forward planner, however dates cannot be 
secured at this point.  
MP advised that the next meetings are in 
November and March, therefore the alternative 
option is to discuss outside the meeting to 
understand where the IAC fit in the new process. 
Members agreed to another meeting. 
 
11.04.2024: MP provided a brief update in SD’s 
absence   


SD Open date  
Preferably 
prior to 
March or this 
may happen 
outside the 
meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
25th June 
2024  


  


The next meeting of the IAC will take place at 15:00 on 25th June 2024 as a hybrid meeting hosted both at HQ and 
via Teams   
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